



UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO

PhD PROGRAM:

SOCIOLOGY AND METHODOLOGY OF SOCIAL RESEARCH

34th cohort

Employment Instability and Union Dissolution: which instability matters, for whom, and where?

Doctoral dissertation by Elena Bastianelli

Supervisor: Prof. Cristina Solera

Co-supervisor: Prof. Daniele Vignoli

PhD program coordinator: Prof. Giovanni Semi

Abstract

The present dissertation adds to the growing literature investigating the link between economic uncertainty and family dynamics by addressing the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. Previous research has maintained that employment instability may either reduce the risk of union dissolution by increasing its relative costs or heighten the risk by exacerbating stress and conflict within the relationship. The present study delves more deeply into the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. It overcomes several limitations of prior research considering different forms of employment instability through the lens of gender and its embeddedness into the economic and cultural context. The analysis focuses on Italy, a country where union dissolution is rapidly growing, although it is still at a lower level compared to European rates, and gender equality is largely "incomplete". By drawing from the best and most recent retrospective nationallyrepresentative data provided by the National Institute of Statistics, the 2016 Multipurpose Household Survey "Families, social subjects and life cycle", the thesis applies event-history techniques observing the life course of different cohorts from 1950 to 1986. The findings emphasize the importance of fully considering different dimensions of employment instability. It is essential to distinguish among joblessness, time-limited, and permanent employment contracts, to consider the accumulation of instability throughout employment careers, and to take account of the moderating role of macro-economic conditions. The results also highlight the centrality of gender in disentangling this relationship at both the micro and macro level. Indeed, the effect of employment instability on union dissolution is gender-specific: joblessness and limited-time employment are facilitators of men's union dissolution, while for women, joblessness is an inhibitor for dissolution, and time-limited and permanent employment do not substantially differ. Nevertheless, the gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution changes according to contextual factors: in regions with higher gender equality, employment instability - including both joblessness and time-limited employment – is associated with a higher risk of union dissolution for both women and men.

Contents

Introduction	8
CHAPTER 1	15
The rise of union dissolution in Western societies	15
1. Main theories on marital instability over the past century	15
1.1 Legislative development	15
1.2 Cultural shift and changes in intimate relationships	16
1.3 Changes in gender roles: economic explanation	18
1.4 The division of domestic labor and the gender revolution	20
2. The debate on the role of economic uncertainty	22
2.1 Joblessness and union dissolution	24
2.2 A gender lens	25
2.3 Time-limited employment	27
2.4 Accumulation of employment instability	29
2.5 Reverse causality, selection, and anticipation	30
2.6 Employment instability as a macro-level dimension	32
2.7 Employment context, individual position, and changes over time	35
3. Cultural and institutional context	36
3.1 Gender culture	37
3.2 Welfare provisions for work/family balance	39
3.3 Social protection from unemployment	41
3.4 Social stigmatization, educational expansion, and secularization	43
4. Correlates of divorce	45

4.1 Age, period, and cohort	46
4.2 Education	47
4.3 Parental background	48
4.4 Pre-marital cohabitation	49
4.5 Religion	50
4.6 Children	51
5. Divorce and union dissolution	52
5.1 Marriage, cohabitation, and union dissolution	53
5.2 Selection into marriage and cohabitation: legal and social aspects	54
5.3 Marriage and cohabitation under conditions of uncertainty	56
CHAPTER 2	59
Italian context	59
1. Union dissolution in Italy	60
1.1 History and legal framework	60
1.2 Demographic trends	61
1.3 Marriage and cohabitation	65
2. The Italian labor market	67
2.1 Labor-market flexibilization	67
2.2 Social protection in the case of unemployment	69
2.3 Labor-market trends	71
2.4 Gender differences in labor market participation	74
3. Cultural and institutional aspects of Italian society	78
3.1 Gender norms and the gendered division of unpaid work	78
3.2 Familialism and secularization	81

3.3 Reconciliation policies	84
4. Employment and union dissolution in Italy: previous findings	88
CHAPTER 3	91
Data and Methodology	91
1. Data	92
2. Sample selection	93
3. Analytical strategy	94
4. Variables	98
4.1 Dependent variable	98
4.2 Individual-level measures of employment instability	99
4.3 Macro-level indicators of employment instability	100
4.4 Macro-level indicators of gender context	100
4.5 Control variables	102
5. Data limitation	104
CHAPTER 4	106
Employment instability and union dissolution: A complex mi	cro-level
relationship	106
1. Introduction	106
2. Research hypothesis	108
2.1 Joblessness	108
2.2 Time-limited jobs	109
2.3 Accumulation of employment instability	110
2.4 Changes across cohorts	112
2.5 Marriage and cohabitation	112

3	. Empirical analysis1	13
	3.1 The gendered effect of joblessness and time-limited employment1	13
	3.2 The accumulation of joblessness and time-limited employment1	17
	3.3 Changes across cohorts	21
	3.4 Marriage-cohabitation differentials1	24
4	. Cause-effect ambiguity1	26
5	. Conclusions1	28
CH	APTER 5 1	.30
Emp	ployment shortage and instability and couples' breakups1	.30
1	. Introduction1	30
2	. Research hypothesis1	33
	2.1 Employment context and union dissolution: relational stress or cost	of
	divorce?1	33
	2.2 Inhibiting or amplifying effect of employment shortage and instabil	ity
	on individual employment instability1	34
	2.3. Employment context and type of union1	35
	2.4 Changes over time1	36
3	. Empirical analysis1	37
	3.1 Employment shortage and instability and union dissolution	37
	3.2 Employment context and individual employment instability	40
	3.3 Marriage-cohabitation differentials1	44
	3.4 Changes over time1	46
4	. Conclusions1	48

CHAI	PTER 6	51
Societ	tal gender equality, employment instability, and union dissolution15	51
1.	Introduction15	51
2.	Research hypotheses	53
2	2.1 Share of paid work15	53
2	2.2 Share of domestic and care work15	54
2	2.3 Reconciliation policies15	56
3.	Empirical analysis	57
3	3.1 Descriptive analysis15	57
3	3.2 Event history analysis16	53
4.	Conclusions17	73
CHAI	PTER 7	75
Concl	usion and discussion	75
REFE	RENCES	33
APPE	ENDIX)4
1.	Sample selection: different age limits20)4
2.	Dependent variable: de facto separation, legal separation, and divord 208	ce
3.	Accumulation of employment instability21	12
4.	Region21	15

Introduction

After the golden age of marriage, most Western societies have experienced a drastic change in partnership patterns, and more generally in family demography. Changing trends in union formation and dissolution have been characterized by the postponement and decline of marriage and childbearing, a cohabitation boom, rising divorce rates, and high rates of separation between cohabitants (Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2016; Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008). Family structures have generally become much more complex and diversified, with individuals experiencing multiple and de-standardized relationships, living alone, with their children, or with their new partners, thus constituting the so-called 'incomplete nuclear families', 'mono-parent families', or 'reconstituted families' (Ferro & Salvini, 2007; Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2016). In this scenario, union dissolution is a key phenomenon since it engenders these new family forms. Union dissolution has significant social consequences, giving rise to new behaviors, such as the return to the parental home of separated men and women, or late life remarriage. It alters the dynamics of fertility, both by reducing reproductive projects due to the widespread feeling of instability of families, and on the contrary, by increasing fertility in the case of multiple unions, stimulating multi-partners fertility (Thomson, 2014; Thomson et al., 2012). Such changes are remarkable because they influence housing and living arrangements and contribute to generating new patterns of social stratification (Amato, 2000; Andreß et al., 2006; Leopold, 2018; Mikolai & Kulu, 2018; Mulder, 2013).

Changes in partnership patterns have been observed in all Western societies, with country-specific timings and extents (Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008). They have been generally explained by a combination of normative, cultural, and economic transformations interacting and influencing each other. Sociological and demographic theories identify the shift in cultural values and the hegemony of individualism, the growing participation of women in education and labor

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

market – with the consequent new organization of home economics – and, more recently, the incomplete revolution of gender roles as the main drivers of those radical changes in families (Becker, 1991; Giddens, 1992; Goldscheider et al., 2015; Hochschild, 1989; Lesthaeghe, 1991; McDonald, 2000; Preston, 1986; Van de Kaa, 1987). Additionally, recent studies have highlighted the role played by the growing economic uncertainty characterizing current societies in shaping family behaviors (Kreyenfeld et al., 2012; Sobotka et al., 2011; Vignoli, Bazzani, et al., 2020; Vignoli, Guetto, et al., 2020b).

Since the 1980s, capitalism and increasing globalization, with the strong deregulation, privatization, and delocalization of economies, have fundamentally reshaped the labor markets of globalized societies, generating an unprecedented level of structural and individual economic uncertainty (Vignoli et al., 2016, 2019). Economic uncertainty corresponds to a lack of clarity concerning economic prospects. In economic terms, this is understood as a situation in which agents cannot anticipate the outcome of a decision and cannot assign probabilities to the outcome (Beckert, 1996; Knight, 1921). The perception of uncertainty is thus related to growing levels of the unpredictability of the future (Colombo & Rebughini, 2019) that has become an inherent characteristic of contemporary Western societies (Bauman, 2007; Blossfeld & Müller, 2002; Mills et al., 2006; Mills & Blossfeld, 2013). The spread of new forms of flexible and time-limited work contracts, characterized by lower wages, lower bargaining power, and lower levels of social protection, have transformed labor-market entry and exit conditions, and have provoked an increasing precariousness of working paths (Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Scherer, 2009). Furthermore, in the past two decades, the global economy has experienced a series of shocks – culminating in the Great Recession, the most dramatic financial crisis in recent memory - which has caused a drastic rise in unemployment, the spread of precarious work, and the volatility of household incomes (Bloom, 2014; Storesletten et al., 2004). Economic uncertainty has been repeatedly shown to affect family dynamics (Kreyenfeld et al., 2012). In particular, it has been proved to be part of the

9

explanation of marriage and fertility postponement and decline (Busetta et al., 2019; Pailhé & Solaz, 2012; Vignoli et al., 2016, 2019; Vignoli, Guetto, et al., 2020a). However, the relationship between economic uncertainty and union dissolution is far from been clearly understood. This dissertation adds to the growing literature on the nexus between economic uncertainty and family life courses, by addressing the relationship between employment instability – considered a major proxy for economic uncertainty (Kreyenfeld et al., 2012) – and union dissolution. Disentangling this relationship is especially crucial for understanding whether men and women experiencing employment instability are also those more likely to end up living in singlehood or in mono-parental families, and to bear alone housing and living expenses, thus having a double disadvantage.

Extant research on the relationship between economic conditions and union dissolution indicates a theoretical ambivalence concerning the direction of the effects at play. On the one hand, the 'relational stress hypothesis' (Conger et al., 1990; Liker & Elder, 1983) suggests that unfavorable economic conditions increase psychological distress and exacerbates marital discord, thus increasing the risk of separation. Conversely, the 'cost of divorce perspective' (Cherlin, 1979) argues that poor economic conditions may reduce divorce by raising its relative costs, i.e., those of legal settlements, household relocation, or by increasing the expenditure on consumer durables (Amato & Beattie, 2010; Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). Thus, the relationship between economic uncertainty and divorce is a complex one. It requires the ability to cope with the potential growing psychological distress and life dissatisfaction due to the own employment situation, existing job opportunities, and an uncertain future, but also to deal with structural economic constraints. Whether economic uncertainty leads to an increase or reduction in the risk of dissolving the current union may depend on the individuals' actual economic and employment situation but also on several individual and societal factors influencing individuals perceived/subjective economic uncertainty (Comolli, 2017; Bolano & Vignoli,

2021). These may include individual characteristics, such as personality and values, gender, cohort, education, socio-economic status, and career paths, which make individuals more or less likely to be employed in the future, but also the economic, cultural, and institutional context. With scarce economic conditions and employment opportunities, even those with relatively higher chances of success in the labor market may feel uncertainty. Likewise, in contexts with high structural gender inequality, the experience and perception of uncertainty may vastly differ for men and women.

This research thesis attempts to overcome limitations in existing research and provide novel evidence on the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution by adopting a more extensive definition of employment instability and an explicit gender perspective. Employment instability is identified through this thesis at the micro level with an individual's objective unfavorable employment spells, i.e. joblessness and time-limited employment also accounting for the accumulation of unstable employment spells over the lifecourse -; at the macro level, with regional-level unemployment and time-limited work rates. In contemporary Western societies, being jobless is a major cause of economic and social disadvantage because work is a source of economic security, social inclusion, and well-being for individuals (Biegert, 2019). Likewise, timelimited jobs have been shown to have negative economic and social consequences for individuals (Scherer, 2009). However, to the best of my knowledge, no study has yet analyzed the relation between time-limited work contracts and the risk of union dissolution. Both joblessness and time-limited work may generate high levels of uncertainty since they correspond to a lack of clarity on economic prospects, as well as economic and psychological strain due to either a total lack of income from work or temporary (and often scarce) salaries. Nonetheless, disadvantages related to unstable employment, and the perceived economic uncertainty, may increase with the accumulation of joblessness or unstable employment spells (Kaplan & Herbst-Debby, 2018). Finally, at the macro-level, employment shortage and the spread of time-limited work may translate into feelings of economic uncertainty for individuals because they generate economic penalties and uncertain futures (Vignoli et al., 2016).

The individual, interactional, and institutional dimensions of our society are shaped by gender (Risman, 2004), which not only influences definitions and perceptions of what is normal, but also opportunities and constraints of what is feasible. Thus, the gender dimension is considered throughout the thesis by observing differences and similarities between women and men in the link between employment instability and union dissolution, and by seeing whether these micro differences are the same in contexts with different gender cultures and structures.

This thesis is innovative also in that it adopts an extensive definition of union dissolution, including the end of all romantic cohabiting unions, whether formalized in a marriage or not, and it scrutinizes differences and similarities between the two types of union. Despite the vast differences between marriage and non-marital cohabitation in terms of stability (Liefbroer & Dourleijn, 2006; Perelli-Harris & Gassen, 2012), indeed, married and cohabiting couples have fundamentally similar features. Both types of union share households, usually resulting in economies of scale, and present themselves socially as a couple (Smock, 2000). It follows that many of the implications of couples' breakups are virtually the same because they are likely to be important in terms of economic well-being, emotional health, subsequent family formation, and responsibilities for children (Manning 2020). Yet, people choosing cohabitations instead of marriage might differ in ways that matter for risk of union dissolution: for example it has been shown that younger couples with unstable jobs generally tend to cohabit rather than marry (Manning, 2020; Vignoli et al., 2016) and that, in relatively traditional contexts such as Italy, cohabiting couples tend to be highly-educated and to practice more symmetric gender models (Asare, 2019; Piccone Stella & Salmieri, 2016). Because of this potential self-selection, in this thesis cohabitation and marriage are both included and distinguished.

Italy is an interesting setting in which to study the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. The incidence of union dissolution is still limited in Italy compared to European rates, and marriage is still a relatively dominant institution (Rosina & Fraboni, 2004; Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008). Nonetheless, in recent decades, trend data have evidenced a strong increase in total divorce and separation rates, and a fast spread of cohabiting unions. These developments have been mirrored by one of the most rapid increases of temporary contractual arrangements in Europe, rising unemployment, and a slow and "incomplete" convergence of gender roles (Esping-Anderson, 2009; Istat, 2018, 2021b; OECD, 2018). Moreover, Italy exhibits marked regional differences, in terms of family and demographic trends, economic conditions, and gender equality, which enable comparisons and make it possible to capture the role of contextual characteristics in shaping the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. Nonetheless, research on employment and divorce in Italy is scant, and the most recent studies available use data from more than a decade ago. This is one of the first studies on union dissolution for Italy that encompasses the time of the Great Recession.

The analysis is organized into three empirical chapters dealing with the following research questions:

- 1. Individual employment instability (micro-level relationship)
 - 1) Is there a relationship between individual employment instability and union dissolution?
 - *1.1) Does it vary according to the accumulation of employment instability?*
 - 1.2) Does it differ by gender, cohort, and type of union?
- 2. Macro-level employment instability (macro-micro relationship)
 - 2) Is there a relationship between macro-level employment shortage and instability and the individual risk of union dissolution?

- 2.1) Does it vary by gender, individual employment status, and type of union?
- 2.2) Has it changed over time?
- 3. Gender context and employment instability (macro-micro relationship)
 - 3) How does the gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution vary in different gender contexts?

The empirical analysis applies event-history techniques making use of data from the 2016 Italian Multipurpose Survey "Families, social subjects and life cycle", conducted by the Italian National Institute of Statistics (Istat), merged with different regional-level (NUTS-2) indicators on the economic and gender context, also provided by ISTAT. These nationally representative data are unique in providing high-quality retrospective information on the occurrence of dissolutions over the past four decades.

The thesis is structured as follows. The first chapter conducts a detailed review of the theoretical debate on the rise of divorce in Western societies, paying particular attention to the role of employment instability and gender, at both the micro and macro levels. The second chapter describes the Italian context. It considers the main features of union dissolution, and its legislative and historical framework and trends, labor-market regulations and characteristics, gender culture, and welfare provisions. Chapter 3 illustrates in detail the analytical strategy and the data. Chapters 4-5-6 set out the empirical analysis, dealing respectively with the micro-level relationship between employment instability and union dissolution (Chapter 4), the relationship between macro-level employment shortage and instability and the individual risk of dissolution (Chapter 5), and the role of prevalent gendered behaviors and reconciliation policies in explaining gender differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution (Chapter 6). Finally, Chapter 7 discusses the main findings and draws the conclusions.

CHAPTER 1

The rise of union dissolution in Western societies

1. Main theories on marital instability over the past century

Marital conflict is certainly not a recent phenomenon. However, in the past, tensions usually remained within the domestic walls since they were not upheld by social and legal norms (Ferro & Salvini, 2007). Nevertheless, since the 1960s, an unprecedented rapid and sharp increase in divorce rates has been observed in all Western societies, with country-specific timing and diffusion patterns (Lesthaeghe 1998; Reher 1998; Surkyn and Lesthaeghe 2004). Today, divorce rates are two to five times higher than in the 1960s, and in a number of countries around one half of all marriages end in divorce (Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008). This remarkable growth of marital instability over the past century has attracted the attention of many researchers, and it has been explained by a combination of legal, cultural, and economic transformations that interact with and influence each other.

1.1 Legislative development

Most European countries had laws regulating divorce in the first half of the twentieth century or earlier. The exceptions were Italy, Portugal, Spain and Ireland, where divorce was introduced respectively in 1970, 1975, 1981, and 1996 (González and Viitanen 2009).

During the 1950s and 1960s, many countries allowed divorce only on the basis of the 'fault' of one of the spouses, typically adultery or physical violence. These laws were generally characterized by a marked discrimination against women: for instance, in many countries, adultery was considered a reason for divorce only if committed by women, or required stronger proof, or had to be committed in the conjugal dwelling, for men (Giddens, 1992; Todesco, 2008). In the 1970s, many countries introduced so-called 'divorce by mutual consent' based solely on the spouses' free will to sever the marital bond. Several countries went further and introduced the 'unilateral divorce', which allowed divorce on request by only one of the spouses, thus discarding the pre-requisite of mutual agreement (González & Viitanen, 2009; Todesco, 2008). There thus occurred a gradual shift in all Western societies from a concept of divorce as a punishment for a guilty spouse, to divorce as a remedy for an unhappy marriage.

Changes in the normative settings of divorce gradually led to more tolerant norms and simpler procedures. They not only made divorce possible, but also contributed to its increase over time (de Rose & Di Cesare, 2007; Fallesen, 2021; Ferro & Salvini, 2007; Friedberg, 1998; González & Viitanen, 2009; Istat, 2016b; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009). However, normative changes capture and mark attitudes and behaviors of the population, and are likely to emerge only when new values have already spread in the society (Fella et al., 2004; Goode, 1993). Indeed, the past half century has been characterized by considerable changes in values and norms concerning family life, intimate relationships, and gender roles.

1.2 Cultural shift and changes in intimate relationships

In industrialized economies, the rise of modernization, urbanization, and globalization increased the standard of living, and along with the process of

secularization, led to a shift in values towards more individualism and an increased interest in self-fulfillment. As populations became wealthier and more educated, individual needs gradually shifted away from survival, security, solidarity, and religion, and moved to individual self-realization, recognition, and educational values (Lesthaeghe, 1991; Maslow, 1954).

The theories of the Second Demographic Transition (SDT) (Lesthaeghe, 1991, 1998, 2014; Lesthaeghe & Van de Kaa, 1986; Van de Kaa, 1987, 2002) and the Ideational shift (Preston, 1986), find a close connection between the expansion of education and the shift in the values system towards more individualism, and the radical change in post-modern families. They depict a scenario of Western societies in which the well-being of individuals, in terms of career desires and personal self-realization, has assumed a central role in their partnering and reproductive choices.

Before the hegemony of individualism, the prevalent notion of marriage envisaged that individuals changed their own prerogatives and personal interests for the good of the family. Individualism, by placing the individual and his or her freedom at the top of the scale of values, has led to the affirmation of values of autonomy, independence, and personal fulfilment, to the detriment of group and family solidarity. Individuals no longer take externally supplied norms and morality for granted and stress their own freedom of choice (Lesthaeghe 2014). Forms and aims of sentimental relationships are no longer defined by the socially accepted conventions and customs, but rather by the choices and desires of individuals who decide to form a couple (Giddens 1992; Todesco 2008). Therefore, the concept of marriage has changed, and it is considered rationally and in relation to the individual benefits it can offer. Within this mindset, being trapped in an unhappy marriage is an unacceptable restriction on individual freedom.

Moreover, the expansion of education has seen women reach the same or higher level of education as that of men, and the assignment of traditional roles based on sex has come increasingly to be seen as unjust and unfair. There has gradually occurred a massive shift in the value attached to the role of housewife and mother, which has passed from being the center of women's fulfilment to an impediment to individual accomplishment (Lesthaeghe 2014; Preston 1986). Educational expansion has also led to a major ethical shift away from strong stigmatization of certain behaviors to more tolerance and autonomy known as the "ethical revolution", involving a de-stigmatization of divorce, abortion, homosexuality, euthanasia and suicide (Lesthaeghe, 2020). According to both the SDT and ideational shift theory, this cultural shift promoting the spread of new family trends and relationship patterns occurs in a dynamic process of cohort succession as an increase in the acceptance of new subjective values across generations (Lesthaeghe 2014; Preston 1986).

Furthermore, several sociologists (e.g. Bauman 2003; Giddens 1992; Hochschild 2003) have highlighted the crucial role played by the rise of capitalism and market economies in shaping intimate relationships. They claim that in free market societies, even romantic intimacy has become a behavior subject to the rules of rationalized market exchange (Hochschild, 2003). Within the 'new' consumer culture which favors ready-to-use products, rapid solutions, and instantaneous satisfaction without the investment of a large amount of feelings and efforts, the experience of love is equated to other market products, and relationships are increasingly seen as temporary experiences in the life course which will be replaced when they no longer function (Bauman, 2003).

Overall, during the past century there has been an undeniable shift in the culture and value attached to intimate relationships and the marital bond, which may of course be part of the explanation of the rise in the divorce rate.

1.3 Changes in gender roles: economic explanation

Changes in the value system have been mirrored by a radical change in the organization of family life and gender relations. A combination of cultural and

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

economic transformations – namely the rise of education and feminist and liberal social movements, the expansion of the service industry, the declining earnings and job security of young men, and the growing material needs of individuals and families – has increasingly encouraged women to participate in the labor market. During its early growth, women's employment was closely associated with increased union dissolution (Becker, 1973, 1991; Becker et al., 1977; Cherlin, 1979). The theoretical assumptions linking women's employment to marital disruption originate from the notion of unequal gender roles in the family as a prevailing social norm, and they depict the rise in divorce as a product of the changing sexual division of labor.

Writing almost one century before the divorce boom, Durkheim (1893) identified the sexual division of labor as the main source of interdependence between men and women in that it produced what he termed "organic solidarity". He predicted that family unity would be threatened by female autonomy, since similar roles of men and women would shrink organic solidarity and reduce the conjugal bond to ephemeral sexual relations (Bynder, 1969; Lamanna, 2002). Nearly one century later, this argument was resumed by Gary Becker and the New Home Economics (1973, 1991; Becker et al., 1977). According to Becker, the main gain of marriage derives from the mutual dependence of the spouses, with one focusing on income provision, and the other on home production. It therefore depends in part on the extent to which investments in skills are oriented to the division of labor within marriage. Owing to culturally-rooted gender norms, the female partner usually specializes in the housework and the male partner usually specializes in breadwinning. This specialization in the gendered division of labor within nuclear families increases the benefits of marriage, and therefore enhances stability. It follows that, as women increasingly pursue careers, men's and women's 'complementary' skills begin to converge, reducing the gain of marriage and therefore increasing the probability of divorce (Becker 1973; Becker et al. 1977). The same agent of change has been reinterpreted by subsequent theories, which identify the rise in economic opportunities for women as a necessary condition for the increase in separations (Cherlin, 1979, 1992; Degler, 1980). Within this framework, the *economic independence hypothesis* claims that women in the past, who lacked economic independence, were often trapped in unhappy marriages (Sayer & Bianchi, 2000). Hence, the rise of employment opportunities for women, and their consequent financial autonomy, eventually made it possible for them to dissolve such marriages. From this perspective, women's employment not merely represents a force driving divorce rates up, but includes the possibility that women dissatisfied with their marriages take up a job, or intensify their efforts in the labor market, in anticipation of a divorce (Vignoli et al., 2018).

1.4 The division of domestic labor and the gender revolution

Besides changing the economic role of women within the family, wives' employment is likely to generate tensions between spouses over the household division of labor (e.g. Cooke, 2006; Hochschild, 1989). Despite a substantial increase in women's participation in the labor market, in most countries men's share of housework has remained exiguous and substantially unchanged. This phenomenon has been generally attributed to a couple's 'doing gender' in their marital relationship (West & Zimmerman, 1987). By doing gender, people actively manage behaviors and social interaction in accordance with normative expectations attributable to gender roles (Cooke, 2006; West & Zimmerman, 1987). Many women therefore carry the double burden of paid and unpaid work, with the consequent lack of leisure and relationship time, stress, and feelings of injustice and resentment towards their husbands (Hochschild, 1989). In an early study, Arlie Hochschild (1989) identified the strain between the change in the role of women and the absence of change in men as a fundamental gradient of marital disruption, and called it a "stalled revolution". Several more recent studies (e.g. Bellani et al., 2018; Breen & Cooke, 2005; Mencarini & Vignoli, 2018; Oláh & Gahler, 2014) have confirmed that perceived unfairness in the

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

division of household labor is associated with decreased marital happiness and an increased likelihood of divorce.

Drawing on the idea of a stalled revolution, sociologists and demographers have developed new perspectives to explain the drastic change in families based on the changing equilibrium in gender relations: namely the Gender Equity Theory (McDonald, 2000, 2013), the Incomplete Revolution (Esping-Andersen, 2009), the Multiple Equilibria model (Esping-Andersen & Billari, 2015), and the Gender Revolution Theory (Goldscheider et al., 2015). With only minor differences, these perspectives depict the gender revolution as a two-stage process. The first phase is characterized by a drastic increase in women employment, with a consequent gain in women's financial autonomy. However, despite women's economic contributions, the gender division of housework within the family remains virtually unchanged; and social policies promoting gender equality at the societal level are still scant or non-existent. Thus, in this stage, union dissolution is not attributable to women's employment itself, but rather to the incoherence and unfairness due to women's assumption of economic responsibilities, the unequal division of unpaid work in the family, and a lack of public policies for reconciliation of work and family. These factors generate or intensify work/family tensions, and upset the equilibrium in the marital dyad. The second phase is characterized by a change in the gender system at the societal level, with the emergence of new policies promoting work/family balance, and men assuming more, or the same, domestic responsibility as women. Theories predict that this will lead to a new work/life balance and more gender-equal relationships, resulting in greater union stability. Nonetheless, most authors have referred to a stalled, incomplete, or unfinished revolution, because many countries have for long been stuck in the first stage, and societies have not been adapting to women's new role (Esping-Andersen, 2009; Gerson, 2010; Hochschild, 1989).

21

2. The debate on the role of economic uncertainty

By integrating classic explanations of family change, recent studies have highlighted the role played by economic uncertainty in shaping family behaviors. Economic uncertainty is an inherent characteristic of contemporary capitalist societies. It corresponds to a lack of clarity on economic prospects, and it is linked to difficulties in making plans or foreseeing the effects of future choices (Becker, 1973; Colombo & Rebughini, 2019). Indeed, economic events not only alter couples current demand but also their forecasts of future constraints and hence future demands (Adsera, 2005; Butz and Ward 1980).

Analyzing the relationship between economic uncertainty and family dynamics, research has differentiated between structural economic conditions and perceived economic uncertainty (Comolli, 2017), which have also been defined objective and subjective dimensions of economic uncertainty (Bolano & Vignoli, 2021). The first is related to the present objective economic situation, while, the latter, to the perceived uncertainty about the future (Bolano & Vignoli, 2021; Comolli, 2017; Dominitz & Manski, 1997). While the objective economic uncertainty may be easily identified with actual individual or contextual economic conditions, subjective economic uncertainty may vary in line with individuals' idiosyncratic preferences and psychological characteristics such as generalized trust, subjective well-being, risk aversion, or values (Bellani & Arpino, 2022; Kreyenfeld, 2010, 2015; Vignoli, Mencarini, and Alderotti, 2020). In addition, beside the objective and subjective perception of individuals' security over their actual employment and economic situation, recent advances in family demography posit that, when people face uncertainty, they tend to consider not only past experiences and present status, but also future expectations, which represent what people expect will happen based on the available information. According to the 'narrative framework' (Vignoli et al., 2020) "the shadows of the past and future find their synthesis in the narratives of one's own future, which reflect contingent plans for reaching certain goals in life".

A consistent steam of research has shown that economic uncertainty, in its different configurations, dramatically influences patterns of union formation, and fertility intentions and behaviors (Bolano & Vignoli, 2021; Busetta et al., 2019; Comolli, 2017; Comolli & Vignoli, 2021; Kreyenfeld, 2010, 2015; Vignoli et al., 2016, 2019). However, its impact on union dissolution is still unclear.

The existing literature refers to objective economic conditions and posits two contrasting mechanisms to describe the expected relationship with union dissolution, i.e. the relational stress, and cost of divorce arguments (Amato & Beattie, 2010; Cherlin, 2009; Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). Indeed, unfavorable economic conditions may provoke stress and dissatisfaction with life, which may enhance relationship problems. The relational stress hypothesis claims that this leads to an increased risk of separation. By contrast, the cost of divorce perspective posits that unfavorable economic conditions, and the related economic hardship, may reduce divorce by raising its relative cost (i.e., legal settlement, moving to a new household, expenditure on consumer durables), or, perhaps, strengthening family bonds, although this last hypothesis has not found convincing empirical support. Thus, the relationship between economic uncertainty and divorce is a complex one. It requires the ability to cope with the potential growing psychological distress and life dissatisfaction due to the own employment situation, existing job opportunities, and uncertain future, but also to deal with structural economic constraints.

In the present section I review the extant literature linking economic uncertainty and union dissolution, specifically focusing on the role of employment instability, which is considered to be a major objective dimension of economic uncertainty (Kreyenfeld et al., 2012), and it is indeed closely related to insufficient earnings, economic insecurity, and uncertain futures (Wickrama et al., 2020).

2.1 Joblessness and union dissolution

In contemporary Western societies, being jobless is a major cause of economic and social disadvantage because work is a source of economic security, social inclusion, and well-being for individuals (Biegert, 2019). Indeed, social research maintain that the detrimental effects of job loss and unemployment are not limited to the unemployed worker but ripple out to affect those closest to him and her (Howe et al., 2004; McKee-Ryan & Maitoza, 2014). At the individual level, joblessness, unemployment, and job loss, have been repeatedly linked to union dissolution (Conger et al., 1990; Doiron & Mendolia, 2012; Di Nallo, et al., 2021; Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Liker & Elder, 1983; Ruggles, 1997; Solaz et al., 2020; Starkey, 1996). Previous research has generally reported a disruptive impact of unemployment on marriage and identified several potential mechanisms to explain this association.

First, joblessness may carry a large lifetime income penalty. Its associated drop in human-capital accumulation, significantly increases the risk of future unemployment, and leads to lower future wages and benefits (Adsera, 2005). The surging financial pressures and loss of income deriving from unemployment may reduce marital quality. A sudden and unexpected reduction in income may in fact generate tension in the couple, undermining the routines of family life (Conger et al. 1990; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004; Liker and Elder 1983; Poortman 2005; Starkey 1996). It has been shown that marital relations grow more tense and conflictual as couples are forced to adapt to a much lower income (Liker and Elder 1983).

Moreover, unemployment has been directly associated with low subjective well-being, psychological distress, frustration, and depression (Marsh & Alvaro, 1990; Oesch & Lipps, 2013; Randall & Bodenmann, 2009; Whelan, 1994), which are likely to facilitate marital conflict. Psychological distress at the individual level is indeed liable to spill over and affect relationships (Howe et al., 2004; McKee-Ryan & Maitoza, 2014). Early studies on the United States found that unemployment had an indirect effect on marital quality through husbands'

behavior (Atkinson et al., 1986; Conger et al., 1990; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004; Liker & Elder, 1983; Starkey, 1996). Husbands' employment instability negatively affected family interaction, increasing their irritability, explosiveness, and hostility, and decreasing their warmth and supportiveness toward their wives. In turn, men's hostility was associated with greater perceptions of marital instability by wives and with lower levels of satisfaction/happiness for women (Conger et al. 1990).

In addition, unemployment may be also linked to certain individual psychological traits and characteristics, e.g. personal inconstancy, mutability, or lack of reliability, or sense of responsibility, which may influence marital stability (Atkinson et al., 1986; Charles & Stephens, 2004; Doiron & Mendolia, 2012). Therefore, job loss could be a signal of the partner's characteristics that affect his/her suitability as a mate. Doiron and Mendolia (2012), distinguishing among different types of job displacement (dismissal, redundancy and temporary job ending) among men in the UK, found support for this hypothesis. They showed that job losses dependent on the worker's characteristics (dismissals) have a stronger impact on marriages than redundancies, which instead depend on the employer's characteristics.

Although most research agrees on the disruptive impact of unemployment on marital stability, the literature suggests that when marital ties are strong, unemployment does not cause marital problems; on the contrary, it could strengthen family bonds and actually improve the marriage (Thomas et al., 1980). Empirical evidence is limited, however.

2.2 A gender lens

The impact of unemployment on separation has been generally described and tested on men's unemployment. Nevertheless, from the few studies containing information on women it appears that women's unemployment does not provoke strain on families (Liker and Elder 1983; Jensen & Smith, 1990), with the exception of a few studies in Scandinavian countries (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003). However, such studies date back to some decades ago, when gender and family systems were different. Indeed, in male-breadwinner family systems, where men are the main providers of the family income, and women, if anything, occupy more alternative and 'compensatory' economic roles, the financial strain on families is greater when the husband is unemployed (Liker and Elder 1983; Starkey 1996). Moreover, women with a traditional view on family life, who opt for the homeworker role, and for whom not working is a 'choice', do not experience employment insecurity. However, as women's desires and aspirations are changing and the global economy more and more requires a dual-earner family, the economic roles of men and women are becoming increasingly equal. With a dual-earner model and a larger shared income, the couple should be able to maintain a higher standard of living and protect themselves against unemployment, reducing the economic hardship and relational stress generated by it, and increasing relationship stability (Blom et al., 2020; Cooke & Gash, 2010; Jalovaara, 2003; Ono, 1998; Oppenheimer, 1988, 1994).

Nonetheless, women's employment is generally associated with increased union dissolution. Conversely, non-working women, owing to their high skills' specialization in care and domestic work rather than the labor market, and lacking economic means of independence, are closely dependent on the malebreadwinner, and therefore less prone to divorce (Cherlin, 1992; Todesco, 2009). According to the *gender institution perspective*, the risk of divorce within a couple depends also on deviance from or compliance with the prevalent model; divorce is more likely when spouses' employment and earnings violate gendered norms of behavior. Hence, in still relatively traditional societies, the husband's unemployment and the wife's employment strain the marriage by violating the implicit terms of the marital contract (Killewald, 2016; Sayer et al., 2011). Therefore, the disruptive impact of both men's unemployment and women's employment on marriage are claimed to be tied to traditional gender norms and should become weaker in more gender-equal societies. This perspective is in line with recent developments of socio-demographic theories linking marital disruption with the incomplete or stalled revolution of gender roles (Esping-Andersen and Billari 2015; Goldscheider, Bernhardt, and Lappegård 2015; Hochschild 1989; McDonald 2013). Indeed, studies on Scandinavian countries, where gender egalitarianism has a quasi-normative status, already since the beginning of the 2000s reported similar effects of his and her unemployment on separation risk. In Finland couples in which husbands, or wives, or both, are unemployed are more likely to divorce (Jalovaara 2003). Also in Norway, the effect is the same for men and women; but the magnitude of these effects is less robust than those found for other countries, giving support to the hypothesis that unemployment effects are less disruptive in more gender symmetric societies (Hansen 2005). Moreover, a recently published study (Di Nallo, et al., 2021) on the effect of unemployment on couples separating in Germany and the UK reported a similar effect of women and men unemployment in the two countries, concluding that, as the role of women on the labor market is changing, so are the consequences of female unemployment on the risk of union dissolution.

2.3 Time-limited employment

Virtually all previous research on the relation between employment uncertainty and divorce has used job loss or unemployment as an indicator of poor economic performance. However, employment uncertainty is also engendered by timelimited work contracts, which in recent decades have been spreading in all Western societies.

Included within the definition of time-limited jobs (also called 'flexible', 'precarious', or 'non-standard' employment) are fixed-term, job-on-call, job sharing, apprenticeship, training, project-based contracts, and so forth, all of which imply a multidimensional concept comprising discontinuity in time, job

insecurity, lack of social protection, and often low levels of wages and earnings (Benach et al., 2014; Benach & Muntaner, 2007; Mai, 2017; Pirani & Salvini, 2015). At the political level, time-limited contracts have been generally promoted as means to reduce unemployment, simplify the transition between education and work (Dell'Aringa & Lucifora, 2001; Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013), and help families (generally women) to reconcile work and family duties (Bertolini & Solera, 2016; Riva, 2016). In principle, such contracts can facilitate entry into the labor market, particularly where vocational education and training is not sufficiently developed, and they may encourage the selection of workers by employers and ensure a better match of job requirements to workers' needs and aspirations. However, it seems that in many European countries, time-limited contracts have failed to achieve these goals, since they mostly concern a disadvantaged fraction of the working population. Instead, they have provoked increasing segmentation, and the dualization of labor markets, where timelimited workers are generally young people, immigrants, and women, and have fewer chances of finding quality employment (Barbieri & Cutuli, 2010; Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Biegert, 2019; Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013).

Indeed, time-limited contracts share some positive features with permanent employment; or at least they may be a way to avoid unemployment. But they also entail unfavorable conditions like unemployment (Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Benach et al., 2014; Burgoon & Dekker, 2010; Pirani & Salvini, 2015). Several studies have in fact shown that time-limited contracts have negative consequences on individuals' private lives and health conditions because they cause a reduction of life satisfaction and subjective well-being, and an increase of psychological disorder, mental distress and depression (Benach et al., 2014; Benach & Muntaner, 2007; Gash et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008; Pirani & Salvini, 2015; Scherer, 2009; Virtanen et al., 2005). Comprising the above-mentioned characteristics, time-limited work has been proved to affect families. In particular, it has been found to have a strong negative impact on marriage (Vignoli et al., 2016), fertility intentions (Busetta et al., 2019) and childbearing (Vignoli et al., 2019), especially in southern European countries with low flexicurity and with scant support for work/family reconciliation (Barbieri et al., 2015). However, although there is evidence that time-limited work contracts contribute to increasing work/family conflict (Steiber, 2009), as well as conflict within the couple (Scherer, 2009), and decreasing relationship satisfaction (Blom et al., 2020), hardly any study has analyzed the relation between time-limited work contracts and union dissolution.

2.4 Accumulation of employment instability

Joblessness and time-limited work contracts may also have long-term negative consequences for employment prospects (Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Busetta et al., 2019). From a life-course perspective, the exposure (especially in the early career) to long spells of joblessness or time-limited jobs can be significantly detrimental. Because work experiences follow upon one another and people are increasingly directed into given trajectories, patterns of path dependency may arise (Dannefer, 2003; Giesecke, 2003; Mynarska et al., 2015; Vignoli et al., 2019). Furthermore, it has been proved that higher levels of employment and income instability increase the risk of an accumulation of unstable work positions within the same household (Grotti & Scherer, 2014).

Prolonged exposure to unemployment or unstable job positions is said to operate as a chronic stressor (Glavin, 2015) and, in some circumstances, the effects of job insecurity are not immediately perceived. Stress proliferation may indeed occur in relatively long periods of time across the life course (Thoits, 2011). Nonetheless, disadvantages related to unstable employment may increase when it is continuous (Kaplan & Herbst-Debby, 2018). Few recent studies on the relationship between employment instability and fertility (e.g. Busetta et al., 2019; Ciganda, 2015; Özcan et al., 2010; Pailhé & Solaz, 2012) posit that perceptions of instability are likely to be influenced not only by our own present situation, but also by information about previous experiences and future prospects. They thus incorporated information on the accumulation of employment instability, providing evidence that it represents a crucial marker of economic uncertainty. However, this issue is still understudied in the context of divorce research. A recently published study by Anderson et al. (2021), measures the dependence of union dissolution risk on unemployment duration in the UK. They uncover striking gender differences in the dependence of union dissolution risk on duration unemployed. For men, unemployment increases the risk of union dissolution, but this is only evident among those in the first three months of an unemployment spell, and for those whose unemployment has lasted beyond five years, with a 'J-shaped' pattern. For women, they found the opposite pattern: the very early stages of unemployment are not characterized by any difference in risk compared with the employed; however, the risk of union dissolution rises with unemployment duration and decreased after about five years of unemployment (Anderson et al 2021).

2.5 Reverse causality, selection, and anticipation

Several authors have questioned the causal relationship between employment instability and union dissolution with different claims.

First, the relationship may suffer from reverse causality. As a matter of fact, a set of studies find support for an association between union dissolution and subsequent job loss (Attewell, 1999; Covizzi, 2008; Kalmijn, 2005; Lampard, 1994) even when accounting for relevant observable characteristics, such as health status and prior unemployment. Furthermore, other studies (e.g. Charles & Stephens, 2004; Doiron & Mendolia, 2012; Vignoli et al., 2018) suggest an important role for selection on unobserved individual characteristics. There is much to suggest that relatively stable differences and psychological traits predispose individuals to experience both union dissolution and job loss or

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

unemployment (Anderson et al 2021). For instance, research on men job loss and union dissolution highlighted individual characteristics such as personal inconstancy, mutability, lack of reliability or sense of responsibility (Charles & Stephens, 2004; Doiron & Mendolia, 2012), which may simultaneously influence men risk of job loss and union dissolution. Another study (Vignoli et al., 2018) identify factors that jointly affect women's employment and relationship choices. They may encompass attachment to family, career orientation, and gender role attitudes. Women with more traditional values may be at the same time less likely to experience union dissolution, and more likely to be jobless, because of their attachment to family values. On the other hand, women may be more likely to work and experience union dissolution because they have a strong career orientation and a low level of attachment to family values. Thus, individual differences in characteristics which confer higher or lower risks of experiencing both union dissolution and job loss may confound the apparently causal associations between the two events (Anderson et al., 2021; Winship, 2014).

A couple of studies (i.e. Anderson et al., 2021; and Vignoli et al., 2018) directly addressed these issues of reverse causality and selection by jointly modelling job loss (or employment) and union dissolution. Anderson et al. (2021), accounting for unobserved individual characteristics influencing both processes, find no support for a connection between being separated and subsequent job loss in the UK, in contrast with the literature claiming reverse causality. Moreover, they find that job loss and union dissolution per se have modest and non-significant prospective associations with one another after accounting for this cross-process correlation. Nevertheless, they find that it is the spell of unemployment rather than the job loss itself that increases the risk of union dissolution. Accounting for the correlated unobserved heterogeneity between the two processes, unemployment is significantly associated with subsequent union dissolution whereas job loss is not (Anderson et al., 2021). Vignoli et al. (2018) showed that the correlation between women employment and marital instability can be affected by selection mechanisms. They compare

four counties and find that the multi-process specification changed the findings for Germany and Poland but not for Hungary and Italy. In Germany the destabilizing impact of women's employment on marriage is partly driven by selection effects, e.g., by women who have a weak family orientation or a lowquality marriage, or who are strongly work-oriented. The same multi-process specification for Poland yielded that unobserved factors simultaneously affect the propensity to exit employment and the propensity to exit a marriage.

A further possible issue concerning the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution is the risk of performing a so-called 'anticipatory analysis' (Hoem & Kreyenfeld, 2006a, 2006b). Indeed, most studies relied on the observed order of events (e.g., joblessness and divorce). As such, they took for granted that the divorce decision and the actual divorce happen at the same time. Such a strategy may bias the effect of women's employment on divorce risk if married women increase their involvement in the labor market because of a decline in their satisfaction with their relationship and a fear of separation (Özcan and Breen 2012; Vignoli et al., 2018). Empirical studies have provided some evidence for such anticipatory adjustments, though these adjustments do not seem to be strong (Poortman 2005; Vignoli et al., 2018). Little evidence for an anticipatory adjustment has been found for Italy, however, this pattern does not fully explain the elevated levels of disruption risk for employed women, as these levels remained high even several years after entry into employment (Vignoli et at., 2018).

2.6 Employment instability as a macro-level dimension

Employment instability may also be conceptualized as a macro-level phenomenon reflecting the general uncertainty felt by people in times of high unemployment and precariousness, in particular during economic recessions (Bloom, 2014; Comolli, 2017; Comolli & Vignoli, 2021; Kreyenfeld et al., 2012;

Sobotka et al., 2011; White, 1990). Individuals' decisions depend not only on current conditions but also on the perception of present and future economic circumstances, and contextual macroeconomic conditions may inform such perceptions (Comolli, 2021; Kreyenfeld 2010; Kreyenfeld Andersson, & Pailhé 2012). Individuals' perception of the broader uncertain macro-economic climate may translate into micro-level feelings of uncertainty regarding negative economic prospects, and it may engender anxiety and depression (Schneider, 2015; Sobotka et al., 2011; Vignoli, Bazzani, et al., 2020; Vignoli, Guetto, et al., 2020b) which may increase the divorce risk (in line with the 'relational stress hypothesis'). On the other hand, however, unfavorable economic conditions may act as a structural constraint, and constitute a barrier to union dissolution, increasing the economic cost of dissolving the current union ('cost of divorce hypothesis') (Amato & Beattie, 2010).

The current literature focusing on the relationship between macro-level economic conditions and union dissolution provides evidence for both the relational stress and the cost of divorce perspectives (Amato & Beattie, 2010; Cherlin, 2009; Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). Moreover, building on those hypotheses, Cherlin (2009) proposed a hybrid perspective. He suggested that the high cost of divorce only leads to its postponement. Therefore, economic downturns or crises are likely to provoke initially a drop in divorce rates due to the high cost of divorce, followed by an increase when the economy improves. Nearly all the empirical studies on the relationship between macro-economic conditions and union dissolution refer to the United States, and they report mixed empirical findings. Most studies analyze the impact of macro-level economic conditions on divorce rates, and generally support the cost of divorce hypothesis (Amato & Beattie, 2010), or the postponement of divorce argument (Schaller, 2013). To the best of my knowledge, only González-Val and Marcén (2017) study the relationship between unemployment and divorce rates in Europe, with a macro-level panel of 29 European countries covering the period from 1991 to 2012. They find that the unemployment rate negatively affects the divorce rate.

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

The authors therefore point to a pro-cyclical evolution of the divorce rate, even after controlling for socio-economic variables and unobservable characteristics that can vary by country, and/or over time. Only a few studies adopt a micromacro approach and thus analyze the relation between macro-level uncertainty and the individual risk of separation and, in contrast with the fully macro-level studies, they provide evidence, or partial evidence, for the relational stress hypothesis (Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). Fischer and Liefbroer (2006) and Cohen (2014), using different indicators, studied the impact of macrolevel economic conditions on women's likelihood to divorce. Fisher and Liefbroer (2006) analyzed the effect of consumers' confidence in the Netherlands between 1972 and 1996, and found that when consumer confidence is higher, the risk of divorce is lower. Cohen (2014), instead, using state-level unemployment and foreclosure rates from 2008 to 2011, found non-significant effects for statelevel unemployment, and a positive association between foreclosure rates and divorce, but this was no longer significant when state fixed effects were included. Solaz et al. (2020), analyzing the individual divorce risk in five European countries, found non-consistent effects, as the pattern varies across countries. They found a positive effect of unemployment rates on divorce for France and Italy, negative in Belgium, and non-significant in Germany and Finland.

Most studies on the economic context focus on the change in local employment opportunities. They therefore analyze unemployment rates. Nevertheless, it is crucial to also consider the quality of local employment opportunities within a given geographic locality, which is not reflected in the unemployment rate. As a matter of fact, employment instability is not solely based on whether individuals can access formal employment; it is also based on whether accessible employment is stable (Bausman & Goe, 2004; Cabrales & Hopenhayn, 1997). Areas with low unemployment rates may be characterized by a high share of time-limited job opportunities, which may influence the dissolution risk. Nevertheless, the association between the amount of timelimited jobs and union dissolution is understudied.

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

2.7 Employment context, individual position, and changes over time

It is crucial to take into account is that context and individual position interact with each other, and economic downturns may impact differently on individuals with different, employment status, and gender (Clark et al., 2010; Oesch & Lipps, 2013; Schneider & Hastings, 2015).

The economic context may influence how employment instability is perceived at the individual level. On the one hand, rising unemployment rates can be interpreted as a sign that there is a higher risk of job loss or of not being able to re-enter the labor market in the near future, thus increasing uncertainty about economic prospects among both the employed and the unemployed. On the other, the diffusion of unemployment might make joblessness more acceptable (Comolli, 2021; Solaz et al., 2020). Oesch and Lipps (2013), studying the impact of unemployment on subjective well-being, hypothesized that, with higher levels of unemployment, stigma and social disapproval for the unemployed would be lower, and that the unemployment experience would be less stressful. Nevertheless, their results revealed that higher levels of regional unemployment do not moderate the psychological cost of individual unemployment. On the contrary, Oesch and Lipps found evidence that the negative information that high unemployment rates provide unemployed workers in regard to their labor-market prospects, amplify their negative feelings (Oesch & Lipps, 2013).

Moreover, Amato & Beattie (2010) and Fischer & Liefbroer (2006) suggested that the association between economic conditions and union dissolution may have changed over time, because the cost of divorce has substantially changed across time periods. Fischer and Liefbroer (2006), found evidence for *the relational stress hypothesis* for the period 1972 and 1996. They explained this result by arguing that, because divorce had become a widespread phenomenon in the Netherlands, it was less costly both economically and socially and, therefore, the relational stress was predominant. By contrast, Amato and Beattie (2010) found weak evidence for the relational stress hypothesis for the period before 1985, and strong evidence for the cost of divorce perspective in the period between 1985 to 2005. They suggested that in the latter period divorce became much more costly in the USA due to the rising costs of life, medical care, and standard of living, and therefore, in times of poor employment prospects the *cost of divorce hypothesis* became predominant.

3. Cultural and institutional context

Besides economic conditions, in order to understand the relation between employment instability and union dissolution, it is crucial also to consider its social, cultural and institutional environment. Indeed, the strength of the proposed relationship, or the importance of certain predictors, may vary according to the wider societal context (Kalmijn, 2007; Marsh & Alvaro, 1990; Wagner & Weiss, 2006). Sociology assumes that individuals are embedded in their social context, which helps them to act meaningfully despite the uncertainty of the situation (Beckert, 1996). The social context encompasses all forms of economic opportunities and constraints, social and cultural norms, policies, and power relations, inhibiting or facilitating the choices of individuals, and making their actions somehow predictable. Experience and individual attitudes towards both employment instability and union dissolution may vary considerably according to the societal context. For instance, women may or may not perceive employment instability depending on the institutionalization of women's participation in the labor market, norms on the division of domestic work, and the presence of policies to reconcile family and work (Cooke et al., 2013; Naldini & Saraceno, 2011). Likewise, employment instability is not necessarily stressful in contexts of flexible labor markets with an ample availability of jobs, or extensive social security cushions (Mai, 2017). Finally, the ease of the actual
uptake of divorce may differ according to moral and cultural norms attached to union dissolution in the society, and how much divorce costs monetarily and socially (Todesco, 2008). Several authors have already emphasized the importance of various cultural and institutional macro-factors – the level of modernization, secularization, gender norms, and the type of policies and welfare measures – which are useful to explain differences in separation trends among countries or regions, as well as differences over time and between men and women within countries (Kalmijn, 2007, 2010; Wagner & Weiss, 2006).

In this section are reviewed the main literature on the debate concerning the social, cultural, and institutional factors which may influence the relation between employment instability and union dissolution.

3.1 Gender culture

The gender culture comprises a set of beliefs, norms, and social expectations defining masculinity and femininity in a given society (Connell 2010; Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021). It defines standards and expectations about men's and women's social roles, which stem from commonly held beliefs in the community, within a range that defines a particular society, culture, and community at that point in time (EIGE, 2020). Generally, couples tend to 'do gender', that is, to reproduce their expected gender social role (West and Zimmerman 1987).

The gender culture is said to shape patterns of social recognition and social reinforcement which contributes in making romantic relationships successful (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; Lamont 2014, 2020; West and Zimmerman 1987). When individuals and couples do not succeed in doing gender according to social expectations, this leads to social confusion, sanctions, and stigmatization (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; West and Zimmerman 1987). Gender norms are constructed at a societal level, and thus conceptually distinct from individuals' gender attitudes, which vary across individuals (Greenstein 1995; Kalmijn, De

Graaf, & Poortman 2004). It follows that, in conservative gender cultures, even couples with more gender-egalitarian attitudes may suffer stress from violating gender norms (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; West and Zimmerman 1987).

Indeed, gender theories agree that the role played by women's and men's labor-market performance in the prediction of divorce is closely dependent on the gender culture in a given society, and in which phase of the 'gender revolution' it is situated [section 1.4]. The gender culture shapes the symbolic value associated with the employment instability of individuals in romantic relationships. In turn, couples' employment instability, and the symbolic value associated with those, shape relationship success (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; Killewald, 2016). Gonalons-Pons and Gangl (2021), defined as gender social stress mechanism, the process through which social pressures reinforce gender culture and norms, inflicting stress on gender-non-conforming couples that can deteriorate romantic relationships and lead to separations. The authors propose gender social stress as a mechanism that moderates the relationship between women and men income and employment status with divorce or separation. In contexts where the gender culture mainly supports the malebreadwinner model, i.e. women are expected to be mainly responsible for care and housekeeping and men for providing income, couples conforming with their expected gender roles are more likely to have a successful relationship. By contrast, women's participation in the labor market, and men's poor economic performance, being in normative conflict with gender norms of behavior, can exacerbate discord in the couple and lead to a higher risk of separation (Killewald, 2016; Vignoli et al., 2018). Nevertheless, in contexts where the dualearner model is the most widespread, and it is culturally expected that both women and men contribute to the household income, as well as to family and domestic responsibilities, both women and men employment instability are likely to generate stress in the couple (Di Nallo et al., 2012; Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003). However, with this cultural setting, being jobless does not reflect as badly on the husband social role, but it is an eventuality of life which can be equally

experienced by men or women. Thus, in these contexts, the stress generated from his employment instability, and the related risk of dissolution should be lower.

Thus, whether empirical studies find a positive or negative association between women's employment instability and union dissolution, and the magnitude of the negative impact of men poor economic performance and union dissolution, may depend on the extent to which the traditional division of labor is supported by the dominant gender culture in the country (Di Nallo et al., 2012; Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Oppenheimer, 1994; Solaz et al., 2020; Vignoli et al., 2018). Despite many authors (e.g. Cooke, 2006; Di Nallo et al., 2012; Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Killewald, 2016; Solaz et al., 2020; Vignoli et al., 2018) support the subsistence of the gender social stress mechanism (or gender institution perspective [section 2.2].), to the best of my knowledge, only a recent study (i.e. Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021) partly tested it empirically. Interestingly, in conformity with the social stress mechanism, Gonalons-Pons and Gangl (2021), found that men's unemployment is associated with higher risk of couple separation in countries where the male-breadwinner model is strongly embedded in social and cultural values, that is, where a substantial share of the population believes breadwinning is men's primary role.

3.2 Welfare provisions for work/family balance

Dynamics among women's increased labor-force participation, men's sharing of household work, and union dissolution, may depend on the social policy context. International comparative research has amply demonstrated that institutional factors influence the amount of time that men and women spend on paid work and housework (Cho, 2014; Geist, 2005; Mathieu, 2016; van der Lippe et al., 2011).

Inspired by the influential work conducted by Esping-Andersen (Esping-Andersen, 1990, 1999), the comparative literature on social policies of the 1990s'

and early 2000s' focused on identifying different welfare regimes using the concept of 'decommodification', which refers to the degree of independence of individuals from the market due to welfare state provisions. Nevertheless, welfare state regimes represent specific models of gender relationships, shared ideology, and opportunity structures (Geist 2005). Thus, feminist scholars have introduced the concept of defamilialization as a parallel to decommodification, arguing that dependence on the family or the breadwinner is as problematic as dependence on the labor market (Cho, 2014; Mathieu, 2016). Defamilialization, also called 'demotherization' (Mathieu, 2016), can be used to assess the extent to which welfare states facilitate women's (and especially mothers') autonomy to participate in the labor market, and their freedom from family dependency (Lister, 1997). Undertaking paid work requires a certain degree of relief from care responsibilities, which can be achieved through the externalization of care work either with state- or market-provided services, or indeed within the family by tasking men with care and domestic responsibilities.

The welfare state may encourage women to enter paid employment by providing services and policies that help them combine work and family responsibilities like, for instance, childcare, elderly care, paid leave, cash for care use, and so on. But they may also promote gender egalitarianism in the society and within the family by inducing couples to adopt more gender symmetric arrangements. Men are encouraged to play a greater role in caring by, for instance, the provision of paid paternity leave or father-specific parental leave (Cho, 2014; Ciccia & Verloo, 2012; Esping-Andersen & Billari, 2015; van der Lippe et al., 2011). Leave regulations not only give parents entitlement to spend time with their children; they also create norms about good motherhood and fatherhood, and as such contribute to transforming the social construction of 'normal' gender roles (Leira & Saraceno, 2002). Finally, the welfare state may create a framework that is generally more conducive to specific arrangements of paid and unpaid work, for instance, by implementing policies to remove barriers to women's employment, or by promoting an educational curriculum with an

emphasis on gender equality which may lead to high levels of progressive gender ideology (Geist, 2005).

Results reported by comparative studies indicate that greater policy support for equality reduces and may even reverse the relative divorce risk associated with a wife's employment (Blossfeld & Müller, 2002; Cooke et al., 2013; Lappegård et al., 2020; Morosow et al., 2020). However, such policies are likely to emerge only where the change in women's roles is already quite advanced and recognized within the family and in the society (Esping-Andersen and Billari, 2015). The issue of work/family reconciliation was introduced into public debate at the European level already in the early 1990s through directives, recommendations and guidelines - like the recommendations of the European Community on childcare services (1992), and parental leave (1996), and the European Employment Strategy (ESS) introduced by the Amsterdam Treaty (1997) – with the clear goals of equal opportunities for men and women in the labor market, and the full activity of all the working-age population. Conciliation policies, therefore, became an integral part of the European agenda, although there are still considerable differences among European countries in their effective development and take-up (Naldini & Saraceno, 2008, 2011).

3.3 Social protection from unemployment

Welfare provisions dealing with job security may as well influence the relation between employment instability and union dissolution since they may attenuate the severity of joblessness and time-limited work, and leverage feelings of uncertainty perceived by individuals. Factors like the presence and extent of unemployment benefits, active labor-market policies, and vocational training, may thus be of importance (Biegert, 2019; Mai, 2017).

Unemployment benefits buffer income reduction resulting from involuntary job loss, giving workers more time for job searches. Benefits may vary considerably in terms of duration and amount paid, and are often targeted on certain categories of workers, usually excluding the most precarious types of contract. To make unemployment benefits more effective, economic transfers are frequently accompanied by additional measures like active labor-market policies and vocational training. Active labor-market policies comprise publicly funded programs such as job search assistance, public sector job creation, job placement services, and subsidized employment, designed to facilitate workers' entry or reentry into the full-time labor force (Mai, 2017; Nativel, 2002). Vocational training, instead, enhances the skills and knowledge required for a particular job function, and thus helps prepare workers for decent jobs and keeps their skills updated in an age of rapid technological change (Kalleberg, 2012; Mai, 2017).

As part of the European Employment Strategy (ESS, 1997), the European Commission promoted the practice of combining flexibilization of employment contracts, unemployment benefits, and active labor-market policies in order to preserve Europe's competitive edge and social model in a globalized world (Boeri et al., 2012; Burroni & Keune, 2011). This model has been called 'flexicurity' defined as "a policy strategy that attempts, synchronically and in a deliberate way, to enhance the flexibility of labor markets, work organization and labor relations on the one hand, and to enhance security – employment and social security – notably for weaker groups in and outside the labor market, on the other hand" (Burroni & Keune, 2011; Wilthagen & Tros, 2004). Thus, flexicurity includes 'flexible contracts' and 'adequate unemployment benefits' coupled with a strong emphasis on active labor-market policies – that is, less rigid employment protection legislation combined with greater expenditure on unemployment benefits and active labor market policies per unemployed (Boeri et al., 2012; Cantillon, 2011). Generally, throughout Europe, unemployment benefit systems have seen modifications of the enforcement rules which increase the scope and entitlement of the schemes; but modest changes have occurred in statutory replacement rates and in the maximum duration of benefits. Some countries continue to protect jobs more than the unemployed, while others concentrate on providing support to the unemployed rather than protecting jobs (Boeri et al., 2012). Some European countries, however, lag behind in implementing flexicurity strategies and have disproportionally increased employment flexibility with respect to unemployment schemes, giving rise to so-called 'flex-insecurity' (Sacchi, 2013).

The level of flexicurity in a country, and the presence, effectiveness, and coverage of unemployment benefits, active labor-market policies, and vocational training may alleviate the negative psychological and economic consequences of joblessness and time-limited work, and the related feelings of uncertainty, and thereby mitigate their impact on union dissolution.

3.4 Social stigmatization, educational expansion, and secularization

It is important to mention that other societal-specific cultural traits may indirectly shape the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution, influencing the way union dissolution is conceived. First, whether marital instability converts into actual divorce depends partly on how much divorce costs monetarily and socially. In section 1.2, it was pointed out that the change in expectations concerning marriage has led to the spread of separations and divorces. However, as several authors (e.g. Amato & Booth, 1991; Goode, 1993; Todesco, 2008) maintain, the increase in separations and divorces has, in turn, partly changed the expectations placed in marriage. As marital break-up becomes more common and widespread in society, it is increasingly considered to be an 'eventuality' of the life cycle without any stigmatization. Thus, individuals tend to adopt more liberal attitudes towards divorce when they experience it, know that they might experience it, or when someone in their social network experiences it. This mechanism has been confirmed in social psychology by the theory of cognitive dissonance (Festinger, 1957), which states that individuals tend to maintain a certain coherence between the value system and behaviors. Dissonances between these spheres are experienced as disturbing, and tend to be reduced either by modifying behaviors or by introducing new elements into the value system which allow the behavior in question to be accepted. Therefore, as a behavior previously considered deviant becomes widespread in the society, its social acceptance increases (Amato & Booth, 1991; Todesco, 2008). When divorce rates are high, at least someone in each individual social network is likely to have experienced a divorce, so that members of that social network are more inclined to accept divorce, or at least, less likely to stigmatize those who divorce. Moreover, from an economic point of view, as social acceptability increases, the economic cost of divorce diminishes, contributing to the spread of the phenomenon. Therefore, when the divorce are lower, and individuals wanting to divorce do not face high social and economic barriers. By contrast, in low-divorce contexts, the economic and social costs of divorce are higher and it may be harder for individuals to divorce (Goode, 1962).

Generally, new social behaviors and trends first emerge in specific social groups defined in sociology as 'trendsetters' or 'prior adopters'; only later, and in certain circumstances, they gradually spread to others (Rogers, 1962). According to the influential work by Goode (1962, 1993), prior adopters of divorce correspond to the most modern and highly educated couples, which have the cultural and economic means to afford a divorce. Only in a second phase, as the social acceptability of divorce increases, the relationship between social status and divorce become less significant or even the reverse (Harkonen & Dronkers, 2006; Salvini & Vignoli, 2011; Todesco, 2012). Therefore, at the macro level, the expansion of education may at first have contributed to the increase in divorce. However, according to Goode's theory, with the growing frequency of divorce, this association may weaken, disappear, or even change direction. In many countries, it has already been observed a change in the educational gradient of divorce, which became more common among the lowest

educated fraction of the population (Harkonen & Dronkers, 2006). [The association between education and divorce is further explained in section 4.2.]

Finally, another major societal factor contributing to the spread of divorce is secularization, which is a process of disengagement of society from religion, which includes the separation of religion from political institutions, but also from the social sphere, so that religion is confined to the sphere of private life (Arendt, 1963; Shiner, 1967). Secularization leads to a gradual generational rejection of religion precepts, which come to be seen as limits to individual freedom (Lesthaeghe, 2014; Wuthnow, 1976), and to a gradual loss of religion's power of control over marriage (Tschannen, 1991). Progressively, the dissolution of a marriage is no longer assessed according to moral norms, but to rational and instrumental ones, which reduce the symbolic value of marriage and thus play an important role in the acceptance and spread of marital disruption. Religious precepts and dogmas, indeed, may directly deter individuals from dissolving their unions. However, at the societal level, they may also act indirectly by shaping social judgement and ideological factors (Lyngstad and Jalovaara 2010; Vignoli and Salvini 2014). Therefore, more secularized societies ease divorce uptake.

4. Correlates of divorce

Drawing on the above-outlined theories, this section presents some of the most common correlates of divorce and describes the main mechanisms through which they act.

4.1 Age, period, and cohort

Age, period, and cohort are fundamental dimensions in the explanation of divorce risk. Here 'age' refers to age at marriage, 'period' is related to calendar time, while 'cohort' denotes what is commonly termed 'generation'.

Age at marriage is associated with divorce risk: specifically, early age at marriage is consistently found to be a determinant of marital disruption (Amato, 2010; T. Lyngstad & Jalovaara, 2010). This association has been explained by younger people's short search on the marriage market, which may result in a relatively poor match, the immaturity of the choice, and the greater number of alternatives experienced by young people. Moreover, research suggests that the association can be partly explained by individual characteristics of persons experiencing early marriage, such as parental divorce and low educational attainment (Amato, 2010; T. Lyngstad & Jalovaara, 2010).

Calendar time is also relevant for the prediction of divorce risk, because certain events related to specific historical periods have an impact on divorce rates and influence several generations at the same time. For instance, although it is known that modifications to legal provisions for divorce are usually simply a reflection of ongoing social and economic changes (Matysiak et al., 2014), the legalization of divorce, and the gradual simplification of divorce procedures – like the introduction of divorce by mutual consent, or unilateral divorce – partly accounts for the increase in divorce rates (De Rose & Di Cesare, 2003; Friedberg, 1998; González & Viitanen, 2009; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009).

Changes in trends from one cohort to another are instead related to shifts in cultural and educational values between generations. As stated by the SDT and ideational shift theory (Lesthaeghe 2014; Preston 1986), the shift in values promoting the diffusion of new family trends and relationship patterns occurs in a dynamic process of cohort succession. As a matter of fact, younger cohorts are consistently found to have a greater divorce risk (Bernardi & Martínez-Pastor, 2011; Ono, 1999; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009).

4.2 Education

A considerable amount of research has focused on the role of education in the explanation of divorce patterns; however, the findings on that role are controversial (Boertien & Härkönen, 2018; Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2016; Salvini & Vignoli, 2011).

Within a 'Second Demographic Transition' framework, divorce should at first be particularly evident among better-educated people due to their greater orientation towards autonomy and a career, and more generally, post-modern values. Moreover, since highly-educated people usually reject traditional institutions and religion, marital dissolution should be an easier choice for them (Lesthaeghe, 1998; Lesthaeghe, 2010). Furthermore, from an economic point of view, education has been proved to be a powerful proxy for labor-market prospects and earnings. Hence, highly-educated couples should be more prepared to face the economic costs of divorce, e.g. legal expenses, the costs of moving into a new home and starting a new life. Moreover, considering the gender dimension, highly-educated women should have a higher level of economic independence and lower investment in family-oriented skills; factors which reduce their gain from marriage (Becker et al., 1977).

Several recent studies, however, have found evidence that higher education is beneficial to marriage and protects against divorce (Harkonen & Dronkers, 2006; Matysiak et al., 2014; Perelli-Harris et al., 2010; Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2015, 2016). Education may in fact be an indicator of marital attraction (Boertien & Härkönen, 2018) and provide non-economic benefits that enhance the quality of the marriage (Becker, Landes, and Michael 1977). Studies adopting the mating perspective maintain that increased female education has raised the standards for what constitutes a 'minimally suitable match', thereby generating higher-quality marriages which are less likely to dissolve (Oppenheimer 1988). Furthermore, for both partners, high education may correspond to more advanced cognitive and communication skills, and problem-solving ability. Finally, higher-educated couples generally show a higher level of gender egalitarianism in the domestic sphere, which according to recent developments of socio-demographic theories (Goldscheider et al., 2015), should lead to greater marital satisfaction and stability (Cooke, 2006; Oláh & Gahler, 2014).

Empirical studies have found evidence for both positive and negative relations between education and divorce in different countries and historical periods. As pointed out in the previous section [see section 3.1], it has been concluded that the educational gradient of divorce is closely dependent on wider societal factors (Goode, 1962, 1993; Harkonen & Dronkers, 2006; Matysiak et al., 2014; Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2016).

4.3 Parental background

It has been observed that family background, including the parents' marital history and their education, is strongly associated with their offspring's separation and divorce risk.

In regard to the intergenerational transmission of divorce, Amato (1996) found that parental divorce affects three types of offspring outcomes: life course and socioeconomic variables like educational level or early marriage; the offspring's attitudes toward divorce; and the offspring's problematic interpersonal behavior, which may in turn increase their divorce risk (Amato, 1996). In particular, it has been shown that the offspring of divorced parents tend to have a conception of marriage as an ending experience, and evaluate divorce less negatively than persons who have grown up in families with continuously married parents. Observing their parents' divorce, children may have learnt first-hand that divorce can be a rational solution to a problematic marriage (Amato, 1996; Amato & Booth, 1991).

Regarding parental education, research generally agrees on the positive association between the mother's and father's level of schooling and their offspring's divorce risk. There seems to be a link between the parents' level of education and their acceptance of divorce, with highly-educated parents being generally more inclined to accept their offspring's choice of divorce. This association is said to be related to the higher degree of post-modern and secularized values of highly-educated persons (Lyngstad, 2006). When parents are in favor, or at least not against, divorce, it is easier for their offspring to take this decision when trapped in a bad marriage. Moreover, parental education has been shown to be related to other family-related behaviors, including mate selection, cohabitation decisions, and early marriage, which in turn are related to a higher divorce risk (Engelhardt et al., 2002; Todesco, 2012).

However, just as the association between individual education and divorce has been observed to change over time depending on the social acceptability and diffusion of divorce, so the effects of parental education and the intergenerational transmission of divorce have been found to switch from positive to nonsignificant as divorce becomes socially institutionalized (Harkonen & Dronkers, 2006).

4.4 Pre-marital cohabitation

The influence of pre-marital cohabitation on the divorce risk is in part counterintuitive. In theory, cohabitation before marriage should lead to a lower subsequent risk of divorce since the partners gain information about each other and the union first, and only unions with good prospects are converted into marriages (Lyngstad and Jalovaara 2010). It should follow that marriage without prior cohabitation increases the risk of a relatively poor match more likely to dissolve. However, empirical research finds the opposite effect: on average, couples who first chose to cohabit generally display a higher propensity to dissolve their marriage compared to those who marry without prior cohabitation (DeMaris & MacDonald, 1993; Teachman et al., 1991). The common explanation for this finding concerns unobserved characteristics of individuals which select them into pre-marital cohabitation. Those individuals who choose to cohabit before marriage are usually more inclined towards secularized values which make them more likely to dissolve their marriage, while those who marry directly are likely to have a strong attachment to religious or conservative family values which may act as a barrier to divorce (Axinn & Thornton, 1992; Impicciatore & Billari, 2012; Lillard et al., 1995; Thornton et al., 1992).

4.5 Religion

Numerous studies at the micro-level have demonstrated the importance of religion for explanation of a variety of demographic behaviors (Lehrer & Chiswick, 1993; Thornton et al., 1992; Trovato, 1994). People who are church members are more likely to marry, to have a greater number of children, and to be less likely to divorce than their non-religious counterparts (Kalmijn, 2007; Thornton et al., 1992).

Religious precepts and dogmas may directly deter individuals from dissolving their unions; but they may also act indirectly, shaping social judgement and ideological factors (Lyngstad and Jalovaara 2010; Vignoli and Salvini 2014). Generally, research agrees that divorce risk is lower for persons who are strongly religious.

Recent research has found no strong or systematic differences among religious groups in contemporary times. However, religious homogamy seems to reduce divorce risk, even if one of the spouses is a convert to the partner's religion. Conversely, partners devoted to different religions have been shown to experience more conflicts, especially if the two denominations tend to embrace incompatible social values (Kalmijn et al., 2005; Lehrer & Chiswick, 1993).

Besides actual religious belief or practice, Western divorce research often measures non-religiosity in terms of what have been called 'secularized behaviors' – such as cohabitating without being married, or marrying with the

civil rather than the religious wedding ceremony – which have been repeatedly associated with a higher risk of dissolution (Impicciatore & Billari, 2012; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009).

4.6 Children

Research has usually found that having children reduces the risk of separation. Indeed, the presence of children indicates an investment in union-specific capital and increases the costs of divorce (Becker, Landes and Michael 1977; Wagner, 1997). It has been suggested that there may also be a selection effect, since spouses who have little trust in the continuity of their relationship should be less prone to have children (T. Lyngstad & Jalovaara, 2010).

However, children also raise new challenges for couples, and they may reduce relationship time and increase stress and conflict. Moreover, marriage or cohabitation could also be a 'solution' for unexpected pregnancies and therefore be built on unstable relationships which are likely to dissolve.

Nonetheless, empirical research generally confirms that having children increases relationship commitment, although the effect has been found to vary according to the number and the age of children, and to be country-specific. For instance, in the United States and Denmark, evidence has shown that having children decreases divorce risk, but when the number of children exceeds the usual low parity the risk of divorce increases (Svarer & Verner, 2008; Thornton, 1977), while in Italy and Spain, second or later births have been found to further reduce the risk of divorce (Bernardi & Martínez-Pastor, 2011; Coppola & Di Cesare, 2008; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009). This effect has been found to be stronger when the couple's children are very young, and it wanes as they grow older (Waite & Lillard, 1991). Finally, research distinguishes among children born within the union, out of wedlock, or from previous unions. These last have been found in many countries to actually increase the risk of union dissolution

(Diekmann & Engelhardt, 1999; Svarer & Verner, 2008; Waite & Lillard, 1991). However this is not the case for Italy, where children from a previous union do not inhibit marital disruption, but nor do they increase the risk as they do in other countries (Todesco, 2011).

5. Divorce and union dissolution

Most of the theories outlined in this chapter refer to separation and divorce defined as the dissolution of the marital contract. However, in Western societies, from the 1970s onwards, non-marital cohabitation began to spread, and gradually shifted from being a deviant phenomenon to a widespread and accepted behavior. Today it has become an increasingly popular living arrangement, conceived both as a pathway into marriage and as an alternative to it (Di Giulio et al., 2019; Manning, 2020; Perelli-Harris & Gassen, 2012). The increase of non-marital cohabitations has occurred in nearly every country in Europe. Nonetheless, the variation across countries remains remarkably wide, with a considerable propagation in northern and western Europe, and a later and smaller – but still significant – growth in southern and eastern European countries (Di Giulio et al., 2019; Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2015; Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008).

Indeed, married and cohabiting couples have fundamentally similar features. Members of both types of union share a household, usually resulting in economies of scale, and present themselves socially as a couple (Smock, 2000). It follows that many of the implications of a couple's breakup are virtually the same, since it is likely to be important in terms of economic well-being, emotional health, subsequent family formation, and responsibilities for children (Manning 2020). For this reason, recent research on family dynamics increasingly includes cohabiting couples, and studies union dissolution rather than just formal divorce. For many countries, this choice is necessary because younger people tend to cohabit rather than marry, and married couples are increasingly selected (Liefbroer & Dourleijn, 2006; Manning, 2020). This research thesis follows this stream of research, and considers dissolutions of both cohabitations and marriages. Therefore, some specific features of the two forms of union need to be taken into account.

5.1 Marriage, cohabitation, and union dissolution

Cohabitation is a complex phenomenon and may have different meanings for individuals. The extant research distinguishes among different configurations of cohabitation, i.e. an "alternative to being single", a "prelude to marriage," or "indistinguishable from marriage" (Heuveline & Timberlake, 2004; Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008). Such configurations may be relevant to determining the couple's risk of separation. However, the differences may be unclear even for the individuals involved in the relationship. Hence this information is usually unavailable for scientific research.

What is generally recognized by research is that, although cohabitation has become more common, marriage and cohabitation continue to have distinct meanings, with marriage representing a stronger level of commitment, and cohabitation a more flexible living arrangement requiring a lower level of engagement. As such, cohabiters have been shown to experience much higher rates of dissolution, even if the partners have children in common (Andersson & Philipov, 2002; Kelly Raley & Wildsmith, 2004; Lyngstad & Jalovaara, 2010). Nonetheless, research suggests that the association of non-marital cohabitations with an increased risk of union dissolution depends in part on the context and historical time, since cohabiters have been observed to experience a higher risk of union dissolution only in societies in which cohabitation is a small minority or a large majority phenomenon (Liefbroer & Dourleijn, 2006). If very few people cohabit, they probably constitute a very selected part of the total population which rejects the institution of marriage and, as such, may be more inclined to separate. However, as cohabitation becomes more common, cohabiters are less selected, and dissolution rates become similar. On the other side, when cohabitation becomes the practice of the large majority of a population, the minority who still marry may likewise constitute a selective subpopulation, which may, for instance, be constituted by religious fundamentalists who reject separation (Liefbroer & Dourleijn, 2006).

5.2 Selection into marriage and cohabitation: legal and social aspects

Cohabitation and marriage differ in how they are conceived and recognized by the law. They confer different rights and duties, which may influence individual choices of whether to cohabit or marry (Manning, 2020; Perelli-Harris & Gassen, 2012; Todesco, 2008).

Until the late twentieth century, the state or the church regulated romantic relationships through official marriage, while unmarried couples were outside legal jurisdiction. In certain countries, non-marital cohabitation was even prohibited by the law, and it was considered a crime for a man and a woman to live together without being married. For instance, this was the case in Italy until 1968, in parts of Germany until 1970, and in Norway until 1972, although, clearly, most of the laws were no longer being enforced at that time (Perelli-Harris & Gassen, 2012). From then on, with different approaches, national governments began to establish new laws and policies to regulate the relationship between unmarried partners – such as expanding cohabitors' rights, or instituting registration systems to record civil unions – which are still evolving.

In most Western legislations, married partners are granted special rights in several life domains: for instance, the management of family income, health and

assistance, reproductive rights, adoption, taxes, insurance, residence acquisition, citizenship permit, inheritance, and pension. In some countries, such rights have gradually been extended to cohabiting couples, usually with the requirement to satisfy certain conditions, like being officially registered, or being in the cohabiting union for a minimum required time (Perelli-Harris & Gassen, 2012).

However, it should be pointed out that couples often cohabit without marrying specifically because they reject the legal institution of marriage and want to live together outside its jurisdiction. Nonetheless, one reason for rejecting that institution may be precisely to avoid the legal constraints of marriage in the eventuality of a divorce (Perelli-Harris et al., 2014, 2016). Although, ideally, people do not plan to end a relationship when they enter into it, in certain circumstances policies regulating dissolution and divorce have been found to be influential on the decision whether to cohabit or marry (Perelli-Harris et al., 2016). Post-divorce legislation may comprise laws regulating the division of property and household goods, the duty and right to pay or receive alimony, the responsibility to pay each other's debts, the right to remain in rented accommodation, and, if there are children, their custody (Perelli-Harris & Gassen, 2012). Given the specific regulations on such matters in a society, and the individual position (i.e. the presence of children, economic conditions, a foreign citizenship, etc.), some partners may decide to marry to protect themselves in the case of union dissolution, while others may take advantage of the lack of regulation to avoid a lengthy and costly bureaucratic procedure in the eventuality that their union ends.

Besides legal considerations, individuals may choose cohabitation over marriage to avoid cultural expectations concerning marriage. In contexts where cohabitation is still a marginal phenomenon, cohabiting couples are often a selfselected group seeking to break the traditional view of marriage, including its gendered division of family labor and childcare (Arosio, 2017; Manning, 2020; Perelli-Harris et al., 2014). For instance, research has shown that cohabiting fathers feel that their role is substantially different from that of married fathers, and are more involved in childcare (Meggiolaro & Ongaro, 2019; Ono & Yeilding, 2009). Moreover, in traditional contexts, cohabiting couples are often found to have weaker relations with their respective families of origin (Castiglioni & Dalla-Zuanna, 2014), and to live at a greater geographical distance (Pirani, 2016).

5.3 Marriage and cohabitation under conditions of uncertainty

A crucial aspect of selection into marriage and cohabitation is the fact that the choice may also depend on the employment positions of the partners (Barbieri et al., 2015; Kreyenfeld et al., 2012).

Indeed, research has shown that because marriage is a resource-intensive and long-term commitment, it is often delayed or eluded when people face employment instability (e.g. Oppenheimer, 1988; Vignoli et al., 2016). Already in 1988, Oppenheimer proposed the uncertainty hypothesis, which focuses specifically on the role of men's unstable careers and suggests that men's nonstandard and temporary employment, unemployment, or low-status jobs, engender uncertainty. Uncertainty raises the question as to whether the potential husband will be able to provide in the future and the type of life he will lead. Since work structures the lifestyle of persons, with an uncertain working career it is difficult to predict how the marriage will be. Therefore, men's employment uncertainty impedes assortative mating and makes them less attractive partners, resulting in the postponement or renunciation of marriage (Kalmijn, 2011; Oppenheimer, 1988, 1994; Oppenheimer et al., 1997). Moreover, employment uncertainty very often corresponds to insecure financial resources, which may obstruct the realization of the desired wedding ceremony (Vignoli et al., 2016). Virtually all micro-level studies in Europe and the USA confirm the hypothesis that low earnings and unemployment decrease men's probability of marrying (Blossfeld & Müller, 2002; Kalmijn, 2007; Kalmijn & Luijkx, 2005; Oppenheimer et al., 1997). This mechanism, in the current age of uncertainty (Bauman, 2007), in principle could be extended also to women's employment uncertainty, although, as discussed, it may depend on normative expectations related to gender roles, and generally to the level of gender equality in a given country.

Several studies (e.g. Kalmijn, 2011; Vignoli et al., 2016) report empirical evidence that couples with unstable jobs and insecure financial resources, instead choose to cohabit. Various authors (e.g. Bauman, 2003; Hochschild, 2003; Manning, 2020; Mills et al., 2006), in fact, have argued that because cohabitation makes it possible to reduce costs and requires fairly low levels of commitment, it is a rational response to uncertainty. It is consequently a flexible living arrangement in a flexible labor-market environment. Therefore, when analyzing the impact of employment instability on union dissolution it is crucial to take account of the interrelation between these two processes, and to distinguish between married and cohabiting couples, because married couples with uncertain employment careers are probably a select group of people which value marriage or love highly.

Moreover, the spread of jobs with uncertain conditions is also considered to be a fundamental factor in the postponement of childbearing and the elimination of higher-parity births (Pailhé & Solaz, 2012; Vignoli et al., 2012, 2019). Employment uncertainty may in fact exert a negative income effect, which, combined with the lack of clear prospects about the future, is likely to inhibit the demand for children, or at least postpone the idea of children until economic conditions are more favorable. Offspring are also a key variable in divorce dynamics, with couples with children usually displaying a higher level of commitment and a lower tendency to divorce, at least as long as the children are young. It follows that employment instability may also have an indirect impact on divorce by hindering the demand for children.

57

To conclude, in order to have a correct interpretation of the impact of employment instability on union dissolution, it is essential to account for the possible interrelation of these processes (Baizán et al., 2003).

CHAPTER 2

Italian context

Underlined in the previous chapter was the importance of the socio-economic, cultural, and institutional context for full understanding of the relation between employment instability and union dissolution. Indeed, the strength of the relationship, or the importance of certain predictors, may vary according to the societal context (Beckert, 1996). Hence, this chapter provides an overview of the main features in the Italian context that characterize the relation between employment instability and union dissolution. In particular, described in section 1 are the primary aspects of union dissolution in Italy, i.e. its history, legal framework, and demographic trends. Thereafter, illustrated in section 2 are the main characteristics of the Italian labor market, with a focus on employment instability and religion, and reconciliation policies. Finally, presented in section 4 are previous findings on the relationship between employment status and union dissolution in Italy.

1. Union dissolution in Italy

The present research thesis focuses on union dissolution, a notion which comprises dissolutions of formal marriages but also of unmarried cohabitations. However, marriage is still a dominant institution in Italy (Rosina & Fraboni, 2004), and to understand the context of union dissolution it is important to examine the legislative and demographic development of legal separation and divorce, but also to briefly consider dynamics of family formation.

1.1 History and legal framework

Divorce was established in Italy only in 1970 with Law no. 898 of 1 December 1970, which was a few decades later than in most European countries, where laws regulating divorce had existed since the first half of the twentieth century or earlier (González & Viitanen, 2009). The introduction of divorce in Italy had been debated since the beginning of the twentieth century. However, the debate was interrupted first by World War I, and then by the advent of fascism and the Lateran Pacts of 1929, which included the fascist government's agreement to conform laws on marriage and divorce to those of the Catholic Church of Rome. After the Second World War, the debate on divorce was resumed. However, given the persistently strong influence of the Catholic Church and affiliated political parties, the introduction of divorce was still highly controversial both socially and politically. Indeed, in 1974, only four years after enactment of the divorce law, conservative and catholic parties called for a revocatory referendum, which had a fairly high participation rate of 87.7%, and resulted in 59.3% no, and 40.7% yes votes. Thus ratified was the desire of the Italian population to keep the divorce law in force (Scirè, 2007).

The law of 1970 granted divorce only if the 'fault' of one of the spouses was proved. In 1975, the year following the referendum, further legislation made it possible to request divorce simply on the basis of the permanent breakdown of the marriage, with the mutual consent of the partners (Ferro & Salvini, 2007; Todesco, 2008). In contrast with most Western countries where divorce law replaced the existing separation laws (Ferro & Salvini, 2007), in Italy the procedure leading to the dissolution of a marriage moved through two phases: first, legal separation, and only thereafter divorce, with a minimum time between the two provisions initially set at 5 years, reduced to 3 years in 1987 (Law no. 74/1987), and drastically shortened to 1 year in cases of judicial separation, or 6 months in cases of consensual separation in 2015, with a reform known as the 'short divorce law' (Law 107/2015). The difference between the two phases is that divorce marks the definitive cessation of the effects of the marriage and consequently allows the ex-spouses to contract a new marriage. Instead, with legal separation the parties are still married, and as such it might be permanent, might result in a divorce, or might be revoked. Further, Law no. 132/2014 enacted at the end of 2014 allowed the stipulation of out-of-court agreements (with a lawyer-assisted negotiation agreement or directly at the registry office), thereby drastically simplifying procedural requirements, and making the entire divorce process much faster and less burdensome (Istat, 2016b).

1.2 Demographic trends

Until the last couple of decades Italian marital stability seemed to be an exception in the European landscape. Besides being a late-comer in the introduction of divorce, dissolution rates have always been low in Italy compared to those in most developed countries (Sobotka & Toulemon, 2008). Figure 1 shows the crude divorce rate for a set of European countries. Among them, Italy presents the lowest rates, closely followed by Spain.

Despite remaining lower than in most European countries, separation and divorce rates in Italy grew considerably over time, while marriage rates decreased to such an extent that in 2016 the number of divorces reached almost

50% of the number of marriages celebrated in the same year (see Figures 2 and 3).



Figure 1: Evolution of crude divorce rates in a set of European countries¹

Figures 2 and 3 evidence that separation and divorce rates differ quite markedly from each other. Changes in divorce legislation, have, in fact, resulted in a strong discontinuity in divorce time-series. Examination of both the absolute values (Figure 2) and the refined divorce rate (Figure 3) shows a leap in 1987 as a result of the shortening by Law 74/1987 of the time elapsing between separation and divorce from 5 to 3 years, as well as a sharp increase in 2014, as a consequence of the introduction of Law 132/2014 and Law 107/2015, which further shortened the time between the two phases and simplified the whole procedure. Legal separation has undergone limited regulatory changes. It has therefore been more consistent over time and appears to be a more reliable indicator of dissolution trends in Italy (Ferro & Salvini, 2007). Moreover, legal separation is the first legal event marking the dissolution of a marriage, and it concerns also couples which will never conclude the procedure and convert it into divorce. Nevertheless, legal separation fails to capture all those marriages which are *de*

¹ Own elaboration of OECD data. Source: <u>http://www.oecd.org/social/family/database.htm</u>

facto dissolved but have not undergone legal procedures. Indeed, it only covers couples who were formally married, completely disregarding unmarried cohabitations, which are gradually gaining importance also as an alternative to marriage (Gabrielli & Hoem, 2010; Rosina & Fraboni, 2004).

Figure 2: Total number of marriages, separations, and divorces 1970-2018²

500000 100000 90000 80000 400000 Separations and Divorces 70000 60000 300000 Marriages 50000 40000 200000 30000 100000 20000 10000 0 0 1970 1974 1978 1982 1986 1990 1994 1998 2002 2006 2010 2014 2018 Year Separations Divorces ····· Marriages

Figure 3: Refined separation and divorce rates 1970-2018³



² Own elaboration of ISTAT data. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>

³ Number of separations and divorces per 1000 marriages. Own elaboration of ISTAT data. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>

The demographic characteristics of separating couples have evolved over time. During the first decade of the 2000s the modal duration of marriage at separation was relatively stable between 5 and 9 years. However, since 2012 it has shifted to 25+ (Istat, 2021b). The mean duration of the marriage at separation is now 17 years (Istat, 2021a). In the last two decades, the share of separations relative to long-term marriages has in fact doubled, while the share of those interrupted within the first five years of marriage has diminished (Istat, 2021a). This implies also considerable changes in the modal age at divorce. Whilst in 2000 the highest number of separations diminished for both husbands and wives in the 35-39 age group, in 2018 the modal age class moved to between 40 and 44 years old for wives, and between 45 and 49 years old for husbands (representing for both groups around 20% of the total) (Istat, 2021a).





Like other demographic events in Italy, trends in separation and divorce rates have always been characterized by a marked north/south divide. In general,

⁴ Number of legal separations per 1000 marriages. Own elaboration of ISTAT data. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>

separations are more common in the north, with the highest rates in Val d'Aosta and Liguria, and in some central regions, such as Lazio, while separations are still rare in southern regions, with the lowest levels in Calabria, Basilicata and Molise (Istat, 2021a). However, as can be seen in Figure 4, in the past decade the number of separations has increased drastically in southern regions as well, and regional differences are slowly converging.

1.3 Marriage and cohabitation

Family dynamics are often interconnected, and the rise of union dissolutions cannot be considered an independent phenomenon. To fully understand its development, it is necessary to briefly consider changes that have occurred in family formation practices in recent decades.

Unlike in northern and western European countries, marriage in Italy has for long maintained its centrality in family formation (Rosina & Fraboni, 2004). Divergences with other Western countries have been at times attributed to the low level of secularization and the strong role of the Catholic Church in Italy, but also to the strong ties between parents and children and the importance of parental approval rooted in Italian society (Castiglioni & Dalla Zuanna, 2009; Guetto et al., 2016; Reher, 1998; Rosina & Fraboni, 2004; Vignoli & Salvini, 2014). However, new patterns of family formations are emerging, with a tendency for couples to postpone or forgo marriage, and a growing number of unmarried cohabitations (Castiglioni & Dalla Zuanna, 2009; Guetto et al., 2016). Since the 1970s, the annual total number of marriages has gradually diminished from around 400,000 per year in the 1970s to less than 200,000 in 2018, reaching its minimum value in 2014 (see Figure 2). This decrease in the absolute number of marriages has been mainly due to a sharp decline in first marriages across generations (Istat, 2021b). Indeed, this generational drop is partly explained by the drastic change in population age structure due to the ongoing fertility decline, which has provoked an evident reduction in the population group usually experiencing first marriage (between 16 and 34 years old). However, net of structural changes, there is still a clear growing tendency to forgo first marriage (Istat, 2019a, 2021b).

A distinctive feature of the evolution of marriage is the considerable growth of weddings celebrated with a civil ceremony rather than a traditional religious one. The percentage of non-religious weddings fifty years ago was negligible, amounting to barely 2.3% in 1970. However, it has been gradually rising, and reached 50.1% in 2018 (Istat, 2021b). This percentage can be interpreted as an indicator of secularization, and presents marked territorial variability, representing 2 out of 3 marriages in the North, and around 1 out of 3 in the South (Istat, 2019a, 2021b). In Italy, opting for a civil rather than a religious wedding ceremony is a correlate of divorce (Vignoli & Ferro, 2009). This association has been mainly explained by selection, as less traditional individuals, who are more likely to get married with the civil ceremony, are also those more likely to divorce (Impicciatore & Billari, 2012). Therefore, as the frequency of civil marriage increases, individuals will be less selected into it, and the association may change, and not necessarily be linked to an increase in divorce in the future. Nevertheless, at present, the growth of civil with respect to religious marriages points to an advance in the secularization of society which may ease divorce uptake [see Chapter 1, sections 3.1, 4.5 and 5.1].

Furthermore, cohabitations (both non-marital and pre-marital), which for long have been considered a marginal phenomenon in Italy, are gradually gaining importance and are no longer negligible, in particular in the northern and central regions, and in urban areas (Castiglioni & Dalla Zuanna, 2009; Gabrielli & Hoem, 2010; Rosina & Fraboni, 2004). Indeed, in the past twenty years, non-marital unions have more than quintupled, rising from 1.7% of all cohabiting couples in 1997, to 9.6% in 2018 (Istat, 2021a). Non-marital cohabitations are increasingly accepted across generations as an alternative to marriage, even for childbearing, and to such an extent that, in 2018, almost one in three children

were born to unmarried parents (Istat, 2019a). Until 2016, there was no national legal regulation for unmarried co-resident couples in Italy. With Law No 76/2016, stable cohabitations, characterized by emotional ties and assistance between the two partners, were recognized with some civil effects, such as the legal regime of community property, alimony payments in case of need, and patrimonial rights (Ferrari, 2017). In line with the Second Demographic Transition theory, in Italy cohabitors are the most educated and innovative members of society (Guetto et al., 2016; Rosina & Fraboni, 2004). As such, they are more likely to Ie union dissolution than married individuals. Likewise, marriages preceded by pre-marital cohabitation are those more likely to end (Impicciatore & Billari, 2012; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009). Moreover, the choice of cohabitation over marriage is associated with several factors - such as the parents' education and whether they have experienced separation, own education, younger generations, and employment status (García Pereiro et al., 2014; Guetto et al., 2016; Rosina & Fraboni, 2004; Vignoli et al., 2016) - which are also correlates of union dissolution (Vignoli & Ferro, 2009).

2. The Italian labor market

2.1 Labor-market flexibilization

The Italian labor market used to be regulated by strong employment protection legislation and a rigid system of wage determination (Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013). The "Charter of Workers' Rights" (*Statuto dei Lavoratori*), instituted by Law 300/1970, established various forms of employment protection and restrictions on individual hiring and firing procedures, such as workers' right to claim unfair dismissal.

The reform process to introduce labor-market flexibilization began in the 1980s and led to the gradual liberalization of fixed-term jobs and progressively

introduced new flexible contractual forms, in both working time and duration (P. Barbieri & Scherer, 2009). The introduction of so-called 'work-and-training contracts' (1983–1984) was followed by a relaxation of the strict rules on fixed-term contracts (L.56/1987), which were subsequently made increasingly more convenient for firms so that they could compete with strategies of labor-cost reduction (L.451/1994; L.608/1996). The main steps in the process of labor-market deregulation/segmentation were taken in 1997 with the 'Treu Law', (L.196/1997), and the following 'Biagi Law' (L.30/2003), which introduced and revised several forms of non-permanent contract – for job-on-call, job sharing, part-time, apprenticeship, training, fixed-term and project-based work – characterized by lower wages, less bargaining power and lower levels of rights and social protection (P. Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Pirani & Salvini, 2015; Vignoli et al., 2016).

However, alongside these significant changes towards more flexibilization, legislation in regard to open-ended contracts for long remained substantially unaltered (Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013; Piore, 1980). The Italian reform process was thus called "targeted", "marginal", and "asymmetric" (Barbieri & Scherer, 2009; Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013), since it applied only to new jobs and affected only a fraction of the population. It thus engendered a substantial labor-market dualization, with a 'rigid' primary labor market, in which a core group of insiders – mainly adult men – had stable and secure jobs, and a residual 'flexible' secondary labor market where jobs were unstable and unemployment spells could be long-lasting, and where youths and women were over-represented (Boeri, Conde-Ruiz, and Galasso 2012; Dell'Aringa and Lucifora 2001; Garibaldi and Taddei 2013).

Following the economic crisis, which brought about a drastic increase in unemployment, especially among workers on precarious contracts, the "Fornero Law" of 2012 (L.92/2012), and the "Jobs Act" of 2015 (L.22/2015), currently in force, provided incentives for companies to adopt more stable employment contracts: for instance, contributions devolved to the employer if a time-limited

68

employment relationship was converted into a permanent one, and a compulsory contribution to be paid by the employer for a non-consensual interruption of an employment relationship (Giorgi, 2018). Moreover, the Jobs Act of 2015, in an attempt to reduce the dual structure of the labor market, introduced various measures aimed at the greater flexibilization of permanent employment contracts. It did so by implementing strategies such as the revision of work-insertion contracts to ease transitions into the labor market (apprenticeship contracts), and suppression of the right to work reinstatement in the event of unfair dismissal, which was replaced by monetary compensation increasing with seniority, accompanied by an expansion of unemployment insurance benefits and recipients (Boeri & Garibaldi, 2019). However, at present, such measures have only marginally achieved their purposes (Boeri & Garibaldi, 2019).

2.2 Social protection in the case of unemployment

As a protection from involuntary unemployment, the Italian social security system comprises different types of unemployment benefit schemes to compensate for the loss of earnings in proportion to previously earned income from work (Giorgi, 2018; INPS, 2020b).

Until 2012, benefits were characterized by a high degree of fragmentation and a low level of coverage, excluding numerous workers because they required at least two years of contributions, provided higher coverage for older workers, and in an international comparison, an ungenerous treatment (Giorgi, 2018). Following the economic crisis, in 2012 and 2015 the above-mentioned Law 92/2012 (the "Fornero Law"), and the Legislative Decree 22/2015 implementing the "Jobs Act" sought to increase the scheme's access and the degree of universality, and raised the levels of generosity of basic treatments (Giorgi, 2018).

The current Italian legislation, established by Law 22/2015, provides different types of unemployment benefits (INPS, 2020b). The main one is the New Social Insurance for Employment (NASpI), which consists of a monthly unemployment allowance paid on application by the person concerned. Its duration is equal to half of the number of weeks regularly worked in the past four years and the benefit is 75% of the average monthly salary taxable for social security purposes for the last four years. It is gradually reduced by 3% per month, starting from the fourth (INPS, 2020b). The second important group of schemes is the Earnings Top-up Fund (Cassa integrazione), which may be ordinary (ordinaria), extraordinary (straordinaria) (Law 148/2015), or take the form of a 'solidarity cheque' (assegno di solidarietà) (Law 74/2016). These schemes, and the related duration of the benefit, differ according to the sector that they cover (construction industry, big firms, or small and medium-size firms). Their role is to supplement or replace the wages of workers whose work has been suspended or reduced, or those who have been collective dismissed due to a company's difficulties caused by transient events not attributable to the company or its employees, including seasonal bad weather and temporary market crises (redundancies). The allowance amounts to 80% of the total remuneration that would have been due to the worker for the hours not worked, between zero hours and the contractual time limit (INPS 2020).

Compared to other OECD countries, benefit levels for recipients are fairly high (OECD, 2019). However, access to income support packages is relatively limited, since the existing schemes only address employees hired with a permanent employment contracts or certain fixed-term contracts, and self-employed and atypical workers with interrupted employment spells have greater difficult in accessing social protection (OECD, 2019). The consequence is strong protection against labor-market risks for a restricted group of 'insiders', which reinforces labor market dualization (Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013).

2.3 Labor-market trends

Since the early 1980s, Italy has been an economy with a high unemployment rate and a low employment rate, compared with those of other developed countries (Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013). During the period between 1995 and 2007 the unemployment rate fell substantially, in 2007 reaching the lowest level recorded in the last 20 years of the Italian history – 6.1%, with a long-term unemployment rate of less than 3% (Istat, 2018).

The liberalization of temporary and atypical contracts in the pre-crisis period had an important role in the observed reduction of unemployment levels by boosting hiring and job creation (Barbieri & Sestito, 2008).



Figure 5: Share of time-limited work 1985-2018⁵

Figure 5 shows the evolution of time-limited jobs in Italy as a percentage of total employment. The spread of flexible and temporary contractual forms in Italy has been one of the most rapid in Europe, and is above the OECD average (Vignoli et al., 2016). However, at their termination, most of those temporary contracts

⁵Share of temporary work as a % of total employment. Own elaboration of OECD data. Source: <u>https://data.oecd.org/emp/temporary-employment.htm</u>

have not been transformed into permanent ones, because in a segmented labor market like the Italian one, temporary work is often used by firms as a cheaper factor of production, taking advantage of the wide regulatory gap with respect to permanent contracts (Garibaldi & Taddei, 2013).

The Great Recession was accompanied by a sizable negative shock that strongly undermined Italy's labor-market performance, leading to alarmingly high levels of unemployment (Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis 2019; Marino and Nunziata 2017). The highest post-crisis peak in unemployment, of around 13%, was reached in 2014 and moderately recovered thereafter. However, in 2018, the unemployment rate was still very distant from pre-crisis levels, with a rate of 10.5%, and the long-term unemployment rate was 6.2% (Istat 2021a; Marino and Nunziata 2017). Indeed, the workers most affected by the crisis were those with temporary and non-standard work contracts who had not seen their contracts renewed and were not covered by social protection schemes (Garibaldi and Taddei 2013). The Great Recession therefore contributed to exacerbating dualization in the labor market, amplifying the existing inequalities between age groups (Adda & Trigari, 2016). The largest increase was recorded in youth unemployment, which rose by more than 20 percentage points from 2007 to 2014, reaching over 40%, and finally starting to decrease. In particular, young first-time job seekers were faced by a collective mechanism of exclusion mainly caused by the dual structure of the labor market. In fact, the duration of first-job search was found not to be influenced by individual characteristics like class of origin, level of education, and attendance on vocational training courses, while such characteristics did matter in the search for a new job after a job loss (Bernardi et al., 2000). By contrast, older individuals record a far more stable unemployment rate. The 55-64 age group is the only age group for which unemployment in 2016 was lower than the pre-crisis level (Istat, 2016a; Marino & Nunziata, 2017). As is apparent from Figure 6, southern regions have always been characterized by much higher levels of unemployment than northern ones, while smaller differences existed between central and northern regions. Before
the crisis, in the South, unemployment rates were three times higher than in the North (Marino & Nunziata, 2017). The recession slightly reduced this gap, but this convergence seems to be a result of poor performance by northern regions rather than improvement by southern regions (Marino and Nunziata 2017).



Figure 6: Unemployment rates by macro-regions 1977-2018⁶

An additional feature of the Italian labor market is the existence of a large number of irregular workers, i.e. workers without a regular employment contract complying with the fiscal rules and, therefore, not directly observable from companies, institutions and administrative sources (Istat, 2017). Indeed, the actual amount of undeclared workers is unknown; however, the Italian National Institute of Statistics (ISTAT) provides some estimates combining survey and administrative data. According to those estimates, in 2017 there were 3.7 million full-time non-regular workers, mainly employees (2.696 million). The irregularity rate, calculated as the share of non-regular workers in the total number of workers, in 2017 was about 15.5% (Istat, 2017). Higher rates of

⁶ Own elaboration of ISTAT data. The vertical line represents the beginning of the Great Recession in 2007. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>

irregular employment are again found in the 'outsider' segment of the labor market, i.e. young people, women, foreign citizens and irregular immigrants, and low-educated people. The sectors with the most irregular workers are agriculture, construction, hospitality, and catering (Istat, 2017). Moreover, 65% of irregular workers are found in southern regions, while in northern regions there is a substantial share of what is called 'grey' work, e.g. workers with contracts registered for fewer hours than they actually work and are paid for, and similar (De Gregorio & Giordano, 2015; European Commission, 2016; Istat, 2017).

2.4 Gender differences in labor market participation

The Italian labor market still displays striking gender differences in labor-market participation. Although the employment rate of women has been slowly approaching that of men, increasing by about 12% in the past 20 years, the difference between the male and female employment rates has remained sizeable, with a gap of about 20% (Istat, 2018). Furthermore, as shown by Figure 7, the reduction in the gender gap is also partly due to a progressive fall in the male employment rate following the Great Recession. Italian women still have one of the lowest labor-force participation rates in the OECD, even though the share of women in tertiary education has exceeded that of men (OECD, 2017).

Geographic differences in female labor-force participation are quite marked, and there seems to be no convergence path (Istat, 2018). Regional differences in female employment rates can be observed in Figure 8. The country's average employment rate of women aged 15-64 is currently 49.5% (Istat, 2021a). However, the average level in the North is almost double that in the South, with an aggregate employment rate of almost 60% in northern regions, ranging from 55.5% in Liguria and 64.8% in Trentino-Alto Adige (now Autonomous Provinces of Trento and Bolzano), 56% in central regions, ranging from 53.1% in Lazio and 60.5% in Tuscany, and 33% in southern regions, ranging from

29.1% in Sicily to 45.6% in Abruzzo (Istat, 2018). In 2018, Sicily and Campania were the two regions with the lowest female employment rates, respectively 29.1% and 29.4%, while Trentino-Alto Adige and Valle d'Aosta were those with the highest rates, respectively 64.8% and 64.1% (Istat, 2021a).



Figure 7: Employment rate by gender, 1977-2018⁷

Figure 8: Women employment rate by macro-region 1977-2018⁸



⁷ Own elaboration of ISTAT data. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>

⁸ Own elaboration of ISTAT data. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>



Figure 9: Couples share of paid work⁹

Figure 9 shows couples' share of paid work in Italy from 2004 to 2018. From a couple perspective, although at the country level the dual-earner model is now the most common, it still represents less than half of all couples (Istat, 2021a). There is still a considerable number of couples in which the man is the only breadwinner, representing around 31% of couples in 2018; while couples in which only the woman is employed amount to 10% (couples in which both partners do not work are not displayed in the figure). The amounts have not changed much over the past 15 years. However, again, there are notable territorial differences. In northern regions, couples in which only the man works amount to 25%, and the most widespread model is the dual-earner one (55% of couples). Similarly, in central Italy male-breadwinner couples represent 28%, while 50% are dual-earner couples. By contrast, in southern regions the male-breadwinner

⁹ Own elaboration of ISTAT data. Source: <u>http://dati.istat.it/</u>

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

model is still the most widespread, representing 40% of all couples, while dualearners still represent only 26% (Istat, 2021a).

Italian women face substantial disadvantages in the labor market compared to men, for several reasons. First, as will be further developed in the next section [3.1], in Italy the burden of household responsibilities falls disproportionally on women, reducing the amount of time that they can devote to job search, and restricting the types of job that they can accept (Bernardi et al., 2000; Dotti Sani, 2012). Moreover, the cultural pattern is reinforced by the informal, contractual, and legal regulations for the Italian labor market (Bernardi et al., 2000; Del Boca & Pasqua, 2005; Solera, 2014). Women are in fact overrepresented in the 'outsider' segment of the labor market, and employers often tend to protect the jobs of adult men more than those of women, because the strong protection and long leave usually granted to working mothers in Italy dissuades employers from hiring women rather than men (Bernardi et al., 2000; Del Boca & Pasqua, 2005). In fact, due to a combination of culturally-rooted gender behaviors, the scarcity of adequate labor-market opportunities, and the lack of reconciliation services [see section 3.3], women tend to adjust their labor supply for family-related reasons, for instance when they get married, have children, or when the partner's income is insufficient (Musumeci & Solera, 2013; Solera, 2012, 2014). Adjustments may consist in taking a period of leave, moving to part-time or fulltime employment, and withdrawing from the labor market; and they may be permanent, or concentrated around motherhood (Solera, 2012). Indeed, such periods of adjustment negatively affect women's careers, even if they decide to return to the labor market; and they are often linked to women's downward labormarket mobility (Musumeci & Solera, 2013). A recent study (Bertolini & Solera, 2016) has shown that low-educated women are those most at risk of withdrawing from the labor market around parenthood? To become full-time homemakers. Moreover, the choice and timing of leaving the labor market is also dependent on the type of contract (Bertolini & Solera, 2016; Solera, 2014). Women in timelimited jobs tend to leave the labor market before they have children, regardless

of whether they are high- or low-educated. Moreover, women with time-limited jobs are at greater risk of unemployment, which can also translate into discouragement and permanent withdrawal from the labor market (Bertolini & Solera, 2016).

3. Cultural and institutional aspects of Italian society

3.1 Gender norms and the gendered division of unpaid work

Italian society still displays considerable gender inequalities in both values and behaviors. In the Gender Equality Index¹⁰, Italy scored 53.3 in 2010, and 63.5 in 2020 (EIGE 2020). Despite the considerable improvement in the past ten years, the current score is still below the EU average (67.9 in 2020), and very far from those of northern European countries such as Denmark and Sweden (scoring respectively 77.4 and 83.8) (EIGE, 2020).

Results reported by several studies (e.g. Blome, 2016; Naldini & Jurado, 2013) analyzing value surveys, have shown that in Italy, in contrast to most European countries, attitudes and values in regard to family and gender have hardly changed over the years. The dominant societal definition of what good care is, and who should provide it, has remained anchored to the woman's role (Blome, 2016; Naldini & Jurado, 2013).

¹⁰ The Gender Equality Index is a composite indicator developed by the European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE). It provides a comprehensive measure of gender equality based on six core life domains, i.e. work, money, knowledge, time, power and health, and two additional domains i.e. violence against women and intersecting inequalities. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-equality-index/about</u>



Figure 10: % Agree with quote "It's ok for a woman to engage in paid work but what women really want is a home and kids"¹¹

Figure 11: % Agree with quote "A pre-school child is likely to suffer if the mother is employed"¹²



¹¹ Own elaboration of European Value Study 1990-1999-2008-2017 https://europeanvaluesstudy.eu/

¹² Own elaboration of European Value Study 1990-1999-2008-2017 <u>https://europeanvaluesstudy.eu/</u>





Figures 10, 11 and 12 show the percentages of agreement with three statements of the European Values Study (EVS). Attitudes towards women in the labor market (Figures 10 and 11) were basically stable from 1990 to 2008, but displayed a marked change in the last survey of 2017. Nevertheless, in 2017, with significant regional and gender differences, about half of the respondents still agreed that a woman needs a home and children to feel fulfilled, and that a preschool child is likely to suffer if the mother is employed. Instead, Figure 12 shows a very slow increase in the percentage of respondents who considered the sharing of household chores to be very important for a stable relationship. In particular, the percentage of women increased by about 7 points in more than 30 years, while the percentage of men remained substantially unchanged, rising from 30.2% in 1981 to 32.9% in 2017.

In terms of behavior, data on the distribution within couples of domestic and care work evidences that Italy is one of the most asymmetrical countries in

¹³ Own elaboration of European Value Study 1981-1990-1999-2008-2017 <u>https://europeanvaluesstudy.eu/</u>

Europe (Eurostat, 2019). Italian women are still much more likely to be inactive due to domestic and care responsibilities compared to women in other European countries (Dotti Sani, 2016; Eurostat, 2021), and the burden of unpaid domestic work is unevenly carried by women, even among dual-earner couples, although with important signs of change especially among the most educated couples (Carriero, 2009; Dotti Sani, 2012, 2014, 2018a; Naldini & Solera, 2018). Nonetheless, a recent qualitative study (Naldini, 2015) reported that even in highly-educated couples with more egalitarian values and behavior, at the birth of the first child, care work is once again considered to be a predominantly female job, with the narrative of the mother's 'natural' indispensability intrinsic to the Italian culture. Moreover, the expansion of tertiary education is still limited, also compared to other European countries. In 2020, the share of individuals between 30 and 34 years old who had completed tertiary education was 27.8%, second to last in Europe, followed only by Romania (Eurostat, 2021). However, what is remarkable is that in the past decade, women's education has reached and then surpassed that of men, even on considering the entire population aged over 15 years old (Istat, 2021a). As of 2020, 13.9% of men and 16.6% of women had a tertiary education degree, and considering the 30-34 age group, the share of tertiary-educated women was 34.3% compared to 21.4% among men (Istat, 2021a), representing an important sign of change in Italian women (Salvini & Vignoli, 2011).

3.2 Familialism and secularization

Among the factors slowing down societal change in Italy, several scholars have identified the strong familialism and the slow process of secularization characterizing Italian society (Dalla Zuanna, 2004; Vignoli & Salvini, 2014).

Despite the undeniable spread of new behaviors, especially in the North and in urban areas, in Italy as a whole the historical and anthropological family structure is largely based on kinship, and family values and strong ties still persist (Dalla Zuanna, 2004; Rosina & Fraboni, 2004). Most children still leave the parental home only at marriage – with 64% of individuals between 25 and 30 years old still living in the family dwelling (Istat, 2021a) – and children usually move close to their parents after marriage (Castiglioni & Dalla-Zuanna, 2014; Pirani, 2016). Parents help their children during the rearing of the grandchildren, and parents are assisted by their children during the last years of their lives (Naldini, 2003). Clearly, such care practices are both the cause and product of the lack of state services providing care (Naldini, 2003). The Italian welfare system has in fact been classified in the 'Southern' or 'Mediterranean model', which is characterized by a very low level of social protection and by strong family ties (Ferrera, 1996). Likewise, the economy is also steeped in familism, since it is constituted by thousands of small firms, whose founders are usually siblings or other relatives (Dalla Zuanna 2004).

In parallel, Italian society is undergoing a complex but emblematic process of secularization (Vezzoni and Biolcati-Rinaldi 2015). At the political level, the Catholic Church has expanded its influence across the various political parties – particularly with regard to matters concerning the family and sexuality – and thus plays an important role in hampering societal and policy advancement (Naldini and Saraceno 2008). About 82% of the country's population declare that they adhere to a religious faith, and 66.7% belong to the Catholic Church (Doxa 2019). However, on analyzing indicators related to the vitality of religious practice such as church attendance, research (e.g. Vezzoni and Biolcati-Rinaldi 2015) has demonstrated that during the period 1968–2010, church attendance declined – except for a period of relative stability in the 1980s and early 1990s. The decline was rapid in the 1970s, and later proceeded at a slower but steady pace from the second half of the 1990s onward (Vezzoni & Biolcati-Rinaldi, 2015).



Figure 13: Percent of individuals in couple who rarely or never go to church, 1993-2016¹⁴

Figure 13 shows the percentage of individuals in stable relationships, either cohabiting or married, who declared to have rarely or never attended religious services for selected regions in the north, center, and south of the country, from 1993 to 2016. Despite regional differences, all the regions surveyed displayed a slow but constant rise in the percentage of people rejecting religious practice. Moreover, it seems that southern regions are gradually catching up with central and northern ones. However, although religious practice has greatly decreased in Italy, religious precepts and dogmas have been found to indirectly shape social judgement and ideological factors influencing family behaviors (Vignoli and Salvini 2014).

¹⁴ Own elaboration of Istat survey data "Aspects of Daily Life" 1993-2016. Percent of individuals above 18 in a stable couple, cohabitation or marriage, who report to rarely or never attend Church for selected region in the north, centre, and south of the country.

3.3 Reconciliation policies

Traditional expectations about family responsibility and gender roles, the long tradition of a rigid familistic system, and 'imperfect secularization', combined with the scant presence of women in politics, have jointly hampered the introduction and development of policies promoting work/family balance and gender equality (Blome, 2016; Knijn & Saraceno, 2010; Naldini & Jurado, 2013; Riva, 2016). In fact, although the number of women in the labor market has been constantly increasing, especially in northern regions, reconciliation policies are still quite limited, and have been characterized by a certain inertia in recent decades (Naldini & Saraceno, 2008).

The issue of reconciling family and working life was introduced at the European level already at the beginning of the 1990s, with the clear objective of equal opportunities of men and women in the labor market (Naldini & Saraceno, 2011). The legal framework of work/family policy in Italy is based upon Article 37 of the Constitution, which stipulates both gender equality in the workplace and that "working conditions must allow women to fulfil their essential role in the family and ensure adequate protection for mothers and their children" (Knijn & Saraceno, 2010), and officially entered the political agenda with law 285/1997, which fostered the introduction of policies, at central and local level, for the promotion of social rights, quality of life, and the development of children and adolescents (Naldini, 2003).

In a first stage, Italy was called an "early bird" in welfare reforms, since already in the 1960s and 1970s it started to develop good quality childcare and maternal leave arrangements (Knijn & Saraceno, 2010). However, this development slowed down, and increasingly lagged behind societal advancement, including the rise in women's labor-force participation, and demographic and familial changes such as the increase in marital instability, lone motherhood, and ageing kinship (Knijn & Saraceno, 2010). The availability of child-care provided by the state for under 3-year-old children remained limited, favoring instead care given by grandparents and family members (Naldini & Saraceno, 2011). Figure 14 shows the trend over time (between 2004 and 2016) of the percentage of children 0-3 years-old using childcare facilities on the total number of children aged 0-3 in the region. Again, there is a clear regional divide between north-center and south-islands. Nevertheless, even in the regional area with the highest use of childcare services the percentage hardly reach the 20% and it does not seem to be increasing over the last decade.

Figure 14: Percent use of childcare facilities of 0-3 years old¹⁵



To cope with the lack of policies and services, the introduction of flexible working contracts and the amendment of part-time employment were presented also as a way to resolve work/family issues, allowing parents (usually mothers) to have more flexible or reduced work schedules (Bertolini & Solera, 2016; Riva, 2016).

The only significant policy shift in recent years has been introduced by Law 53/2000 on parental leave, which acknowledged an individual entitlement for fathers. Within this new framework, working fathers are individually entitled to

¹⁵ Percent of 0-3 years old in childcare facilities computed on the total number of 0-3 years old in the area for each year. Own elaboration of Istat data.

a portion of the parental leave, which is 10 months in total until the child reaches the age of 8, of which neither parent can take more than 6 months (INPS, 2020a). The law also establishes an incentive for fathers to take parental leave: if a father takes at least 3 months of leave, he is entitled to an additional month, leading to a total of 11 months of leave for the family (INPS, 2020a). Another important innovation under this law concerns the greater degree of flexibility with which the leave may be taken for single days or only a few days a week (INPS, 2020a; Naldini & Saraceno, 2008; Riva, 2016). Moreover, Law 92/2012 established a compulsory (but still symbolic), leave available to employed fathers within the fifth month of the newborn child, initially set at 2 days, and gradually extended to 7 days by Law 27/2019 (INPS 2020a). These policies have sought to promote gender equality by granting men responsibilities and rights more similar to those of women (Knijn & Saraceno, 2010). The acknowledgement of and incentive for men's caring responsibilities are said to represent one of the major cultural policy shifts in recent years in Italy (Saraceno 2007). However, this shift in policy has not actually changed fathers' behavior, and the uptake of parental leave by fathers has remained scant (Knijn & Saraceno, 2010; Naldini & Jurado, 2013). This may be due to cultural norms, but also to the low compensation rate for the leave, which corresponds to only 30% of the salary. Nonetheless, many fathers, and in particular young ones, are not even entitled to the parental leave. Although nonstandard contracts have been presented as a way to cope with the issue of work/life reconciliation, many of them do not give entitlement to the new parental leave. Moreover, flexible contracts have also generally increased the sense of insecurity and uncertainty, further reducing the uptake of parental leave by eligible fathers (Naldini and Saraceno 2008).

Generally, and similarly to the recipients of unemployment benefits [see section 2.2], fixed-term employees have access to parental leave on the same conditions as permanent workers, but only within the duration of their contracts (Bertolini & Solera, 2016; INPS, 2020a). Since 2000, women with atypical jobs have been entitled to a suspension of their contract, and the extension of its

86

duration for up to 5 months in the case of maternity, paid by the National Social Security Institute (INPS), with an allowance equal to 80% of the previous income. Moreover, since 2007, mothers and fathers with atypical contracts have also been entitled to 3 months of optional parental leave paid at 30% of their salary (Bertolini & Solera, 2016; INPS, 2020a). In any event, no coverage is foreseen in the transition from one contract to another, unless the worker is eligible for unemployment benefits (Bertolini & Solera, 2016; INPS, 2020a). To compensate for the lack of public services, several companies have begun to provide family services, e.g. nurseries, childcare for their employees, increasing inequalities in the access to family services between labor-market insiders and outsiders. Moreover, since the Constitutional reform of 2001, social services, including family services and child care, have become of regional competence. This has given rise to poorer social services in the southern regions, increasing cross-regional differences; and it has further impeded the expansion of women's employment in southern regions (Naldini & Saraceno, 2011).

Overall, inequalities in the chances of reconciliation contribute to amplifying territorial inequalities, and between labor-market insiders and outsiders (Bertolini, 2006; Bertolini & Solera, 2016; Saraceno, 2005). In this scenario, the advent of the Great Recession, and the related financial crisis and austerity measures adopted to cover the extensive Italian public debt, included a large-scale retrenchment and recalibration of the welfare system with negative consequences on the development of work/family services (Dotti Sani, 2018b; León & Pavolini, 2014).

87

4. Employment and union dissolution in Italy: previous findings

Despite the above-outlined degree of traditionalism and stagnation in policies and beliefs, in the last few decades important social, demographic and economic changes have occurred in Italy. Particularly pertinent to this thesis is the constant growth of separation and divorce rates, and the important changes in labormarket conditions and composition. However, only few studies have analyzed the impact of employment conditions and characteristics on union dissolution in Italy.

De Sandre (1980) was the first to show the increase in marital disruption among women of high socio-economic status in the first half of the 1970s: a finding later confirmed by, among others, De Rose (1992) on micro data. In her pioneering study on divorce in Italy, using data from the retrospective "Italian Structure and Family Behaviour Survey" of 1983, De Rose (1992) found that the women most exposed to the risk of marital disruption were those who had married at a very young age, who had opted for a period of cohabitation before marriage, who had no more than one child, who were better educated, with fulltime jobs, and who lived in large towns in the north-west of Italy. De Rose concluded from her findings that, in Italy at that time, the still modest frequency of family dissolution could be explained by women's scant participation in the labor market and in skilled occupations, by strong cultural norms, and by the high value given to the roles of mother and wife.

Vignoli and Ferro (2009) followed up on this study with data collected by the Istat *Italian Multipurpose Survey on Family and Social Subject* twenty years later, in 2003. Although over time the incidence of divorce had risen both in absolute terms (+75%) and in terms of rates – with the period total divorce rate climbing from 80 to 151 divorces per 1,000 marriages – correlates of marital break-up remained essentially unchanged. In particular, Vignoli and Ferro found that women's employment status still had a very strong positive impact on marital

dissolution, with a divorce risk almost twice as high among both temporarily and permanently employed women. This finding supported the contention that women's economic autonomy enables them to exit unhappy relationships, and that their nonconformity with their traditional gender role destabilize marriages. Likewise, because higher education is linked to better economic prospects and job opportunities, and to more individualistic values, it is a correlate of higher divorce risk.

A subsequent comparative study (Vignoli et al., 2018) focused on the impact of women's employment on divorce. For Italy, it used data from a more recent version of the 2009 Italian Multipurpose Survey on Family and Social Subjects. It reported that, among the four countries examined in the paper (i.e. Germany, Hungary, Poland and Italy) the magnitude of the effect appeared to be strongest in Italy, where employed women had a 50% higher risk of marital disruption compared to non-employed women. Moreover, the authors found that the risk of marital disruption increased markedly after a woman entered employment, and decreased with time, suggesting that the positive effect of women's employment on divorce in Italy is partly driven by anticipation – that is, women look for a job when they foresee a divorce. Nevertheless, anticipatory behavior did not explain the overall impact of employment on marital stability in Italy, because the positive relationship between the two processes was still observed several years after a woman had entered employment; and even ten years after employment entry her risk of divorce was more than 20% higher than that of a non-working woman. Country differences were explained by the higher dominance of the male breadwinner family model in Italy, unfavorable conditions for work/family reconciliation, and relatively low female employment rates (Vignoli et al., 2018).

In the aforementioned studies, only women were included in the analysis, while men were completely disregarded. The first study analyzing gender differences in divorce predictors in Italy was conducted by De Rose and Di Cesare (2003), using data from the Fertility and Family survey of 1996. In particular, they focused on the extent to which employment plays a different role

for women with respect to men. Their analysis showed that, whilst a number of characteristics – early marriage, pre-marital cohabitation, number of children, and religion – had the same effect for men and women, an important difference was apparent in regard to employment status. Full-time employed woman had a much higher separation risk than non-working women, while the same condition for men had precisely the opposite effect.

Again using data from the 2003 *Italian Multipurpose Survey on Family and Social Subjects*, Salvini and Vignoli (2011) – in a study focused on the role of education, comparing women and men – confirmed that employed women were about 41% more likely to dissolve their union. By contrast, employed men were about 14% less likely to dissolve their union (although the effect was not statistically precise).

It is evident from the foregoing review that research on employment and union dissolution in Italy is outdated and suffers from several limitations. First, most research lacks a gender comparison and focuses only on women. Moreover, existing research dates back to at least a decade ago, and therefore fails to capture the process of labor-market flexibilization, the major changes in values and behaviors occurring across generations (Özcan & Breen, 2012; Preston, 1986), as well as new demographic trends such as the expansion of cohabitation (Guetto et al., 2016; Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2015). Finally, the role of the broader economic and social context is vastly underplayed. Italian divorce research has for long suffered from a general lack of suitable quantitative data with which to study the matter. The recently released *Italian Multipurpose Survey on Family and Social Subjects 2016*, described in detail in Chapter 4, thus offers an opportunity to fill the existing gap and gain novel insights into the Italian case.

CHAPTER 3

Data and Methodology

The aim of this research thesis is to contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution in its micro, macro, and gender dimensions. For this purpose, the thesis is organized into three empirical chapters, as follows. Chapter 4 deals with the micro-level relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. It analyzes the association between joblessness, time-limited work, and their accumulation over the life course, on the one hand, and union dissolution on the other. The relationship between employment instability and union dissolution is studied through the lens of gender, disentangling differences across cohorts, and between married and cohabiting couples. Chapter 5 considers employment instability in its macro-level configuration. It studies the relationship between unemployment and temporary work rates and the individual risk of union dissolution of women and men. Moreover, it examines whether macro-level employment conditions have different impacts on the risk of union dissolution for individuals with different employment status and type of contract, and type of union (marriage vs. cohabitation), and whether the relationship has changed over time due to the advent of the Great Recession. Finally, Chapter 6 analyzes whether the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution varies in contexts with a different diffusion of gendered behaviors regarding the share of paid and unpaid work, and with a different presence and uptake of work/family reconciliation services. This chapter presents and describes in detail the data, sample selection, variables, and analytic strategy adopted in the empirical chapters.

1. Data

All three empirical chapters make use of micro data from Istat's nationally representative 2016 "Families and Social Subjects and the life cycle" survey. The survey is the main Italian statistical source on family structure and social characteristics. It is part of the Multipurpose thematic household survey cycle, and it has been conducted approximately every five/six years since 1998 (Istat, 2019b).

In 2016, the survey was carried out in December on a sample of 32,585 individuals aged 18 and older distributed among 852 Italian municipalities of different demographic size. The sampling design was complex and made use of two different sampling schemes based on the clustered structure of the population in municipalities, provinces, regions (NUTS-2), and macro-regions (NUTS-1). Sampled individuals were then randomly drawn from the municipality's registry lists. Interviews were carried out by municipal surveyors with a face-to-face interview in the sampled individuals' dwelling by means of the Papi (Paper and Pencil interview) technique. The total non-response rate¹⁶ for the survey was 21.25% (Istat, 2021c). Sampling weights were applied to correct for non-responses and to match the known demographic values for the overall population with respect to age, gender, and municipality (Istat, 2019b).

The survey provides vast information on respondents' families and relationships, and detailed (monthly) retrospective information on education, employment and career paths, fertility, and partnership histories, making it possible to adopt an event history analysis approach.

In Chapters 5 and 6, regional-level (NUTS-2) yearly time-series indicators, respectively on the employment and gender context, provided by ISTAT are merged to the survey. All macro-level indicators are described in detail in sections 4.2 and 4.3.

¹⁶ Ratio between the number of units for which no data were collected for some reason (death, absence, or refusal to reply) and the total number of units designated for data collection.

2. Sample selection

The analysis focuses on individual's first cohabiting union, including both marriages and unmarried cohabitations. Because the focus of this thesis is on employment and job position, the analysis is limited to the working-age population (aged from 15 to 60). Despite the capacity for individuals above the age of 60 to still be active in the labor market, I excluded them from the analysis since they fall into the category of "grey divorces" (Brown & Lin, 2012) - itself a distinct phenomenon. I also cut the sample at 50 and 55 years old and found that the results were substantially the same [see Tables 1.1 and 1.2 in the Appendix.]. Moreover, in order to differentiate between casual or fleeting relationships and committed unions, those respondents who dissolved their union before their 20s, or those whose union lasted less than three months, were excluded. Additionally, I excluded cohorts born before 1950 because divorce in Italy was possible only after 1970 and time-limited jobs have only been spreading since the 1980s. Cohorts born after 1986 were also excluded because, at the time of the interview, they would have been too young to have experienced the event of union dissolution.

In Chapter 4 the final sample consists of N = 6,612 women and N = 5,901 men who entered a first union, including 9,448 direct marriages, 1,469 nonmarital cohabitations, and 1,596 cohabitations which resulted in marriages during the observation period. Of these, N = 1,209 women (N = 379 cohabitations and N = 830 marriages) and N = 1,155 men (N = 493 cohabitations and N = 662marriages) experienced union dissolution.

In Chapters 5 and 6 the sample is reduced because macro-level indicators were only available since 2000 for Chapter 5, and 2004 for Chapter 6. The final sample in Chapter 5 consists of N = 6,163 women, and N = 5,500 men who entered a first union, of whom, respectively, N = 789 women and N = 764 men eventually separated. In Chapter 7, instead, the sample consists of N = 5,975 women, of whom N = 616 had their first union dissolved, and N = 5,293 men,

with N = 585 dissolutions. A summary of sample size and dissolutions for each chapter is reported in Table 1.

	Period	WOME	Ν	MEN		
	covered	N	Dissolutions	Ν	Dissolutions	
Chapter 4	1965-2016	6,612	1,209	5,901	1,155	
Chapter 5	2000-2016	6,163	789	5,500	764	
Chapter 6	2004-2016	5,975	616	5,293	585	

Table 1: Sample size and dissolutions for each empirical study

After union histories had been constructed and the sample had been selected, only the variables defining the type of union, parental union condition, and employment status presented missing values. For all three variables, these values were below 2% and somewhat equally distributed in terms of demographic and socio-economic characteristics. Hence, these cases were deleted from the analysis.

3. Analytical strategy

In the three empirical chapters, the analysis adopts an event-history continuous time approach to data analysis, making use of the monthly precision of the collected histories. In event history analysis, estimates are performed by means of a maximum likelihood estimation, including the duration until the occurrence of the event of interest, where the duration is measured from the time at which an individual becomes exposed to the 'risk' of experiencing the event (Jenkins, 2004). In this thesis, the event of interest is union dissolution, and individuals become exposed to the risk of experiencing such an event when their relationship

starts. The transition rate (also called hazard, intensity, failure, or risk function) expresses the instantaneous risk of experiencing an event at time t given that the event did not occur before t, and it is defined as:

$$\mathbf{h}(t) = \lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{\Pr\left(t \le T < t + \Delta t | T \ge t\right)}{\Delta t}$$

In other words, the transition rate represents the probability of future changes in the dependent variable per unit of time, or the propensity to change states from origin j to destination k at time t (Blossfeld et al., 2019) – in this case, the probability of union dissolution at a point in time, given that the relationship continued until that point.

In all event-history models in the empirical chapters is adopted a semi-parametric proportional hazard approach where the baseline risk is specified with a piecewise constant function.

Proportional hazard models (also known as multiplicative hazard models), which can be written in the following form:

$$\theta$$
 (t, X) = θ_0 (t) exp(β 'X)

are characterized by the baseline hazard function $\theta_0(t)$, which depends on t and summarizes the pattern of duration dependence, assumed to be common to all persons, and $exp(\beta'X)$, which is a person-specific non-negative function of covariates X (which does not depend on t, by construction), which scales the baseline hazard function common to all persons. The proportional hazard property implies that, in a proportional hazard model, each regression coefficient summarizes the proportional effect on the hazard of absolute changes in the corresponding co-variate and this effect does not vary with transition time (Jenkins, 2004).

With a piecewise constant specification, the time axis is partitioned into a number of intervals using cut-points. The risk of separation is assumed to be constant within each defined time period, yet it is allowed for variation across periods. An advantage of this model specification is that the overall shape of the

hazard function does not have to be imposed in advance (Blossfeld et al., 2019; Jenkins, 2004). The baseline hazard rate (θ) is constant within each of the K intervals but differs between intervals.

This expression may be rewritten as:

$$\theta\left(t, X_{t}\right) = \begin{cases} \overline{\theta}_{1} \exp(\beta' X_{1}) & t \in (0, \tau_{1}] \\ \overline{\theta}_{2} \exp(\beta' X_{2}) & t \in (\tau_{1}, \tau_{2}] \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \overline{\theta}_{K} \exp(\beta' X_{K}) & t \in (\tau_{K-1}, \tau_{K}] \end{cases}$$

Figure 1 shows the shape of the baseline hazard analyzed in the present research, i.e. the piecewise constant transition rate of union dissolution. All episodes are measured in months since the beginning of a union. The time axis (measuring months since the beginning of a union) is portioned into defined intervals: 0 to 3 years, 4 to 7 years, 8 to 14 years, 15 to 20 years, and 20+ years. The predicted hazard of union dissolution is higher in the first 3 years and gradually diminishes in each defined period, given that the relationship survived until that point.

Figure 1: Piecewise constant transition rate model¹⁷



¹⁷Own elaboration of Istat data "Families and Social Subjects and the life cycle" of 2016, 1950-1986 cohorts for the period 1965-2016

Figure 2 shows a non-parametric estimation of the survival function for women and men, without accounting for any covariate, computed with the product-limit method, also known as the Kaplan-Meier (1958) method. The survival function is the probability that no event has occurred before time t:

$$S(t) = Pr(T \ge t)$$

Individuals who have not yet experienced the event are said to have 'survived'. The product limit method is based on calculating a risk set at every point in time when at least one event occurred. The figures show that, after 2 years (60 months) from the beginning of the union 94% of women, and 91% of men, are still in their union (survived). After 25 years (300 months) the percentage of women and men still in the union amounts to about 78% for both. Finally, after 480 months (40 years) since the beginning of the first union, about 76% of women and 74% men are still in the union.





¹⁸ Own elaboration of Istat data "Families and Social Subjects and the life cycle" of 2016, 1950-1986 cohorts for the period 1965-2016

In Chapters 5 and 6, the regional dimension is included. Regional level time series variables are merged to the Istat survey by region and year [a more detailed description of the variables is provided in sections 4.3 and 4.4.]. To model two levels of analysis, region fixed effects are included.

4. Variables

4.1 Dependent variable

The event under study is the risk of union dissolution (including all first unions), be they cohabitations or marriages. For non-marital cohabitations, union dissolution corresponds to the reported date of relationship termination and, for marriages, to the date of *de facto* separation, i.e., separations not yet accompanied by legal provision. For those cohabitations which result first in marriage and then in union dissolution, the event corresponds to the *de facto* separation from the marriage. The moment of *de facto* separation is in fact the moment that marks the marriage's dissolution, and it is consistent with the relationship terminations used for non-marital unions. For 395 dissolutions (between women and men), however, the date of de-facto separation was missing, but the date of legal separation or divorce was reported. For those dissolutions, the date of *de facto* separation was estimated with an imputation procedure on the distribution of lags (between *de facto* separation, legal separation, and divorce) observed in women and men with complete information, for each cohort (Vignoli & Ferro, 2009). For a robustness check the final model was run with and without imputed values and using the date of legal separation or divorce instead of *de facto* separation. The results proved stable [see Tables 2.1 and 2.2 in the Appendix.].

4.2 Individual-level measures of employment instability

In order to analyze the relation between current employment conditions and the risk of union dissolution, I built a time-varying variable identifying the respondents' employment status and type of contract. Respondents' employment history was based on the collection of employment episodes. The Istat survey includes up to eleven employment episodes reported by respondents, with monthly-precise information on the beginning and end of the employment spell. Individuals move from one episode to the next when their contracts end. Thus, to individuals with several job contracts there correspond several job episodes. The time-varying variable was constructed starting from two original variables in the dataset indicating respectively whether the respondent was employed permanently or on a time-limited basis, and his/her work position (i.e. employee, self-employed worker, consultant). The final variable was coded as *permanently* employed (as a reference category), jobless, time-limited employed, and selfemployed. Time-limited contractual arrangements comprise jobs-on-call, job sharing, apprenticeships, training, project-based contracts, seasonal work, and all other types of time-limited employment.

To assess the influence of employment instability accumulation over the course of a relationship (Chapter 4), I constructed two additional indicators measuring: the number of months of joblessness; and the number of months working in time-limited jobs, over the total number of months since the beginning of the union. In order to gain more comprehensive understanding of the patterns of accumulation of employment instability, I coded the two ratios into categories measuring whether the respondent was *never jobless* (reference), *jobless up to 25%, between 25–50%,* or *over 50% of the relationship duration*. Similarly, for time-limited work, I measured whether the respondent was *never in a time-limited job* (reference), *for up to 10%, between 10–20%,* or *over 20% of the relationship duration*. The cut-off points were located based on the variables' distribution, through an exploratory ('backwise') approach, i.e. starting from a large amount of categories and then removing step-by-step non-meaningful

categories, with a rational of balancing parsimony and assuring a meaningful sample size. On slightly modifying the cut-off points, the results were not affected [see different cut-off points in Table 3.1 and Figure 1 in the Appendix.].

4.3 Macro-level indicators of employment instability

To measure macro-level employment instability, I adopted two regional-level (NUTS-2) indicators provided yearly by Istat (Istat, 2021a) on unemployment and temporary work rates. The unemployment rate is defined as the share of people of working age (15-65) who are without work and are available for work, and have taken specific steps to find work, in the total labor force constituted by employed and unemployed persons. The indicator of the share of time-limited work is a measure of the number of time-limited workers over the total number of workers over 15 years old. Both indicators are time-varying because they vary yearly from 2000 to 2016. For a more meaningful interpretation of the results, both indicators were transformed into percentages and centered to their mean value.

4.4 Macro-level indicators of gender context

To study differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution in different gender contexts, I built three NUTS-2 level indicators respectively on the share of paid and domestic and care work, and reconciliation policies.

The indicator on the share of paid work is a measure of the percentage of dual earner couples over the total number of couples in the region aged between 25 and 65 years old, with and without children. The indicator stems from the Labor Force Survey (LFS), conducted by Istat, and it's available from 2004 to 2016 (Istat, 2021a). For the analysis, I coded this indicator into three categories defining a low (< 25%), mid (>25% and <55%) and higher (>55%) share of dual earner couples.

The second Indicator measures the symmetry in the share of care and domestic work among dual-earner couples aged between 25 and 64 years old. It derives from the Time-Use Survey, conducted in the years 2003, 2008 and 2013. The values for these three points in time were attributed also to the year preceding the survey and the three years following it, as shown in Figure 3.

Figure 3: Attribution of yearly values of the index of asymmetry in the division of domestic and care work

2002	2003 2	004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
I				I	I				I	I				

A perfect symmetry would be represented by a 50, meaning that each partner attended to half of the care and domestic tasks. In Italian regions, this index ranges from 65 to 85, meaning that in all regions care and domestic work falls disproportionally on women. The index was coded into categories: low symmetry (>80), mid (<80 and >67), higher (<67).

Finally, the presence and uptake of reconciliation services is measured with an indicator on the percentage of children aged 0-3 attending childcare in the total number of children of the same age in the region (NUTS-2). The indicator has been provided by Istat since 2004 (Istat, 2021a). Also this indicator was coded into three categories: low (below 5%), mid (between 5% and 20%) and higher (above 20%). Displayed in Chapter 6 [Tables 1, 2 and 3] are all values for each region and year for the three indicators.

4.5 Control variables

The model equation also includes the primary correlates of union dissolutions as identified by the literature [Chapter 1, section 4]: years since union formation; type of union (marriage vs. cohabitation); number and age of children; cohort; parental education and separation (Amato, 2010; T. Lyngstad & Jalovaara, 2010; Vignoli & Ferro, 2009). Years since union formation, type of union (marriage or cohabitation), and number and age of children are time-varying. A descriptive table with exposure time and occurrences (i.e. union dissolutions) for all individual level variables is provided in Table 2.

In Chapter 4 the region is included as a control as a macro region (North – Centre – South), while in Chapter 5 and 6 the regional variable is at the NUTS-2 level. The regional variable indicates the region of residence of the respondent, and it is time-varying, as individuals may move among regions over their life course. The survey includes two original regional variables: one constant, reporting the region of residence at the time of the interview, and the other time-varying, indicating the region where the respondent resided during each employment spell. Therefore, for jobless individuals the time-varying region of residence was missing. For those individuals, I imputed as region of residence at the time of interview if the respondent spell, if any, or the region of residence at the time of interview if the respondent had never worked in the observed time. For a robustness check, the models of Chapters 5 and 6 were run with and without imputation and using NUTS-1 instead of NUTS-2 regions, and the results were fairly stable [see Tables 4.1-4.5 in the Appendix.].

Added in Chapter 5 are two regional-level control variables on the GDP-per capita and separation context, again provided by Istat. GDP per-capita is available yearly and thus constitutes a time-varying variable in its continuous form, centered on its mean value and divided by 1000, to represent a change of 1000 euros from the average. The separation context is an indicator of the separation culture in the region and measures the yearly number of legal separations per 1000 marriages, coded into three categories: low separation

context (below 250), mid (between 250 and 310), and high separation context (above 310).

	Women-months		Failures		Men-months		Failures	
	observe unio	a in n			observ	ea in on		
	Abs.		Abs.		Abs.		Abs.	
Vears since	value	%	value	%	value	%	value	%
union formation								
0-3	232496	13.3	243	20.1	204247	15	337	29.2
4-7	287884	16.5	295	24.4	245063	18	291	25.2
8-14	429582	24.6	325	26.9	356067	26.2	260	22.5
15-20	290214	16.6	187	15.5	231123	17	154	13.3
20+	507176	29	159	13.2	323994	23.8	113	9.8
NUTS-1 region								
North	757495	43.4	643	53.2	576265	42.4	630	54.5
Center	303106	17.4	247	20.4	224015	16.5	221	19.1
South and Islands	686751	39.3	319	26.4	560214	41.2	304	26.3
Cohort								
1950-1959	767060	43.9	227	18.8	621462	45.7	262	22.7
1960-1969	588987	33.7	410	33.9	466105	34.3	411	35.6
1970-1986	391305	22.4	572	47.3	272927	20.1	482	41.7
Type of union								
Marriage	1651275	94.5	830	68.7	1264728	93	662	57.3
Cohabitation	96077	5.5	379	31.4	95766	7	493	42.7
Number and age of children								
childless	318980	18.3	507	41.9	289588	21.3	659	57.1
1 age 0-6	290232	16.6	181	15	244102	17.9	132	11.4
1 age 7+	234384	13.4	181	15	162385	11.9	112	9.7
2 youngest 0-6	260693	14.9	109	9	217133	16	75	6.5
2 youngest 7+	390266	22.3	164	13.6	287617	21.1	131	11.3
3 or more	252797	14.5	67	5.5	159669	11.7	46	4
Parents are separated								
No	1667020	95.4	1060	87.7	1302431	95.7	1059	91.7
Yes	80332	4.6	149	12.3	58063	4.3	96	8.3
At least one parent with higher education								
No	1514463	86.7	886	73.3	1192482	87.7	875	75.8
Yes	232889	13.3	323	26.7	168012	12.4	280	24.2

 Table 2: Exposure and events (survey variables)

Education								
None or primary	244985	14	52	4.3	130603	9.6	47	4.1
Lower secondary	598304	34.2	304	25.2	510890	37.6	391	33.9
Upper secondary	656118	37.6	581	48.1	561252	41.3	528	45.7
Tertiary	247945	14.2	272	22.5	157749	11.6	189	16.4
Employment status and type of contract								
Jobless	848766	48.6	391	32.3	164420	12.1	194	16.8
Permanent worker	634936	36.3	585	48.4	782506	57.5	606	52.5
Time-limited	99033	5.7	110	9.1	79505	5.8	89	7.7
Self-employed	164617	9.4	123	10.2	334063	24.6	266	23
% Joblessness								
Never	273259	15.6	384	31.8	584915	43	628	54.4
Up to 25%	467286	26.7	281	23.3	590054	43.4	291	25.2
25% to 50%	196901	11.3	122	10.1	78556	5.8	58	5
More than 50%	809906	46.4	422	34.9	106969	7.9	178	15.4
% Time-limited								
Never	1390237	79.6	942	77.9	1155247	84.9	983	85.1
Up to 10% of time	137287	7.9	54	4.5	60462	4.4	19	1.6
10% to 20%	59880	3.4	40	3.3	31691	2.3	15	1.3
More than 20%	159948	9.2	173	14.3	113094	8.3	138	12

Notes: exposures and events of survey variables, based on the 1965-2016 sample (chapter 4)

5. Data limitation

The data have some limitations. First, the employment characteristics of expartners were unavailable, thereby excluding the possibility of a couple-level analysis. Moreover, despite the data providing detailed information on past and current employment spells, details on unemployment spells were lacking. Therefore, it was only possible to determine whether the individual was not working, without being able to distinguish between inactivity and unemployment. However, joblessness, rather than unemployment, has been suggested to be more impactful when studying the consequences of economic constraints on family outcomes (Härkönen, 2011). Many of the social and demographic consequences of economic inactivity are identical to those of unemployment because the key point is whether a person is working, not whether s/he is actively looking for work. For this reason, many studies have expanded their focus to joblessness instead of unemployment (Busetta et al., 2019; Clasen et al., 2006). In line with this research, the lack of an indicator of personal unemployment should not compromise the analysis. Moreover, although the Istat survey provides (subjective) information on the respondents' income, this was only collected at the time of the interview. Hence it would be incorrect to use this variable in the analysis because of the risk of performing a so-called 'anticipatory analysis' (Hoem & Kreyenfeld, 2006a, 2006b). Nevertheless, I controlled for the respondents' and their parents' levels of education since these are wellestablished proxies for socio-economic status (Barone, 2009; Koops et al., 2017). Finally, the Istat survey does not include retrospective information on unpaid work, which has been shown to be an important variable in the definition of the gendered relationship between paid work and union dissolution (Bellani et al., 2018; Mencarini & Vignoli, 2018; Sigle-Rushton, 2010). This limitation is only partly accounted for in Chapter 6 by including a regional-level time-varying variable on the share of domestic and care work.

CHAPTER 4

Employment instability and union dissolution: A complex micro-level relationship

1. Introduction

The present empirical chapter address the relationship between individual-level employment instability and union dissolution. As introduced, existing research indicates theoretical and empirical ambivalence concerning the direction of the effects of employment instability on union dissolution, providing theoretical arguments and evidence for both the *relational stress* and the *cost of divorce* hypothesis [outlined in the introduction and Chapter 1]. Yet, existing studies suffer from a series of limitations.

First, virtually all prior research has only used unemployment as an indicator of economic performance. This is somewhat dismissive of the fact that employment instability is also engendered by time-limited work contracts, characterized by time discontinuity, insecurity, lack of rights and social protection, and generally low earnings, thereby favoring uncertain futures (Benach et al., 2014; Benach & Muntaner, 2007; Pirani & Salvini, 2015). Thus, in the present chapter, employment instability is identified with joblessness and time-limited employment—both of which generate high levels of uncertainty since they correspond to a lack of clarity on economic prospects, as well as economic strain from either a total lack of income from work, or temporary (and often scarce) salaries. To the best of my knowledge,

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

no study has yet analyzed the relation between fixed-term work contracts and the risk of union dissolution.

Second, while the grand majority of past studies have considered measures of employment status (i.e., being unemployed), a series of recent papers have added that not only the *status*, but also—and especially—the *persistence* of employment instability affects family dynamics, providing evidence that it represents a crucial marker of economic uncertainty (Busetta et al., 2019; Ciganda, 2015; Özcan et al., 2010; Pailhé & Solaz, 2012). As a matter of fact, the accumulation of employment instability, including information on past and present experiences, may better capture future economic prospects.

Third, prior research has generally lacked a gender perspective, despite it being already well-established that employment status may have a different meaning for women and men's partnership choices (de Rose & Di Cesare, 2007; Sayer et al., 2011). In societies with a prevalent male-breadwinner family system, when the wife is not employed, her cost of divorce is typically higher since she is likely to be financially dependent on the marriage (Sayer & Bianchi, 2000). Conversely, when the husband is jobless, the stress mechanisms may be predominant due to his poor performance as a provider (Cherlin, 1979; Conger et al., 1990). The few studies including gender comparisons (e.g. Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Liker & Elder, 1983; Ono, 1998; for Italy, de Rose & Di Cesare, 2007) date back to over a decade ago and, importantly, it has been shown that, as the economic role of men and women equalizes, gender differences gradually disappear (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Oppenheimer, 1994). Therefore, as the economic roles and aspirations of men and women have tended to converge across generations, analyzing recent cohorts is especially crucial. Furthermore, there may well be an evolution regarding the gender relationship between employment conditions and couple stability across generations.

Finally, existing research tends to focus on divorce of married couples (Conger et al., 1990; de Rose & Di Cesare, 2007; Doiron & Mendolia, 2012). Nevertheless, unmarried cohabitation is becoming an increasingly common living arrangement (Perelli-Harris & Lyons-Amos, 2015) also in Italy (Gabrielli & Hoem, 2010; Guetto

et al., 2016), and younger couples (both within and outside of Italy) with unstable jobs generally tend to cohabit rather than marry (Manning, 2020; Vignoli et al., 2016). For this reason, it is important to include both type of couples, keeping in mind, however, that they vastly differ in term of stability, and may be hit by employment instability in different ways.

To address oversights of past research, this chapter aims at clarifying the complex micro-level relationship between employment instability on union dissolution by:

- i. considering not only the effect of joblessness, but also the type of employment contract;
- **ii.** evaluating both the status and accumulation of instability over the life course;
- iii. assessing changes across cohorts;
- iv. distinguishing between marriage and cohabitation;
- v. analyzing each point through the lens of gender.

Moreover, a final section is dedicated to the issue of **causation and selectivity**.

2. Research hypothesis

2.1 Joblessness

Since Italy still demonstrates relevant gender differences in the allocation of time and responsibilities between paid and unpaid work—and the prevalence of traditional gender attitudes—the first hypothesis (Hypothesis 1) is that the individual-level relation between joblessness and union dissolution will likely still be the opposite for women and men. Jobless women should form more stable relationships than their permanently employed counterparts since they are economically dependent on their husbands and comply with traditional gender
norms. Therefore, non-employed women should face a high economic and social cost of divorce. Conversely, women with permanent contracts (representing a select group of women), who enjoy greater economic independence, are therefore more likely to leave unhappy relationships since their cost of divorce is lower (Killewald, 2016; Sayer et al., 2011). Moreover, due to the general scarcity of reconciliation policies and family services, and the persistence of a traditional gender culture in the division of domestic labor and responsibilities, working women are more likely to experience work-family conflict, often resulting in high relational stress (Collins, 2020). It follows that jobless women are expected to be less likely to experience union dissolution than women with permanent contracts (Hypothesis 1a).

I expect to observe the opposite relation for men. Since, in Italy, men are expected to be a family's main provider, jobless men are more likely to exhibit stress and frustration (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; Kim & Luke, 2020), thereby generating relationship conflict which, in turn, increases the risk of separation. Moreover, as jobless men in a dominant male-breadwinner context do not comply with gender norms, they can therefore be considered unsuitable husbands, further increasing relational stress. Conversely, men with secure jobs are likely to form more stable relationships as they fit the role of an effective family provider. Therefore, I expect jobless men to more frequently experience union dissolution than permanently employed men (Hypothesis 1b).

2.2 Time-limited jobs

Likewise, I anticipate a different relationship between time-limited contracts for women and men (Hypothesis 2). In the Italian context, time-limited forms of employment could represent an unfortunate "solution" to preserve the malebreadwinner family system by allowing women to work and contribute to the household's income without undermining the male-breadwinner role thus complying with existing gender norms (Kim & Luke, 2020). Consequently, in line with the *gender stress mechanism* [described in Chapter 1, section 3.1], these women should face lower levels of relational stress than their permanently employed counterparts. Moreover, since time-limited jobs often confer little-to-no economic independence, and are characterized by certain degrees of uncertainty, I expect women with time-limited work contracts to face a high cost of divorce due to their economic dependence. It follows that women with time-limited jobs should be less likely to experience union dissolution than permanently employed women (Hypothesis 2a). In a similar vein, women engaged in time-limited employment are expected to be less reliant on their husbands' economic support, making them more likely to experience union dissolution than jobless women. Moreover, as timelimited contracts offer a more flexible employment status compared to permanent employment—and are therefore less disruptive of traditional gender norms—we anticipate the union dissolution risk of women with time-limited contracts to be inbetween their jobless and permanently employed counterparts (Hypothesis 2b).

Men with time-limited contracts, instead, do not conform to their bread-winner roles and may engender economic hardship and uncertainty for the future of their families. This can lead to high relational stress and exacerbate tensions within couples, resulting in their dissolution. Therefore, time-limited employed men are expected to be more likely to experience union dissolution than permanently employed men (Hypothesis 2c). However, men with time-limited employment can at least financially contribute to the household to a certain extent (and so slightly conform to their bread-winner roles), especially compared to jobless males. I thus expect the union dissolution risk of men with time-limited employment in-between their jobless and permanently employed counterparts (Hypothesis 2d).

2.3 Accumulation of employment instability

As observed in fertility research (Busetta et al., 2019; Özcan et al., 2010; Pailhé & Solaz, 2012), the role of employment instability is likely dependent on its accumulation over a life-course or, in the case of union dissolution, on the accumulation of employment instability over the time spent in a union (Hypothesis

3). Limited periods of joblessness or time-limited employment may in fact be a contingency, and thus, not necessarily influence union dissolution.

As for the previous hypotheses, I expect the effect to differ between genders. For women, the accumulation of jobless may increase economic dependence on their partners. Moreover, women in relationships who spend significant periods outside of the labor market could well be doing so out of a choice to dedicate more time to familial responsibilities. Consequently, we expect to observe a reduction in the risk of dissolution as time spent jobless increases (Hypothesis 3a). I expect a different association for the accumulation of time-limited jobs. While women engaged in time-limited work for a short period may not have the financial means with which to cope with a separation—especially compared with the permanently employed those working in time-limited jobs for a considerable time may reach sufficient economic independence relative to women who do not engage in paid work at all. Accordingly, I expect the accumulation of time-limited work to gradually increase women's dissolution risk (Hypothesis 3b).

For men, a brief (or relatively short) length of time spent jobless or in unstable employment may be insufficient to generate significant levels of stress within a couple or to be reflective of their unsuitability as partners. However, prolonged employment instability is likely to exacerbate relationship tension and increase the risk of dissolution. Therefore, according to the amount of time spent in employment instability, the effect may not be monotonic (Hypothesis 3c).

Indeed, individuals with long spells of employment instability may be a very select group [see Chapter 1, section 2.5]. For instance, women employed for less than half of the relationship may be a select, and more traditionally-minded, cluster, thereby less likely to dissolve a union (Vignoli et al., 2018). Similarly, men may experience long spells of unemployment due to their suffering from mental disorders or depression, which may also make them undesirable partners. Therefore, as I cannot control for the reason beyond the accumulation of unstable employment spells [see Chapter 4 on data and methods], I can only aim to uncover its potential association with union dissolution. A more formal test would necessarily require richer longitudinal data that are—as yet—unavailable for Italy.

2.4 Changes across cohorts

I expect gender differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution to gradually diminish across cohorts (Hypothesis 4).

Because women's desires and aspirations are changing, and because the modern economy requires both partners to work, the economic role of women has not only become more established but also constitutes an important source of income for families in recent cohorts. Therefore, as observed in the 'trendsetters' Scandinavian countries (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003), the relation between women's employment instability and union dissolution in recent cohorts may well have become more similar to that described for men (Hypothesis 4a).

On the other hand, because women more actively contribute to a family's economic status, the uncertainty and economic hardship generated by men's employment instability should be less significant in recent generations. Hence, I expect the disruptive effect of employment instability to reduce in magnitude across cohorts (Hypothesis 4b).

2.5 Marriage and cohabitation

Previous studies have reported that in countries where cohabitation continues to be a marginal phenomenon (as in Italy), cohabiting couples are often a self-selected group rejecting the traditional view of marriage, including its gendered division of labor. By contrast, married couples are likely to display more traditional family attitudes (Liefbroer & Dourleijn, 2006; Meggiolaro & Ongaro, 2019; Perelli-Harris et al., 2014).

Therefore, gender differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution are expected to be less pronounced in cohabiting couples (Hypothesis 5). In particular, similarly to what hypothesized for changes across cohorts, for cohabiting women employment instability is expected to generate stress as it does for men (Hypothesis 5a), while for cohabiting men the stress mechanism is expected to be less marked (Hypothesis 5b).

3. Empirical analysis

3.1 The gendered effect of joblessness and time-limited employment

As a first descriptive glance, Table 1 displays the time at risk, number of dissolutions, and absolute monthly risk of experiencing union dissolution for each employment category and contract type, separately for women and men. For women, the category with the highest rate of union dissolution is time-limited employment, followed by permanent employment, with joblessness displaying the lowest rate. We observed an opposite pattern for men: the category with the highest dissolution rate is jobless, closely followed by time-limited employment, while permanent and self-employment have the lowest rates. However, these differences may be constituted by compositional effects that must be controlled for in a multivariable analysis.

01 001101 000				
Employment	Person-	Dissolutions	Absolut	95% Confidence
status and type	months		monthly risk	Interval
of contract			per 1000	
WOMEN				
Permanent	634,936	585	0.9	0.0009 0.0010
Jobless	848,766	391	0.5	0.0004 0.0005
Time-limited	99,033	110	1.1	0.0009 0.0013
Self-employed	164,617	123	0.8	0.0006 0.0009
Total	1,747,352	1,209	0.7	0.0007 0.0007
MEN				
Permanent	782,506	606	0.8	0.0007 0.0008
Jobless	164,420	194	1.2	0.0010 0.0014
Time-limited	79,505	89	1.1	0.0009 0.0014
Self-employed	334,063	266	0.8	0.0007 0.0009
Total	1,360,494	1,155	0.9	0.0008 0.0009

 Table 1: Exposure time and risk of dissolution by employment status and type of contract

		WOMEN		MEN				
		(1)			(1)			
VARIABLES	RR	Robust	P-val	RR	Robust	P-val		
		s.e.			s.e.			
Years since union								
formation								
1-3	1			1				
4-7	1.52	0.172	0.000	1.33	0.134	0.005		
8-14	1.53	0.184	0.000	1.26	0.148	0.048		
15-20	1.54	0.237	0.005	1.43	0.220	0.021		
20+	1.04	0.177	0.798	0.81	0.150	0.264		
Dogion								
Nouth	1			1				
North	1 00	0.004	0.065	1 1 10	0 106	0.200		
Center	1.00	0.094	0.903	1.10	0.100	0.309		
South	0.80	0.075	0.010	0.81	0.070	0.025		
Cohort								
1950-1959	1			1				
1960-1969	1.62	0.175	0.000	1.76	0.185	0.000		
1970-1986	2.22	0.250	0.000	1.94	0.222	0.000		
Cababitation	2 80	0.269	0.000	166	0.420	0.000		
Conaditation	3.07	0.308	0.000	4.00	0.429	0.000		
Children								
Childless	1			1				
1 age 0-6	0.55	0.066	0.000	0.39	0.048	0.000		
1 age 7+	0.89	0.124	0.412	0.70	0.112	0.025		
2 youngest 0-6	0.45	0.066	0.000	0.29	0.047	0.000		
2 youngest 7+	0.63	0.097	0.003	0.56	0.090	0.000		
3 or more	0.44	0.088	0.000	0.36	0.078	0.000		
Senarated narents	1 63	0 196	0.000	1 17	0 165	0.255		
Separateu parents	1.05	0.170	0.000	1.17	0.105	0.235		
At least one parent	1.13	0.108	0.215	1.46	0.145	0.000		
is highly educated								
Education								
None or elementary	1			1				
Lower secondary	1.46	0.277	0.048	1.47	0.271	0.036		
Upper secondary	1.67	0.319	0.008	1.39	0.256	0.075		
Tertiary	1.68	0.345	0.011	1 31	0.272	0.199		
	1.00	0.010	0.011	1.51	0.272	0.177		

 Table 2: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Piecewise constant exponential model

Employment						
status and type of						
contract						
Permanent	1			1		
Jobless	0.74	0.069	0.001	1.58	0.170	0.000
Time-limited	1.23	0.159	0.106	1.37	0.195	0.028
Self-employed	1.09	0.132	0.497	1.01	0.099	0.925
Observations	202,619			160,087		
Individuals	6,612			5,901		
Dissolutions	1,209			1,155		

Note: In bold p<0.10

Table 2 displays an event history piecewise constant exponential model for women and men. The model parameters, produced as maximum-likelihood estimates, are shown in the form of relative risks. The models include all the individual-level control variables described in chapter 4 and the time-varying indicator of employment status and contract type.

Analyzing the results of Table 2, we note the confirmation of hypotheses 1–1b. The relation between joblessness and union dissolution is in fact opposite for women and men (Hypothesis 1); specifically, joblessness in women is associated with a 26% lower risk of dissolution compared with permanent employment (Hypothesis 1a), while this risk is 58% higher for men (Hypothesis 1b). Moreover, for men, time-limited employment is associated with a 37% higher risk of union dissolution, whereas the effect was not statistically precise for women. These findings offer support for hypotheses 2c and 2d, as time-limited employment for men is associated with a higher risk of union dissolution relative to permanent employment (Hypothesis 2c), but lower than joblessness (Hypothesis 2d). Such results highlight the importance of distinguishing between time-limited and permanent employment contracts when studying men's union dissolution. Hypotheses 2a and 2b, however, are unsupported in that we found no clear effects for women—the risk of union dissolution for time-limited employed women is not statistically different from permanent employees.



Figure 1: Predicted survival curves by employment status and type of contract for women and men¹⁹

To provide a more substantive interpretation of the results, Figure 1 shows predicted survival curves for jobless, permanent, and time-limited employed women and men. The difference in the estimated share of those still in a union after 10 years (or, 120 months) between jobless and permanently employed women is approximately 2 percentage points, namely 96% and 94%, respectively. After 20 years (240 months), the difference increases to roughly 3 percentage points, with a share of 91% and 88%, respectively. Conversely, for men, the difference in the estimated share of those still in a union after 10 years between jobless and permanently employed is approximately 3 percentage points, with 91% of jobless men still in a union compared with 94% of permanently employed men. After 20 years, the difference rises to 6 percentage points, namely 89% and 83%, respectively. The estimated share of time-limited employed men still in a union after 10 and 20 years lies in between, and is closer to joblessness than to permanent employment, namely 92%

¹⁹ Source: Own computation of Istat survey data "Family and Social Subjects and life cycle" of 2016. Based on model 1. Note: predicted values for employment status and type of contract with all other covariates set at their mean value.

after 10 years and 85.5% after 20 years. The difference in the estimated share of time-limited and permanent employed men still in a union is 2 percentage points after 10 years, and 3.5 percentage points after 20 years.

3.2 The accumulation of joblessness and time-limited employment

Table 3 displays two event history models, separately for women and men. Model 1 measures employment instability through the two cumulative indicators on the percentage of time in the relationship time spent jobless and in time-limited employment. Model 2, instead, includes simultaneously the variable on employment status and type of contract, and those on the accumulation of employment instability, to assess the each's importance conditional on the others.

Analyzing model 1 for women, it can be noted that the accumulation of joblessness is linked to a lower risk of union dissolution. Relative to continuously employed women, the risk of union dissolution is 48% lower for women jobless for up to 25% of the union, and 38% lower for women outside of the labor force for over half of their union. Thus, women with spells of joblessness experience a lower risk of union dissolution compared to those in continuous employment. However, in contrast to Hypothesis 3a, the risk of union dissolution seems to slightly increase (instead of decrease) in line with time spent jobless in the relationship. Increasing the time spent in time-limited jobs is also associated with a gradual rise in women's risk of union dissolution, to the extent that women who engage in time limited jobs for over one fifth of the relationship are approximately 60% more likely to experience union dissolution than those who have never worked time-limited jobs. In line with Hypothesis 3b, this result could be explained by the fact that, for women, working in time-limited jobs for considerable periods of time may actually increase their economic independence compared with women who do not engage in paid work at all. These results suggest that, for Italian women, there is no clear difference in the association between permanent and time-limited contracts and union dissolution. Rather, whether a woman is employed or not is the more salient factor.

As hypothesized, short periods of joblessness for men are instead associated with a lower risk of union dissolution, corresponding to a 45% risk reduction for those without a job for up to 25% of the relationship. However, men out of work for over half of their relationship can expect a 69% increase in the risk of union dissolution compared to those who never experience periods of joblessness. Thus, these results suggest that a considerable accumulation of joblessness for men is extremely detrimental for relationships. It can be observed a similar non-monotonic tendency for the accumulation of time-limited employment—which initially causes a 55% risk reduction, followed by a 43% increase of the risk of dissolution after spending over 20% of the relationship in time-limited jobs.

Figure 2: Coefficients plots for women and men according to the accumulation of joblessness and time-limited work over the relationship²⁰



²⁰ Source: Own computation of Istat survey data "Family and Social Subjects and life cycle" of 2016. Based on model 2.

Model 2 includes all variables simultaneously. The results did not substantially differ from those presented in models 1 and 2. Generally, and in line with Hypothesis 3, the relation between employment instability and union dissolution seems to depend also on the former's accumulation over the time spent in the relationship. However, more information about the factors beyond these periods of joblessness—i.e., whether it is voluntary or not—would be beneficial to more deeply explain these findings. In figure 2 are shown the coefficient plots, based on model 2 of table 3, for the variables of accumulation of joblessness and time-limited work for women (marked with a circle, in dark grey) and men (marked with a square, in light gray).

			WON	IEN				ME	N			
		(1)			(2)			(1)			(2)	
VARIABLES	RR	Robust	P-val	RR	Robust	P-val	RR	Robust	P-val	RR	Robust	P-val
		s.e.			s.e.			s.e.			s.e.	
Employment status												
and type of contract												
Permanent				1						1		
Jobless				0.69	0.104	0.014				1.13	0.244	0.580
Time-limited				0.87	0.161	0.448				1.18	0.272	0.467
Self-employed				1.10	0.135	0.436				0.96	0.095	0.696
% of relationship												
jobless												
Never jobless	1			1			1			1		
Up to 25%	0.52	0.053	0.000	0.54	0.055	0.000	0.55	0.052	0.000	0.54	0.052	0.000
25% to 50%	0.56	0.078	0.000	0.63	0.093	0.002	0.80	0.141	0.207	0.76	0.148	0.162
More than 50%	0.62	0.063	0.000	0.84	0.131	0.271	1.69	0.193	0.000	1.52	0.338	0.058
% of relationship in												
time-limited jobs												
Never time-limited	1			1			1			1		
Up to 10%	0.57	0.094	0.001	0.57	0.094	0.001	0.45	0.135	0.008	0.44	0.132	0.006
10% to 20%	0.83	0.186	0.409	0.83	0.190	0.417	0.67	0.206	0.196	0.65	0.199	0.163
More than 20%	1.60	0.166	0.000	1.69	0.245	0.000	1.43	0.179	0.004	1.29	0.251	0.187
Individuals	6,612						5,901					
Dissolutions	1,209						1,155					

Table 3: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Piecewise constant exponential model

Note: in bold p<0.10 Controlled for all variables included in table 2.

3.3 Changes across cohorts

Figure 3 displays two Kaplan-Meier survival estimates for the three studied cohorts of 1950-1959, 1960-1969, 1970-1986, respectively for women and for men. Without accounting for other covariates, the survival rate decreases across cohorts, meaning that more recent cohorts are much more likely to dissolve their unions, for both women and men. After 20 years (240 months) of relationship, about 7% of women and 9% of men in the 1950-1959 cohort had dissolved their first union, whilst in the youngest cohort, the percentage who had dissolved their union in the first 20 years was about 25% and 27%, respectively, for women and men. Therefore, there is a noticeable increasing tendency to dissolve the first union across generations.





²¹ Source: Own calculations on data from the Istat "Family and Social Subjects and life cycle" survey of 2016. Not controlled for other variables.

		WOMEN			MEN	
VARIABLES	RR	Robust	P-val	RR	Robust	P-val
		s.e.			s.e.	
Cohort* Permanent						
1950-1959	0.65	0.099	0.005	0.62	0.087	0.001
1960-1969	1			1		
1970-1986	1.13	0.143	0.349	1.17	0.145	0.204
Cohort 1950-1959						
Permanent	1			1		
Jobless	0.59	0.107	0.003	1.20	0.283	0.445
Time-limited	0.64	0.221	0.194	1.25	0.393	0.470
Self-employed	0.84	0.223	0.520	1.04	0.198	0.839
Cohort 1960-1969						
Permanent	1			1		
Jobless	0.62	0.095	0.002	2.00	0.334	0.000
Time-limited	1.12	0.256	0.609	0.59	0.187	0.094
Self-employed	0.93	0.192	0.734	1.17	0.175	0.282
Cohort 1970-1986						
Permanent	1			1		
Iobless	0.91	0 1 1 9	0.481	1 45	0.236	0.022
Time-limited	1 51	0.117	0.401	1.40	0.230	0.022
Self-employed	1.31	0.201	0.010	0.85	0.520	0.001
Sen-employed	1.54	0.230	0.120	0.05	0.141	0.515
Observations	202,619			160,087		
Individuals	6,612			5,901		
Dissolutions	1,209			1,155		

 Table 4: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men, differences across cohorts. Piecewise constant exponential model.

Note: In bold p<0.10. Controlled for all variables included in Table 2.

The aim of this section is to understand whether the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution has changed across generations. This goal is pursued in Table 4, which accounts for the interaction between cohort and employment instability in a multi-variable framework, while controlling for the set of covariates presented in Table 2 (not shown).

PhD dissertation, Elena Bastianelli

In Table 4, the relative risk for the different cohorts refers to the reference category, i.e. permanently employed persons. Relatively to the 1960-1969 cohort, for permanently employed women, the risk of dissolving the first union is 35% lower for the 1950-1959 cohort, and 13% higher (but not statistically significant) for the 1970-1986 cohort. Similarly, for permanently employed men the risk of dissolving the union is 38% lower for the oldest cohort and 17% higher (again not statistically significant) for the youngest cohort, relatively to permanently employed men born between 1960 and 1969.

By contrast, the difference in the risk of union dissolution between permanently employed and jobless women seems to decrease across generations. In the oldest cohort, jobless women have a 41% lower risk of dissolving their union compared to permanently employed women. Similarly, in the following cohort, the risk is 38% lower, and, in the most recent cohort, the risk is 8% lower, and not statistically different from that of permanently employed women in the same cohort. For men, the risk of dissolving the union for the 1960-1969 cohort is more than twice that for permanently employed men in the same birth cohort, while the risk is only 47% higher for jobless men in the youngest cohort. These results seem to confirm theories predicting that, in more recent cohorts, gender differences in the relationship between joblessness and union dissolution gradually converge (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003).

A similar pattern emerges for women with time-limited employment. For the first two cohorts, there are no significant differences between women in permanent and those in time-limited employment. For the youngest cohort of women, however, time-limited employment is associated with an approximately 50% higher risk of union dissolution relatively to permanent employment. As regards joblessness, these results confirm theories predicting a shift in the role of employment instability for younger generations of women, which is expected to be more similar to what is observed for men. Younger generations of women are likely to give more importance to their working careers, and their salaries are expected to contribute to the household income. Hence their employment instability may engender stress in the couple just like that of men (Hansen, 2005). Also for men,

however, estimates are significant only for the youngest cohort. Nevertheless, when interpreting changes in the role of time-limited employment across generations it is important to bear in mind that time-limited employment was only introduced in the 1980s, and the main measures for labor-market deregulation/segmentation were enacted in the late 1990s and early 2000s with the 'Treu Law' (L.196/1997), and the following 'Biagi Law' (L.30/2003). Therefore, the three cohorts have been affected by time-limited employment in a very different way.

3.4 Marriage-cohabitation differentials

Both married and cohabiting couples are included in the analysis as younger couples—overrepresented in unstable jobs—are usually more likely to cohabit rather than marry directly, or even marry at all (Manning, 2020; Vignoli et al., 2016). However, previous studies have reported that in contexts where cohabitation continues to be a marginal phenomenon (as is the case in Italy), cohabiting couples are often a self-selected group breaking the traditional view of marriage, including its gendered division of labor (Liefbroer & Dourleijn, 2006; Meggiolaro & Ongaro, 2019; Perelli-Harris et al., 2014).

Therefore, I re-estimated model 1, augmented with an interaction term between union type and employment arrangements displayed in Table 5. Results are substantially the same, but with one exception. In contrast to married women, for cohabiting women, both joblessness (despite not significant at the 5% level) and time-limited employment are associated with a higher risk of dissolution—just as with men. Therefore, the stabilizing effect of women's joblessness over their unions is driven by married women—consistent with the fact that they are likely to display more traditional family attitudes compared to their cohabiting counterparts. These results are consistent with the hypothesis 5a, postulating that for cohabiting women employment instability is expected to generate stress as it does for men. However, in contrast with hypothesis 5b, I do not find the stress mechanism to be less marked for men in cohabiting couples (Hypothesis 5b). For cohabiting men, which should embrace less traditional values, being jobless seems to be as stressful as for married men. Nevertheless, research finds that attitudes about men's economic roles have been slower to change than attitudes about women's economic roles (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; Knight and Brinton 2017), therefore, changes may still be ongoing and thus may appear in a later stage.

Table 5:	Relative	risk	of union	diss	olution	for	women	and men,	differences
between	married	and	cohabiti	ng o	couples.	Pie	ecewise	constant	exponential
model.									

	,	WOMEN		MEN			
VARIABLES	RR	Robust	P-val	RR	Robust	P-val	
		s.e.			s.e.		
Married*Permanent	1			1			
Cohabiting*Permanent	2.73	0.334	0.000	4.8 7	0.585	0.000	
Married * Permanent	1			1			
Married * Jobless	0.58	0.061	0.000	1.38	0.204	0.032	
Married * Time-limited	0.96	0.164	0.821	1.31	0.264	0.173	
Married * Self-employed	0.91	0.130	0.511	1.20	0.137	0.116	
Cohabiting * Permanent	1			1			
Cohabiting * Jobless	1.33	0.219	0.086	1.76	0.274	0.000	
Cohabiting * Time-limited	1.82	0.371	0.003	1.40	0.285	0.095	
Cohabiting * Self-	1.50	0.334	0.068	0.76	0.127	0.102	
employed							
Observations		,	202,619			160,087	
Individuals			6,612			5,901	
Dissolutions			1,209			1,155	

Note: In bold p<0.5. Controlled for all variables included in table 2.

4. Cause-effect ambiguity

In this chapter, I have relied on the observed order of events (e.g., employment exit and union dissolution). It is worth considering that such a strategy may lead to an upward bias in the effect of women's employment on the risk of union dissolution if women increase their involvement in the labor market as a direct response to a decline in their relationship satisfaction and fear of union disruption [see Chapter 1, section 2.5] (Oppenheimer, 1988; Özcan & Breen, 2012; Vignoli et al., 2018). Support for such anticipatory adjustments can be found in the empirical literature for Italy (Vignoli et al., 2018).

Thus, as a sensitivity check, shown in table 6, I re-estimated a set of models excluding those women who entered the labor market during the three years preceding union disruption. While the results are substantially unchanged after excluding these cases, the estimated relative risk for jobless women is no longer statistically different from the permanently employed (it is only significant when considering the 10% level.). This change suggests that it is likely that few women unsatisfied with their current relationships entered the labor market with a view to possible separation. Thus, without claiming causation, results indicate a statistical association between women joblessness and union dissolution.

VARIABLES	RR	Robust s.e.	P-value
Years since union			
formation			
1-3	1		
4-7	1.56	0.192	0.000
8-14	1.61	0.207	0.000
15-20	1.67	0.270	0.001
20+	1.10	0.197	0.582
Region			
North	1		

Table 6: Relative risk of union dissolution for women, excluding those who started a new job within 3 years before the end of the union. Piecewise constant exponential model

Center South	0.98 0.77	0.099 0.077	0.840 0.010
		0.077	01010
Cohort	1		
1950-1959	1 1 57	0 177	0.000
1900-1909	2.16	0.177	0.000
1970 1900	2.10	0.230	0.000
Cohabitation	3.94	0.399	0.000
Children			
Childless	1		
1 age 0-6	0.55	0.069	0.000
1 age 7+	0.88	0.128	0.375
2 youngest 0-6	0.44	0.069	0.000
2 youngest 7+	0.59	0.096	0.001
3 or more	0.43	0.089	0.000
Separated parents	1.44	0.192	0.006
At least one parent is highly educated	1.15	0.117	0.163
Education			
None or elementary	1		
Lower secondary	1.64	0.332	0.015
Upper secondary	1.84	0.376	0.003
Tertiary	1.92	0.420	0.003
Employment status and			
type of contract			
Permanent	1		
Jobless	0.92	0.089	0.383
Time-limited	1.15	0.171	0.351
Self-employed	1.12	0.145	0.383
Observations	200 502	200 502	200 502
Individuals	200,302 6 <i>1</i> 72	200,502 6 <i>1</i> 72	200,302 6 <i>A</i> 72
Dissolutions	1 069	1 069	1 069
	1,007	1,007	1,007

Note: In bold p<0.5

5. Conclusions

This chapter has addressed the relationship between individual-level employment instability and union dissolution. It has overcome several limitations of prior research by providing novel evidence through the lens of gender.

The results suggests that, even when analyzing recent data, the effect of employment instability on union dissolution is gender-specific. Joblessness is found to be a facilitator of men's dissolution and an inhibitor of women's dissolution. Moreover, men with time-limited contracts were found to have a far greater risk of dissolution than their permanently employed counterparts, while no clear pattern was found for women. Thus, these findings highlight the importance of distinguishing between time-limited and permanent employment, especially when studying the risk of union dissolution for men. For women, however, there seems to be no clear divide in the association between permanent and time-limited work contracts and union dissolution. The central factor is instead whether or not a woman is employed. In the Italian context, the gendered effect of employment instability on union dissolution is deeply rooted in marked gender differences in the allocation of time and responsibilities between paid and unpaid work. Employment instability renders women economically dependent on their husbands, contributing to a rise in the economic and social cost of divorce. On the other hand, men's employment instability probably generates relational stress when the male partner is the main income provider. Furthermore, in a dominant male-breadwinner context, men's employment instability clashes with prevailing gender norms, while women employment instability does not.

Moreover, the results show a non-monotonic relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. For women, the accumulation of periods of joblessness remains associated with a lower dissolution risk compared with that of women in continuous employment. However, a considerable accumulation of time spent in time-limited jobs is associated with a higher risk of union dissolution relative to those who have never worked in time-limited jobs. It can thus be argued that, for women, working in time-limited jobs for a considerable amount of time

128

may increase economic independence relative to those who do not engage in paid work at all. For men, instead, the initial effect of employment instability appears to be a rise in the cost of divorce, thereby substantially reducing the risk of dissolution. Only when the persistence of employment instability reaches a certain level does relational stress emerge and increase the risk of dissolution. In particular, a large accumulation of joblessness for men appears to be especially detrimental for relationships. Overall, a 'J-shaped' association emerges between instability of employment careers and union dissolution. It seems clear that individuals with accumulated employment instability are, in all probability, highly selected.

Moreover, both the negative and positive associations between women and men joblessness and union dissolution appear to become weaker across generations, in line with the idea that the gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution should gradually converge across generations, which should become more egalitarian in terms of division of paid work (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Oppenheimer, 1994).

Finally, this chapter has proved that when both marriages and non-marital cohabitations are included in the analysis, it is important to consider differences and individual selection in these two types of union, since the stabilizing effect of women's employment instability on their unions has been found to be entirely driven by married women – consistently with the fact that they are likely to display more traditional family attitudes compared to their cohabiting counterparts (Perelli-Harris et al., 2014).

The chapter offers two novel findings. First, it is shown – for the first time for Italy, at least – that time-limited employment arrangements negatively impact on a couple's stability. Second, the study has been a first attempt to include a measure of persistence of employment instability in the study of union dissolution. However, more information on joblessness is needed to deepen the understanding of this relationship – i.e., whether it is voluntary or involuntary – or more income data in order to measure the individual capacity to cope with employment instability.

CHAPTER 5

Employment shortage and instability and couples' breakups

1. Introduction

Research on employment instability and union dissolution often fails to take account of the fact that employment instability may also be conceptualized as a macro-level phenomenon (Sobotka et al., 2011). Regardless of individual employment status and type of contract, the employment context gives positive or negative information about the availability of jobs in the local labor market, which may influence individuals' decisions about whether or not to separate (Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). As a matter of fact, individuals' decisions depend not only on current conditions but also on the perception of present and future economic circumstances, and contextual macroeconomic conditions may inform such perceptions (Comolli, 2021; Kreyenfeld 2010; Kreyenfeld Andersson, & Pailhé 2012). Just like at the micro-level, in principle, the association between macro-economic conditions and union dissolution may be either positive or negative. Macro-level employment shortage and instability may reflect the general uncertainty felt by people in times of high unemployment and precariousness (Bloom, 2014; Kreyenfeld et al., 2012; Sobotka et al., 2011). Individuals' perceptions of the broader macro-economic climate may translate into micro-level feelings of uncertainty regarding negative economic prospects, engendering anxiety and depression (Schneider, 2015; Sobotka et al., 2011; Vignoli, Bazzani, et al., 2020; Vignoli, Guetto, et al., 2020b) which may heighten the relational stress, and thus increase the risk of dissolution (in line with the *relational stress hypothesis*) (Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). On the other hand, however, the feelings of future economic uncertainty engendered by the lack of stable job opportunities may act as a structural constraint and constitute a barrier to union dissolution by increasing the actual of perceived economic cost of dissolving the current union (as postulated by *the cost of divorce hypothesis*) (Amato & Beattie, 2010).

Empirical research on the relationship between macro-economic conditions and union dissolution has found evidence for both perspectives. While most studies have focused on union dissolution at the macro-level (i.e. divorce rates), to my knowledge only a handful of studies (i.e. Fischer & Liefbroer,2006; Cohen,2014; Solaz et al., 2020, adopt a micro-macro approach and analyze the relation between macro-level economic conditions and the individual risk of separation, with mixed findings [see Chapter 1, sections 2.6 and 2.7].

Most studies accounting for the role of the employment context focus on the change in local employment opportunities. They therefore analyze unemployment rates (Amato & Beattie, 2010; Cohen, 2014; Schaller, 2013; Solaz et al., 2020). Nevertheless, in recent years, and particularly in the aftermath of the Great Recession, unemployment alone has no longer been sufficient to capture the effects of an increasingly turbulent and uncertain economic climate. It is necessary also to consider the level of stability of the employment available within a given geographical area, which is not reflected in the unemployment rate. In fact, employment; it also depends on the quality of accessible employment (Bausman & Goe, 2004; Cabrales & Hopenhayn, 1997; Wenger & Kalleberg, 2006). In this chapter, therefore, the economic environment is characterized by the unemployment rate but also by the extent of job instability, which may potentially influence union dissolution.

Furthermore, it is crucial to consider that context and individual position interact with each other, and that the macro-level employment context may differently affect individuals with different employment status and contract, type of union (cohabitation vs. marriage), and gender (Clark et al., 2010; Oesch & Lipps, 2013; Schneider & Hastings, 2015). Individuals differing in these characteristics may indeed experience a different level of stress and divorce cost. Therefore, the introduction of these dimensions helps to better explain the predominance of the relational stress or cost of divorce mechanism.

This chapter analyzes the relationship between macro-level employment conditions - i.e. employment **shortage** and **instability**, and union dissolution - by considering its variations across:

- (i) individual employment instability,
- (ii) type of union,
- (iii) and gender.

Moreover, the economic literature reports an array of evidence showing that uncertainty increases strongly in recessions, at both the macro and micro levels (Bloom, 2014; Storesletten et al., 2004). Thus, the chapter analyzes whether the association between employment shortage and instability and union dissolution has changed because of the increasing levels of uncertainty brought about by the **Great Recession**. The shock provoked by the Great Recession may have substantially increased the cost of divorce, influencing the relationship between the employment context and union dissolution (Amato & Beattie, 2010) [see Chapter 1, section 2.6].

In the present chapter, employment shortage and instability are quantified with two macro indicators respectively measuring the percentage of unemployment at the regional (NUTS-2) level, and the incidence of time-limited employment in total employment at the regional (NUTS-2) level. Finally, to characterize the economic context better, and in an attempt to disentangle the effects of macro-level employment uncertainty and economic hardship, the analysis adds a control for yearly regional GDP per capita in order to capture contingent regional growth not yet transformed into occupation. The analysis is restricted to the period between 2000 and 2016 because the regional level indicator on temporary work is available only for that timespan. Nevertheless, it was a period of high employment instability which also encompassed the Great Recession, and therefore provides an excellent opportunity to capture instability in local employment structures, and hence assess its relationship with union dissolution.

2. Research hypothesis

2.1 Employment context and union dissolution: relational stress or cost of divorce?

Employment shortage and instability - identified with regional unemployment rates, and the share of time-limited employment in total employment in the region - give negative information about the lack and instability of job opportunities in the local labor market, which may influence the individual choice of separation. The relational stress and cost of divorce hypothesis described in the previous chapter for the micro-level relationship can be transposed to the contextual level. As at the micro-level so at the contextual level, theory and empirical research predict and report evidence for the two contrasting mechanisms. On the one hand, the macroeconomic climate may generate micro-level feelings of uncertainty regarding economic prospects, which could possibly engender anxiety and depression in individuals (Schneider, 2015; Sobotka et al., 2011; Vignoli, Bazzani, et al., 2020; Vignoli, Guetto, et al., 2020b), which may increase the relational stress, and thus heighten the risk of dissolution (Relational stress hypothesis 1a) (Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). On the other hand, the lack of stable job opportunities, and the related feelings of economic uncertainty, may act as a structural constraint and constitute a barrier to union dissolution by increasing the actual and perceived economic cost of dissolving the current union (Cost of divorce hypothesis 1b) (Amato & Beattie, 2010). Therefore, to clarify this complex relationship, both hypotheses need to be tested in the Italian context (Hypothesis 1a vs. 1b).

2.2 Inhibiting or amplifying effect of employment shortage and instability on individual employment instability

Macro-level employment conditions may influence in different ways individuals with different employment statuses and types of contract. Extant literature reports two contrasting mechanism through which employment conditions may influence individuals with unstable job positions (Oesch & Lipps, 2013). On one hand, unfavorable employment conditions may operate through a sociological channel: if an unemployment crisis or time-limited employment hits many people in the community, the psychological cost of being unemployed or time-limited employed diminishes. The underlying idea is that in times of near full employment and large availability of stable job opportunities, being unemployed or in time-limited employment reflects negatively on an individual. Yet, in contexts with high level of unemployment and time-limited work opportunities, stigma and social disapproval for those with unstable careers should diminish. Following this perspective, employment instability should generate lower relational stress in context with more unstable employment conditions. On the other hand, however, the worsening of employment conditions may have the opposite impact on individuals with unstable employment: as regional unemployment or time-limited work increases, jobless and time-limited employed people may face ever bleaker labor market prospects (Oesch & Lipps, 2013). Such negative prospects may further rise the relational stress in the couple, increasing the risk of dissolution.

Hence, in principle, employment shortage and instability may either inhibit or amplify the effects of employment instability found at the micro-level. For women, unfavorable employment conditions are likely to *amplify* the individual-level relationship. Women dissatisfied with their union and with no job or a time-limited one may face a high level of uncertainty and be discouraged from ending their union by poor job prospects (Ruggles, 1997). Thus, employment shortage and volatility may further increase the *cost of divorce* for these women. By contrast, permanently employed women should still be able to afford union dissolution, nevertheless, they could still face uncertainty about their future job prospects. Therefore, unfavorable employment conditions, are expected to reduce the risk of union dissolution for jobless and time-limited employed women (Hypothesis 2a), while permanently employed women are likely to be less strongly influenced by the unfavorable employment context (Hypothesis 2b).

For men with unstable careers, employment shortage and instability may either *inhibit* or *amplify* the effects of employment instability found at the micro-level. On the one hand, an unfavorable employment context may *inhibit* the negative relationship between joblessness and time-limited employment and union dissolution. Adverse labor-market conditions may in fact forgo or postpone the separation until it becomes economically more affordable (Cherlin, 2009; Schaller, 2013) (Hypothesis 2c). On the other hand, they may *amplify* the micro-level mechanism, accentuating the relational stress (Oesch & Lipps, 2013), and therefore the risk of break-up, because the couple may feel trapped in those jobless or precarious circumstances. Thus, employment shortage and instability may cause jobless or time-limited employed men to face a 'double disadvantage' (Hypothesis 2d). Permanently employed men, instead, even in times of poor employment conditions, should be able to support the family, and should be less affected by changes in the employment context, despite, indeed, they may still feel insecure about their job prospects (Hypothesis 2e).

2.3. Employment context and type of union

Similarly, the employment context is expected to affect married and cohabiting couples in different ways. Adverse economic conditions may engender stress in a couple's life. However, whether this stress actually turns into dissolution of the union may also depend on the level of commitment of the partners. As anticipated in the previous chapters, marriage and cohabitation in Italy still differ substantially with respect to the level of commitment required (Manning, 2020; Vignoli et al., 2016). More committed married couples, although they are dissatisfied with their marriage, in a time of poor economic conditions may choose to stick together or at

least wait for the economic situation to improve. For cohabitors instead, it may be easier to end their relationship since they are not bound by legal marriage.

Moreover, union dissolution may be much more economically costly for married rather than cohabiting couples, so that their *cost of divorce* may substantially differ. Married couples usually make considerable economic investments in the marriage, and they probably own a house or have several mutual goods. Moreover, legal divorce procedures to dissolve the marital contract may be expensive. Instead, cohabiting couples, although they may own mutual goods and face relocation expenses, are likely to encounter a much lower *cost of divorce*.

It follows that, in conditions of employment shortage and instability, the cost of divorce mechanism may be predominant for married couples (Hypothesis 3a), while cohabiting couples may suffer from a greater relational stress (Hypothesis 3b).

2.4 Changes over time

As anticipated, research suggests that the *cost of divorce* has changed over time (Amato & Beattie, 2010; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). Consequently, the relationship between unemployment conditions and union dissolution may have changed as well. Also in this regard, however, the literature reports two contrasting hypotheses. On the one hand, the greater frequency of separation may have reduced the cost of separations both socially and economically (Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). From this perspective, in recent times the cost of divorce should be lower than it used to be, and therefore the relational stress mechanism may have been predominant in more recent years. On the other hand, however, the literature reports that the cost of divorce may have increased over time as people's standards of living have risen in Western societies, and divorce may be a greater threat to people's financial expectations (Amato & Beattie, 2010). The Great Recession and the consequent increasing economic uncertainty may have exacerbated the relational stress but also the costs related to separation. Therefore, the Great Recession may

have either an amplifying (Hypothesis 4a) or inhibiting (Hypothesis 4b) effect on union dissolution.

3. Empirical analysis

3.1 Employment shortage and instability and union dissolution

Table 1 displays an event history piecewise constant exponential model respectively for women and men. All models are controlled for region fixed-effects. The model parameters, produced as maximum-likelihood estimates, are shown in the form of relative risks. The models include all the individual-level variables described in Chapter 4, and, in the last part of the table, highlighted in gray, the time-varying indicators for individual employment instability, the indicators of employment shortage and instability, and the control for GDP per capita.

These estimates are slightly different from those shown in Chapter 4 because here the analysis is limited to the period 2000-2016. Nevertheless, at the individual level, joblessness is still associated with a lower risk of dissolution for women, and joblessness and time-limited employment with a higher risk of dissolution for men.

Controlling for all the individual and macro-level variables, it appears that when unemployment rises to 1% above its average, the risk of union dissolution decreases for both women and men by 7 and 9% respectively. The share of time-limited employment in total employment in the region seems to lead to similar results, and to be associated with a lower risk of dissolution of about 5% for both women and men. However, the estimates are significant only at the 10% alpha level for women, and not statistically precise for men. Finally, consistently with these results, in regions with greater economic prosperity, measured in GDP per capita, the risk of union dissolution is higher. On increasing GDP by 1000 euros, the risk of union dissolution increases by 16% for women and 18% for men. These results provide evidence for the *cost of divorce hypothesis* in the Italian context, i.e. unfavorable economic conditions act as a barrier to union dissolution by increasing its perceived and actual costs, thus confirming Hypothesis 1b. Regardless of the individual employment status and type of contract, the elevated relative costs, coupled with the feelings of uncertainty in regards to future employment and economic prospects, appear to prevent individuals from breaking up. Interestingly, differently from what was found at the individual level, at the macro-level employment instability has the same effect of reducing the risk of union dissolution for women and men.

		WOMEN	[MEN	
VARIABLES	RR	Robust	P-value	RR	Robust	P-value
		s.e.			s.e.	
Years since union						
formation						
1-3	1			1		
4-7	1.40	0.208	0.023	1.13	0.150	0.368
8-14	1.20	0.189	0.239	0.97	0.149	0.828
15-20	1.22	0.245	0.323	1.07	0.220	0.728
20+	1.05	0.260	0.833	0.72	0.183	0.196
NUTS-2 region	Yes			Yes		
Cohort						
1950-1959	1			1		
1960-1969	2.64	0.520	0.000	2.29	0.420	0.000
1970-1986	4.57	1.083	0.000	2.74	0.595	0.000
Type of union						
Marriage	1			1		
Cohabitation	3.67	0.428	0.000	3.79	0.417	0.000
Children						
Childless	1			1		
1 child age 0-6	0.56	0.086	0.000	0.35	0.055	0.000
1 child age 7+	0.91	0.155	0.599	0.58	0.106	0.003
2 youngest 0-6	0.48	0.085	0.000	0.22	0.043	0.000

 Table 1: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Piecewise

 constant exponential model

2 youngest 7+ 3+	0.66 0.47	0.120 0.111	0.022 0.001	0.48 0.33	0.086 0.083	$0.000 \\ 0.000$
Separated parents	1.57	0.220	0.001	1.18	0.202	0.321
At least one parent is highly educated	1.00	0.114	0.990	1.54	0.178	0.000
Education None or elementary	1			1		
Lower secondary Upper secondary Tertiary	1.25 1.35 1.52	0.359 0.391 0.461	0.436 0.306 0.172	1.09 1.02 0.89	0.253 0.240 0.233	0.710 0.917 0.656
Employment status and type of contract						
Jobless Time-limited Self-employed	1 0.65 1.28 1.17	0.079 0.206 0.172	0.000 0.130 0.290	1 1.46 1.56 0.98	0.190 0.257 0.116	0.004 0.007 0.860
% Regional unemployment	0.93	0.020	0.001	0.91	0.019	0.000
% Time-limited work in region	0.94	0.035	0.086	0.95	0.034	0.120
GDP per capita /1000	1.16	0.023	0.000	1.18	0.027	0.000
Observations Individuals Dissolutions	106,775 6,163 789			91,354 5,500 764		

Note: in bold p<0.10

3.2 Employment context and individual employment instability

Explored in this section is whether employment shortage and instability have a different impact on individuals with different employment statuses and types of contract. For this purpose, displayed in Table 2 are the interaction terms between individual employment status and type of contract and the regional unemployment rate (model 1), and between individual employment status and type of contract and share of time-limited work in the region (model 2). All models are controlled for the set of individual and macro-level control variables presented in Table 1.

The estimates for employment status and type of contracts are based on a context with average unemployment in models 1, and average share of time-limited work, in models 2. The relative risks for individual level employment instability remain substantially unchanged for both women and men.

By considering the interaction terms in models 1, one can determine that if the level of unemployment rises to 1% above its average, it is associated with a decrease in the risk of union dissolution for both women and men with all types of contracts. Thus, in contrast to my set of hypotheses 2 predicting a different impact of employment shortage on individuals with different employment status and gender, employment shortage hampers union dissolution for all women and men, regardless of their individual employment position.

Figure 1 displays the predicted hazard ratio of union dissolution for the interaction between unemployment rate and individual employment status and type of contract for women and men, respectively. From Figure 1 it can be clearly visualized the pattern described above. When the percentage of regional unemployment increases, the hazard of union dissolution decreases for all women and men. For all levels of unemployment, the hazard of union dissolution remains the lowest for jobless women and permanent employed men. Nevertheless, an interesting path emerges for men. At very high unemployment levels, the hazard of union dissolution for men with different types of contracts appears to converge. Hence, employment shortage acts as a barrier to union dissolution for all. However, the aggregate unemployment has a stronger moderating effect on the risk of divorce

among those with unstable employment (both jobless and with time-limited work). With rising regional unemployment, their risk of union dissolution converges to the lower risk of the permanently secure employed. Thus, higher aggregate unemployment rates attenuate the social norm of work, lowering the stigmatization of employment instability for men, and reducing the risk of union dissolution among the jobless and time-limited employees. This finding suggests that in contexts with high level of unemployment, stigma and social disapproval for those with unstable careers diminishes, in conformity with the hypothesis proposed by Oesch and Lipps (2013).



Figure 1: Predicted hazard ratio of union dissolution for women and men

The interaction terms between individual employment status and type of contract and the share of time-limited work in the region seem to point to similar conclusions. In regions with a higher share of time-limited work, the individual risk of union dissolution seems to be lower. However, most estimates are not statistically significant. Notably, the only statistically precise estimate obtained is for time-limited employed men, who see a reduction of about 10% in their risk of union dissolution as the share of time-limited employment rises above its average. This result might be explained by the fact that, despite time-limited jobs increase the risk of union dissolution for men, being in time-limited employment in a context where time-limited jobs are common it is a relatively less stressful experience, and therefore the associated relational stress, and risk of union dissolution is lower. Thus, for men I found evidence for the hypothesis claiming that if an unemployment crisis or time-limited employed or time-limited employed diminishes.

	WOMEN						MEN					
		(1)			(2)			(1)			(2)	
VARIABLES	RR	Rob.s.e.	P-val	RR	Rob.s.e.	P-val	RR	Rob.s.e.	P-val	RR	Rob.s.e.	P-val
Employment status and type												
of contract												
Permanent	1			1			1			1		
Jobless	0.59	0.071	0.000	0.64	0.075	0.000	1.45	0.190	0.005	1.45	0.186	0.004
Time-limited	1.19	0.203	0.300	1.26	0.202	0.154	1.52	0.257	0.014	1.54	0.246	0.007
Self-employed	1.14	0.174		1.16	0.169	0.312	1.03	0.123	0.792	0.98	0.114	0.869
Contract * %												
Unemployment												
Permanent * Unempl	0.95	0.024	0.038				0.91	0.020	0.000			
Jobless * Unempl	0.90	0.022	0.000				0.90	0.028	0.001			
Time-limited * Unempl	0.93	0.033	0.035				0.89	0.035	0.003			
Self-empl * Unempl	0.95	0.030	0.091				0.93	0.026	0.007			
Contract * % Time-limited												
Permanent * Time-limited				0.95	0.037	0.182				0.95	0.038	0.231
Jobless * Time-limited				0.91	0.045	0.068				0.93	0.045	0.156
Time-limited * Time-limit				0.95	0.055	0.337				0.89	0.052	0.050
Self-empl * Time-limited				0.95	0.046	0.314				0.96	0.040	0.343
% Regional unemployment				0.93	0.020	0.001				0.91	0.019	0.000
% Time-limited work in	0.93	0.035	0.075				0.94	0.034	0.112			
region												
Observations	106,775						91,354					
Individuals	6,163						5,500					
Dissolutions	789						764					

Table 2: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Interaction between employment status and type of contract and regional unemployment (1) and interaction between employment status and type of contract and share of time-limited work (2).

Note: in bold p<0.10. Controlled for all variables displayed in table 1.

3.3 Marriage-cohabitation differentials

Shown in Table 3 are the interactions between employment shortage and instability and type of union (cohabitation vs. marriage). The relative risks for the variable 'union type' are estimated in a context with average regional unemployment and share of time-limited work. Generally, unmarried cohabiting couples are more than 4 times at risk of union dissolution than married couples are.

On considering the interaction between regional unemployment and type of union, it is apparent that employment shortage has a moderating effect for married couples, being associated with a reduction in the risk of union dissolution of about 9% for women and 12% for men, in line with Hypothesis 3a.

For cohabiting couples, employment shortage also seems to slightly moderate the risk of union dissolution. However, the effects are smaller in magnitude, relatively to married women and men, and not statistically significant. Nevertheless, in contrast with Hypothesis 3b, at the macro-level employment shortage does not provoke relational stress for Italian couples.

Also on looking at the interaction between union type and the share of timelimited employment opportunities in the region, there is no evidence for the relational stress mechanism, and the cost of divorce mechanism seems to be predominant for both married and cohabiting couples. Nevertheless, in this case, the association is only statistically precise for cohabiting couples, which see a reduction of 8% (women) and 12% (men) in their risk of union dissolution. This result is consistent with the fact that individuals with time-limited jobs are generally over- represented in cohabiting couples (Manning, 2020; Vignoli et al., 2016). Hence, cohabitors may be strongly influenced by the spread of time-limited work. The results are therefore in line with Hypothesis 3a, given the predominance of the cost of divorce mechanism for married couples, while Hypothesis 3b is not confirmed because there is no evidence supporting the relational stress hypothesis for cohabiting couples.
	V	WOMEN			MEN	
VARIABLES	RR	Robust	P-	RR	Robust	P-
		s.e.	value		s.e.	value
Union type <i>Marriage</i> Cohabitation	1 4.28	0.556	0.000	1 4.55	0.541	0.000
Union type*%Unemployment						
Marriage * Unempl	0.91	0.022	0.000	0.88	0.020	0.000
Cohabitation * Unempl	0.97	0.030	0.382	0.96	0.028	0.207
Union type * % Time- limited Marriage * Time- limited	0.94	0.038	0.109	0.96	0.037	0.345
Cohabitation * Time-	0.92	0.045	0.078	0.89	0.042	0.017
limited GDP per capita /1000	1.16	0.023	0.000	1.18	0.027	0.000
Observations	106,775			91,354		
Individuals	6,163			5,500		
Dissolutions	789			764		

 Table 3: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Piecewise

 constant exponential model. Interaction between type of union and regional

 unemployment and type of union and share of time-limited work in region.

Controlled for all variables reported in table 1. In bold p<0.10

3.4 Changes over time

Period effects are shown in Table 4. In model 1, the effect of period is estimated only controlling for the time elapsed since the beginning of the union and regional fixed effects. Model 2 is controlled for all individual and macro-level variables displayed in Table 1, while included in model 3 are the interactions between employment shortage and instability and period. Without accounting for individual and macro-level characteristics, the risk of union dissolution has indeed increased over time for both women and men (model 1). Nevertheless, on controlling for individual and contextual variables influencing union dissolution (model 2), the period beginning with the Great Recession seems to be associated with a lower risk of dissolution for both women and men, suggesting that the cost of divorce increased in that period, confirming Hypothesis 4b.

Has the negative effect of employment shortage and instability on divorce increased due to the uncertainty brought about by the Great Recession? Shown in model 3 are the interaction terms, reporting the effects of a 1% increase in employment shortage and instability before and after 2007. Employment shortage and instability seem to be associated with a reduction in the likelihood of union dissolution in the same way before and after 2007.

		WOMEN												MEN	1			
VARIABLES		(1)			(2)			(3)			(1)			(2)			(3)	
	RR	s.e.	P-val	RR	s.e.	P-val	RR	s.e.	P-val	RR	s.e.	P-val	RR	s.e.	P-val	RR	s.e.	P-val
Period (Before 2007)	1			1			1			1			1			1		
After 2007	2.64	0.239	0.000	0.88	0.145	0.437	0.94	0.167	0.748	2.22	0.204	0.000	0.77	0.118	0.092	0.78	0.136	0.151
Period* % Unemployment Before 2007*unempl After 2007*unempl							0.91 0.95	0.028 0.023	0.001 0.025							0.92 0.92	0.026 0.026	0.004 0.001
Period* % Time- limited Before 2007* T-1 After 2007* T-1							0.94 0.93	0.052 0.041	0.297 0.118							0.88 0.99	0.044 0.043	0.010 0.735
GDP per capita /1000				1.18	0.036	0.000	1.19	0.038	0.000				1.24	0.042	0.000	1.27	0.045	0.000
% Regional Unemployment				0.93	0.020	0.001							0.91	0.019	0.000			
% Time-limited work in region				0.94	0.036	0.117							0.95	0.034	0.196			
Observations	106,	775								91,35	54							
Individuals	6,163	3								5,500	C							
Dissolutions	789									764								

Table 4: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Piecewise constant exponential model. Interaction between type of union and regional unemployment and type of union and share of time-limited work in region.

4. Conclusions

In this chapter I have analyzed the association between the employment context and union dissolution. Potentially, employment shortage and instability may either increase or reduce the risk of union dissolution, in line with the relational stress and cost of divorce perspectives, which can be extended to the macro-level. Through the analysis of two indicators of employment shortage and instability – identified with regional unemployment rates and the share of time-limited jobs in total employment in the region – and controlling for individual- and macro-level characteristics, this analysis furnishes novel evidence on the above association.

The results show that in the Italian context, and in the period observed, employment shortage and instability give negative information about the availability and quality of jobs in the local labor market which is likely to generate uncertainty about the future reducing the individuals' risk of separation. Thus, this chapter provides empirical evidence that at the macro-level the cost of divorce is the dominant mechanism. Interestingly, differently from what was found in Chapter 4 in regard to the individual-level relationship, at the macro-level employment instability has the same effect of reducing the risk of union dissolution for both women and men. For women, this result is in line with the effect found at the individual level: an unstable individual or contextual employment situation is linked with a high cost of divorce which in turn predicts lower chances of union dissolution. For men, instead, micro- and macro-level employment instability have an opposite relationship with union dissolution. Nevertheless, macro-economic conditions are not imputable to the individual and may therefore have a very different meaning and impact on individual feelings. Whilst at the micro-level a man's poor performance in the labor market may be a sign of his personal defeat, which may provoke high levels of stress or depression, or be linked to personal characteristics also related with his unsuitability as a partner, macro-level adverse economic conditions are structural barriers imposed by the labor market and the economic cycle which are not imputable to the individual but can generate feelings of uncertainty about the future. As such, individuals and their partners may prefer to wait for better economic conditions before they end their unions.

Moreover, the results show that employment shortage reduces the risk of union dissolution in a similar way for all women and men regardless of their individual employment status. However, for men, it appears that the aggregate unemployment has a stronger moderating effect on the risk of divorce among those with unstable employment. With rising regional unemployment, their risk of union dissolution converges to the lower risk of the permanently employed. Thus, higher aggregate unemployment rates lower the stigmatization of employment instability for men. Likewise, the diffusion of time-limited work appears to have a significant effect in reducing the risk of union dissolution only for time-limited employed men and cohabiting couples. Interestingly, this goes in contrast with the effects found at the micro-level in Chapter 4. At the individual level, time-limited employed is associated to a higher risk of union dissolution for men in general [see Chapter 4, section 3.1], and for both women and men in cohabiting couples [see Chapter 4, section 3.4]. Nevertheless, an increasing diffusion of time-limited work in the region of residence appears to moderate the perceived relational stress, slightly reducing their risk of union dissolution. Such results are in line with theories claiming that unfavorable employment conditions operate through a sociological channel. If unemployment and time-limited employment hit many people in the community, the psychological cost of employment instability diminishes. Hence, in contexts where unemployment and time-limited work are widely diffused, they may be linked to a relatively lower relational stress.

Finally, on accounting for individual and macro-level characteristics influencing union dissolution, it seems that, at least for men, in the period following the Great Recession the risk of union dissolution was lower than in the preceding period, suggesting that, for men, the cost of divorce has increased with the Great Recession. As economic conditions influence in the same way women and men, at the individual level, mechanisms related to women's and men's gender roles seem to be crucial and more decisive in predicting the risk of union dissolution. Therefore, to deepen this analysis, in the next chapter the context of union dissolution is further characterized in its gendered aspects.

CHAPTER 6

Societal gender equality, employment instability, and union dissolution

1. Introduction

In the previous chapters it was shown how individual employment instability has a different meaning for women's and men's partnership choices, with joblessness being associated with a reduction in the risk of union dissolution for women, and joblessness and time-limited employment with an increase in that risk for men. Nevertheless, in Chapter 5, I found that, at the macro-level, unstable employment conditions are associated with a reduction in the risk of union dissolution for both women and men, regardless of their individual employment status and type of contract. Thus, to explain gender differences in the individual-level relationship between employment instability and union dissolution it is necessary to consider different contextual dimensions.

Gender theories agree that the role played by women's and men's labor-market performance in the prediction of union dissolution is closely dependent on the gender culture in a society (Killewald, 2016; Oppenheimer, 1994), and in which phase of the gender revolution are situated [see Chapter 1, section 1.4 and 3.2]. The gender culture in a society defines normative expectations about men's and women's social roles. As discussed in Chapter 1 [section 1.4, 2.2 and 3.2], in male-breadwinner contexts, where women are expected to be mainly responsible for care and housekeeping and men for providing income, because women's participation in the labor market, and men's poor economic performance are in normative

conflict with gender norms of behavior, they can exacerbate discord in the couple and lead to a higher risk of separation (Killewald, 2016). By contrast, as societies become more egalitarian, women's employment and men's poor performance in the labor market should be less harmful for couple stability as they don't clash with prevalent gender norms (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Oppenheimer, 1994). Moreover, from an economic perspective [see Chapter 1, section 2.2], in maledominated labor markets, it is more difficult for women to find job opportunities allowing them to live independently, and thus women employment instability is linked to strong economic dependency on the man, and structural economic constraints. As the dual-earner model becomes the norms, however, dual earner couples, disposing of a greater joint income, should be less affected from a poor performance in the labor market of one of the partners and thus they should constitute more stable relationships (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003; Oppenheimer, 1994).

Therefore, in this chapter I analyze the extent to which gender differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution depend on the level of gender equality in the region. The level of gender equality in the region is here characterized through three dimensions of objective equality defined by gendered behaviors underlying the gender division of paid and unpaid work, and reconciliation policies. Women's participation in paid work is the first step towards a more egalitarian society because it gives women economic independence from the family. Nevertheless, gender equality is only achieved when women have equal opportunities as men, which imply an equal sharing of household responsibilities within couples, as well as the presence of reconciliation services to support the dualearner model [see Chapter 1, section 3.3].

These three dimensions of gender equality are measured here with three indicators: respectively, the percentage of dual-earner couples in the region; the symmetry in the division of domestic and care work among dual-earner couples; and the percentage of children aged between 0 and 3 years old attending childcare services [a more detailed description of the indicators is provided in Chapter 3, section 4.4]. These objective indicators provide a measure of the socio-cultural

embeddedness of women in paid work, men in unpaid work, and institutional support. The analysis considers differences in the likelihood of union dissolution between women and men with different employment statuses and types of contracts in contexts with low, mid, and high equality for each of the three indicators. The period covered extends from 2004 to 2016.

2. Research hypotheses

According to the literature presented in Chapter 1 [section 3.2], the level of gender equality in a region may alter the gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. Outlined in the present section are the expected mechanisms for each of the three indicators for the gender context.

2.1 Share of paid work

The gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution may depend on the prevalent model of division of paid work within couples. In contexts where the male-breadwinner is the predominant family model, generally, jobless women are economically dependent on their male partners, and their employment status is in line with their expected gender role. Hence it should not generate stress or tension in the couple. By contrast, permanently employed women are economically independent, and their role in the labor market does not fit with their expected gender role and may therefore threaten the couple's stability (Killewald, 2016). Women with time-limited jobs may be 'in between' because they could be partly economically independent, but their economic position should not be a threat to the male-breadwinner. However, as the share of dual-earner couples increases, and the dual-earner model becomes the one most widespread, permanently employed women are no longer in contrast with their normative gender role, and women's incomes should be as important for the economic sustenance of families as men's. Therefore, their employment instability may generate stress and tension in the couple just like that of men does (Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003). Yet, in contexts where most women are active in the labor market, some women may choose to end their relationship even if they are momentarily jobless, because they know that they can find a job (Ruggles, 1997). Therefore, in regions where the share of dual-earner couples is low – and the male-breadwinner is the most common family type – jobless and time-limited employed women are expected to be less likely to experience union dissolution than permanently employed women, while in regions where the dual-earner model is the most common arrangement, women without jobs, or with unstable jobs, should gradually experience a higher risk of union dissolution relatively to permanently employed women, and the relationship may even reverse (*Hypothesis 1a*).

By contrast, in regions where men are expected to be the main income providers, their employment instability corresponds to a lack of compliance with men's expected gender role and is therefore likely to undermine couple stability, whereas permanently employed men should be more stable partners (Killewald, 2016). Nevertheless, in regions where the dual-earner model is prevalent, theories predict that men's job instability should provoke less strain on families because the dyad can count on a second income (Oppenheimer, 1994). Thus, in regions with a low percentage of dual-earner couples, men's job instability is expected to be harmful for families, while in regions where the dual-earner model is the prevalent arrangement, the negative association between employment instability and union dissolution should gradually diminish (*Hypothesis 1b*).

2.2 Share of domestic and care work

The relationship between individual employment status and union dissolution may also depend on the prevalent model of the division of domestic and care work. In fact, many studies have identified the tension between the change in the economic role of women and the absence of change in men's domestic and care work as a fundamental gradient of marital disruption (Bellani et al., 2018; Breen & Cooke, 2005; Hochschild, 1989; Mencarini & Vignoli, 2018; Oláh & Gahler, 2014).

In contexts where the responsibility for household work is mainly placed on women, jobless women may easily fulfil their gender role within the family, and should therefore be the least likely to experience union dissolution. Conversely, permanently employed women are likely to carry the double burden of paid and unpaid work. The resulting lack of leisure and relationship time, stress, and feelings of injustice and resentment towards their husbands may increase the risk of union dissolution (Hochschild, 1989). Again, time-limited employed women may be found in between: their job position should enable them to combine work and family responsibility better than can permanently employed women. As it becomes common for men to participate in domestic and care work, permanently employed women should experience less work/family conflict, and consequently less risk of union dissolution. Therefore, in regions with low symmetry in the division of household work, jobless women are likely to face a much lower risk of union dissolution relatively to permanently employed women, and time-limited employed women to be in between. Instead, in regions with a relatively higher symmetry in the share of domestic and care tasks, differences in the risk of union dissolution between permanently employed and jobless and time-limited employed women should be less marked (Hypothesis 2a).

Similarly, men with unstable jobs in a context where men are only expected to contribute to family responsibilities economically are likely to experience a clash with their gender role, and thus, a high risk of union dissolution. By contrast, in contexts where it is acceptable for men to contribute to household work, their job instability should be less harmful for family life because they may still contribute to family needs in the household. Thus, in regions with low symmetry in the division of household work, men with unstable job careers should be much more likely to experience union dissolution than permanently employed men, while this gap is likely to reduce in regions where men participate more in domestic and care work (*Hypothesis 2b*).

2.3 Reconciliation policies

The dynamics between employment instability and union dissolution may also depend on the social policy context. In regions with scant provision of familyfriendly services, permanently employed women are likely to experience a strong conflict between paid and care work, which may intensify work/family tensions (Cooke et al., 2013; Vignoli et al., 2018). Women in time-limited employment should be better able than permanently employed women to combine work and family responsibility. As a matter of fact, time-limited employment has been also promoted as a means to help women to reconcile work and family responsibility (Naldini & Saraceno, 2011). Likewise, jobless women are likely to be less influenced by the lack of childcare services. Therefore, in regions with scant provision of family services, jobless and time-limited employed women should be less likely to experience union dissolution than permanently employed women. In regions with a relatively high provision of childcare services, instead, given the greater support for work/family reconciliation provided to employed women, the gap in the risk of union dissolution between permanent employed and jobless and time-limited employed women is expected to gradually reduce, and may even reverse (Cooke et al., 2013; Lappegård et al., 2020) (Hypothesis 3a).

Likewise, the presence of family services should reduce couples' conflict over the division of domestic and care labor, and it should therefore be beneficial for men's union stability as well. Moreover, policies to reconcile work and family should induce couples to adopt more gender symmetric arrangements (Esping-Andersen & Billari, 2015), which, in turn, should reduce the risk of union dissolution for men with unstable employment. Therefore, in contexts with a relatively high use of family services, the difference in the risk of union dissolution between permanently employed and jobless and time-limited employed men should diminish (*Hypothesis 3b*).

3. Empirical analysis

Presented in this section are the results of the empirical analysis. Sub-section 3.1 provides a descriptive analysis of the three regional indicators on the gender context and exposure time and risk of dissolution for each level of the gender context indicators. Then, set out in sub-section 3.2 are the results of the event history analysis.

3.1 Descriptive analysis

Tables 1, 2 and 3 display the values for the indicators on the percentage of dualearner couples, the symmetry in the division of care and domestic work, and the use of childcare facilities for each region and year [a more detailed description of the indicators is provided in Chapter 3, section 4.4]. In all three tables, highlighted in light grey are values which define contexts with relatively high gender equality, and in dark grey those defining contexts with low gender equality. Regions are ordered according to their macro-regional area, and dotted lines separate regions from the northern, central, and southern areas of the country.

From Table 1 it can be seen that the diffusion of the dual-earner model is still limited in Italy. Here, defined as a 'high diffusion' of the dual-earner model is when the percentage of dual-earner couples in the region is more than 55% of all couples. This target has only been reached by the following regions: Emilia Romagna since 2006, Trentino Alto Adige (Autonomous Provinces of Trento and Bolzano) since 2009, and Aosta Valley only in 2010 and 2014. A low presence of dual-earner couples is defined as being when the share of dual-earner couples is less than 25% of all couples. The southern regions of Campania, Apulia and Sicily are below this threshold for the whole period observed (except for Apulia in 2016, when it reached 25.3), and Calabria, which was slightly above this threshold before 2011 but belongs in this category between 2012 and 2016.

The index of asymmetry in the share of domestic and care work among dual-earner couples ranges from 65.3 to 85, meaning that no region has a symmetric share of household work. In all the regions and years analyzed women carry out more domestic duties than their male partners even when employed in the labor market. Here defined as a (relatively) high symmetry in domestic work is when women perform less than 67% of all domestic and care work. In this category are found the regions of Piedmont, Lombardy, Friuli and Umbria for the most recent period. A low symmetry is defined as when women perform more than 80% of all domestic and care tasks. Belonging in this category are the southern of regions Abruzzo, Campania and Apulia for the oldest period, and Campania, Apulia, Molise, Basilicata, Calabria, and Sicily for the following period.

Finally, shown in Table 3 is the percentage of children aged between 0 and 3 years old in the total number of children of the same age attending childcare facilities for each region and year. The percentages are quite low, suggesting that many mothers are probably out of the labor market at least until their children are 3 years old. Regions are defined as having a high use of childcare services when the percentage of 0-3 year-old children receiving childcare is above 20. This segment comprises the following regions: Aosta Valley, Emilia-Romagna, and Tuscany; Friuli, but only for the years 2010-2011 and from 2014 to 2016; and South Tyrol for 2015 and 2016. Low attendance is defined as when less than 5% of children aged below 3 years old attend childcare services. Again found in this category are the southern regions of Campania, and Calabria, Apulia and Sicily for several years, and Molise before 2008.

Overall, the selected indicators depict a scenario with still important gender inequalities, and with considerable regional differences, marked by a sharp north/south divide.

158

Table 1: % of dual earner couples in the region

	NUTS-2 Regions	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
	Piedmont	47.0	48.2	50.3	50.7	51.7	50.2	49.9	50.6	51.0	50.0	49.9	51.7	53.2
	Aosta Valley	52.0	52.0	52.0	52.0	52.0	52.0	56.0	54.2	54.2	50.0	56.5	52.2	52.2
	Lombardy	48.8	48.7	50.7	51.0	50.8	50.6	50.5	50.2	50.6	51.5	52.1	52.4	53.7
orth	Trentino-Alto Adige/South Tyrol	51.6	51.3	51.8	53.1	54.4	55.2	55.4	55.1	55.3	57.7	58.2	59.5	60.0
ž	Veneto	45.7	47.2	48.1	48.1	50.5	49.5	49.4	49.9	49.9	48.8	50.4	49.6	50.2
	Friuli	46.4	48.0	50.4	51.6	51.8	49.2	49.0	51.0	50.8	50.2	51.1	49.8	50.6
	Liguria	43.1	42.9	46.4	47.6	48.8	48.8	49.0	48.8	46.6	45.4	46.5	50.8	51.1
	Emilia-Romagna	54.3	54.7	56.2	57.5	57.3	56.2	54.9	55.9	56.0	55.1	54.9	55.2	58.0
e	Tuscany	48.0	48.0	49.3	49.9	50.7	49.7	49.1	48.4	50.3	51.3	51.7	53.6	54.5
ntre	Umbria	46.2	46.2	46.8	49.4	50.6	48.0	48.3	46.8	45.8	47.0	46.7	48.8	49.1
Ce	Marche	49.5	49.2	49.0	49.8	51.9	50.8	49.7	47.6	48.7	48.3	50.7	49.7	48.5
	Lazio	40.4	41.7	41.6	41.9	43.4	42.6	42.8	43.2	43.2	43.2	44.6	43.7	45.7
	Abruzzo	40.5	41.2	41.6	40.3	43.4	39.1	39.1	41.2	40.7	39.8	38.7	39.2	38.8
	Molise	34.9	33.3	33.9	36.1	37.1	35.5	33.9	33.3	33.9	31.7	32.2	35.0	35.6
	Campania	24.4	22.5	23.8	23.1	22.4	21.3	21.6	20.7	21.7	22.1	21.9	22.2	23.7
uth	Apulia	23.8	22.4	23.8	24.5	24.4	23.2	22.9	23.5	24.4	23.7	24.1	25.0	25.3
$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{O}}$	Basilicata	31.4	32.2	31.6	29.9	30.2	30.4	31.3	29.3	29.6	31.0	31.3	31.3	33.0
	Calabria	28.9	27.7	28.2	26.2	26.0	25.3	26.1	26.4	23.9	22.5	21.4	21.5	23.4
	Sicily	23.1	24.2	25.5	24.6	24.5	24.2	23.5	23.0	22.7	21.7	20.8	21.5	21.8
	Sardinia	32.0	31.5	32.0	33.9	33.8	32.5	32.6	35.2	34.6	31.2	30.4	33.8	35.1

Legend: Low $<\!25\%$ - High >55~%

Source: Labor Force Survey (LFS) Istat, own elaboration

	NUTS-2 Regions	2004-2006	2007-2011	2012-2016
	Piedmont	71.4	68.9	65.3
	Aosta Valley	73.9	78.4	71.7
	Lombardy	75	71.5	66.2
orth	Trentino-Alto Adige/South Tyrol	75	72.3	69.3
No	Veneto	71.4	70.5	67.5
	Friuli	72.6	68.9	66.6
	Liguria	75.7	72.8	71.1
	Emilia-Romagna	71.6	71.3	67.5
	Tuscany	73.9	74.1	67.6
ntre	Umbria	76.4	74.3	66.7
Ce	Marche	73.8	70.9	71.5
	Lazio	77.4	76.4	69.8
	Abruzzo	81.4	76.9	75.3
	Molise	78.5	79.9	73.5
	Campania	82.1	75	76.9
uth	Apulia	81.3	75.9	78.9
So	Basilicata	85	79.7	77.7
	Calabria	80.6	81.8	75.9
	Sicily	78.4	80.9	74.2
	Sardinia	76	70.2	69.3

 Table 2: Index of symmetry in the share of domestic and care work in dual-earners couples

 $Legend: Low > 79 - High < 67 \qquad Source: Time Use Survey 2002-2003, 2007-2008, 2012-2013 (ISTAT), own elaboration$

Table 3: % of children between 0- and 3-years old attending childcare services

	NUTS-2 Regions	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
	Piedmont	13.6	13.5	14.9	14.3	14.5	14.9	15.6	15.3	13.2	13.5	12.4	12.2	12.4
	Aosta Valley	56.5	40.1	25.4	24	28.3	25.6	27.6	21.7	20.4	22.2	24.6	24.7	22.6
	Lombardy	15.6	13.8	14.9	15.9	16.6	18.9	19.3	18.1	16.8	17	15.5	15	15.6
orth	Trentino-Alto Adige/South Tyrol	12.3	12.5	12.4	14.5	15.1	17.1	19.7	17.5	18	19.4	18.8	20.1	20.9
ñ	Veneto	10.9	10.7	12.6	11.4	12	12.6	12.7	13.3	10.4	10.8	10	10	10.5
	Friuli	9.4	10.9	12.3	15.4	15	17.9	20.4	21.1	15.5	19.9	21.9	20.3	22.2
	Liguria	16	16.8	16.4	15.5	17	16.8	17	17.6	15.6	15.7	14.6	14.8	15.1
	Emilia-Romagna	27.6	28.2	27.7	28.3	28.3	29.9	29.9	27.2	26.8	26.2	25.6	25.3	25.3
Tu	Tuscany	24.1	20	22.2	21.6	21.7	20.6	21.3	20.8	21.8	21.6	21.7	22.2	23.3
ntre	Umbria	13.8	13.8	14	15	23.5	28	28	23.8	15.4	15.8	15.2	15.9	15.8
Cei	Marche	23.3	17.2	15	15.5	16	16.2	17.1	17.2	16.5	15.7	16.5	15.9	16
	Lazio	9.4	10.4	11.1	12.1	12.8	13.9	15.4	17.3	17.3	16.3	17.1	17	16.9
	Abruzzo	6.8	7.2	7.2	8.7	9.9	10.2	9.8	9.9	9.8	10.1	10.1	9	8.4
	Molise	3.2	3.9	4.8	4.8	4.8	5.4	5.5	11.3	10.4	8.6	10.7	10.9	11.8
	Campania	1.7	2.1	1.8	2.2	2.8	2.8	2.8	2.9	2.6	2.7	2.6	3	3.6
uth	Apulia	5	5.2	4.4	4.6	4.9	5	4.6	4.6	4.3	4.5	5.3	6.4	6.5
So	Basilicata	5.1	5.6	5.4	6.9	6.8	7.8	7.6	7.5	6.9	6.5	6.6	6.3	6.9
	Calabria	2.1	2.3	2.4	2	2.7	3.5	2.4	2.5	2.1	1.4	1.2	2	2.2
	Sicily	6	6.4	6.3	5.5	6	5.3	5.6	5.5	5.5	5	4.6	4.8	5.2
	Sardinia	10	9.1	8.7	9.4	10	13.3	17.3	13.1	12.9	10.7	10.7	10.4	11.3

Legend: Low < 5% - High > 20%

Source: ISTAT, own elaboration

	Person-	Dissolutions	Absolute	95% Confidence		
	months		monthly risk	Interval		
WOMEN			per 1000			
% Dual earner couples in						
region						
Low	321653	81	0.3	0.0002	0.0003	
Medium	1273026	468	0.4	0.0003	0.0004	
High	66358	67	1.0	0.0008	0.0013	
Symmetry in share of hh						
work in region						
Low	364849	50	0.1	0.0001	0.0002	
Medium	1236126	519	0.4	0.0004	0.0005	
High	60062	47	0.8	0.0006	0.0010	
Childcare attendance in						
region	200074	94	0.2	0.0002	0.0002	
Low	309974	04	0.3	0.0002	0.0005	
Medium	10/9//1	403	0.4	0.0003	0.0004	
High	271292	129	0.5	0.0004	0.0006	
Total	1661037	616	0.4	0.0003	0.0004	
MEN						
% Dual earner couples in						
region	222104		0.0	0.0002	0.0004	
Low	232184	15	0.3	0.0003	0.0004	
Medium	982757	443	0.5	0.0004	0.0005	
High	60851	67	1.1	0.0009	0.0014	
Symmetry in share of hh						
work in region	294244	62	0.2	0.0002	0.0003	
Madium	022178	182	0.2	0.0002	0.0005	
Weatum Uh	932178	402	0.3	0.0005	0.0000	
	49370	41	0.0	0.0006	0.0011	
Childcare attendance in						
Low	275472	103	0.4	0.0003	0.0005	
Medium	795873	376	0.5	0.0004	0.0005	
High	204447	106	0.5	0.0004	0.0006	
Total	1275792	585	0.5	0.0004	0.0005	

Table 4: Exposure time and risk of dissolution by gender context indicators

Note: highest absolute monthly risk for each variable marked in bold

For descriptive purposes, Table 4 displays the time at risk, number of dissolutions, and absolute monthly risk of experiencing union dissolution for all levels of each gender context indicator, separately for women and men. For both women and men, and for all indicators, the category with the highest rate of union dissolution is the one representing the highest level of gender equality. From a descriptive analysis it therefore emerges that, in regions with higher shares of dual-earner couples, greater symmetry in the division of domestic and care work, and more frequent use of childcare facilities, the monthly risk of union dissolution is the highest. However, these differences may be constituted by compositional effects that must be controlled for in a multi-variable analysis.

3.2 Event history analysis

Displayed in Table 5 are four successive models analyzing the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution in different gender contexts. In the first model are all the individual level variables presented in Chapter 3, and the three indicators characterizing the gender context. Model 2 adds an interaction between the percentage of dual-earner couples in the region and individual employment status and type of contract. Model 3 includes an interaction between symmetry in the division of domestic work and individual employment status and type of contract. Finally, in model 4, an interaction between childcare service use and individual employment status and type of contract is included. The analytical strategy is the same as in Chapter 5, i.e. the analysis is segmented by gender. In order to control for cultural and historical regional differences, all models are controlled for region fixed effect, and standard errors are clustered in regions. In model one, it is apparent that, overall, on controlling for all individual characteristics and the gender context, as in the previous chapters, joblessness is

associated with a reduced risk of union dissolution for women, and joblessness and time-limited employment with an increased risk of union dissolution for men.

3.2.1 Diffusion of the dual-earner family model

In regions with larger shares of dual-earner couples, both women and men experience a higher risk of union dissolution (model 1). This seems to be in line with the economic independence hypothesis: a large share of economically independent partners facilitates union dissolution. This result can be also interpreted as a sign of an incomplete gender revolution in Italy: the raise of women employment overall seems to be associated to an increased risk of union dissolution. Nevertheless, inspection of model 2 shows that the level of diffusion of the dualearner model in the region alters the individual-level relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. In model 2 the estimates relative to the percentage of dual-earner couples in the region refer to permanently employed women and men, for whom the risk of union dissolution does not increase in regions with a larger share of dual-earner couples. The interaction in model 2 for women shows that, in contexts with a low percentage of dual-earner couples (below 25% of all couples), jobless women have an approximately 70% lower risk of experiencing union dissolution relatively to permanently employed women. Such risk is only about 30% lower in contexts where the percentage of dual-earner couples ranges between 25% and 55%. Notably, in contexts with a large share of dual-earner couples (more than 55% of couples), the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution changes direction and becomes similar to what was found for men: joblessness and time-limited employment are associated with a higher risk of union dissolution relatively to permanently employed women. These results are in line with hypothesis 1a and with theories predicting that, as women's economic role becomes the norm and institutionalized in the society, gender differences in the relationship between employment status and union dissolution will diminish or even disappear. On analyzing model 2 for men, however, one finds no evidence supporting hypothesis 1b: the relative risk of union dissolution for men with unstable employment careers does not seem to decrease in contexts with a larger share of dual-earner couples. The dynamics between men's employment status and type of contract and union dissolution appear to be rather stable in different gender contexts. Figure 1 displays graphically the risk of union dissolution for jobless and time-limited employed relatively to permanently employed (represented by the horizontal line) for women (first row)

and men (second row) in contexts with low, mid, and high share of dual earner couples.

Figure 1: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men in contexts with low mid and high diffusion of the dual-earner model²²



WOMEN

²² Based on model 2, controlled for all individual and macro-level characteristics

3.2.2 Symmetry in the division of domestic work

As regards symmetry in the division of domestic and care work, model 1 shows that a relatively greater symmetry is associated with a reduction in the risk of union dissolution for both women and men, in line with theories claiming that men's contribution to care and domestic work stabilizes relationships. In model 3, estimates for the same variables refer to permanently employed women and men. For these, in regions with relatively greater symmetry in the division of domestic and care tasks, the risk of union dissolution decreases by 34% and 26%, respectively. Again, these results are in line with the idea that, especially for working couples, a more equal division of domestic and care work is beneficial for union stability. From the interaction in model 3, for women the pattern seems to be similar to the one observed for the indicator on the percentage of dual-earner couples. In contexts with low symmetry, jobless and time-limited employed women appear to be at lower risk of union dissolution than permanent employed ones, and the association reverses in contexts with relatively higher symmetry. These results are in line with *hypothesis 2a*; however, most estimates are not statistically precise. For men, in contexts with low or medium symmetry in the sharing of household tasks, employment instability is significantly associated with a higher risk of union dissolution. In regions with greater symmetry, differences between permanently employed, jobless, and time-limited employed are not statistically precise, although estimates still point to a positive association between employment instability and union dissolution. Thus, there is weak evidence supporting hypothesis 2b (because differences between permanently employed and jobless and time-limited employed are no longer significant in contexts with a relatively high male contribution to household work). The risks of union dissolution for jobless and time-limited employed relatively to permanently employed (represented by the horizontal line) are shown in figure 2, respectively for women (first row) and men (second row), in contexts with low, mid, and high symmetry in the share of care and domestic work.

Figure 2: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men in contexts with low, mid, and high symmetry in the share of domestic and care work²³



WOMEN

²³ Based on model 3, controlled for all individual and macro-level characteristics

3.2.3 Reconciliation policies

Finally, the role of reconciliation policies is analyzed. Model 1, for men, shows a striking reduction in the risk of union dissolution associated with an increase in childcare service use. Relatively to the medium scenario, low use of childcare facilities is associated with an almost 5 times greater risk of union dissolution, while high attendance at childcare facilities is associated with a reduction of the risk of union dissolution amounting to more than 40%. For women, estimates are not statistically significant; nevertheless, the relationship seems to be similar. In model 4, again, the estimates for the variable on the use of childcare services refer to permanently employed women and men. The results are similar to those of the previous models. Finally, on looking at the interaction in model 4, the pattern is similar to those found for the other 2 analyzed indicators on the gender context. In contexts with scant use of childcare facilities, jobless women have a risk of ending their union that is 55% lower than that of permanently employed women. In regions with medium use of childcare facilities, the relative risk of union dissolution for jobless women is only 38% lower, while in contexts with high use, the difference between jobless and permanently employed women is about 20% and is not statistically significant. Thus, as expected, because reconciliation policies help women to combine work and family, they appear to narrow the gap in the risk of union dissolution between permanently employed and jobless women, in line with hypothesis 3a. Moreover, no significant difference is found between permanent and time-limited employed women in regions with low-to-medium use of childcare services, whilst in regions with high use, time-limited employment is associated with a 64% greater risk of dissolution. Reconciliation services promote gender equality in the society and enable women to gain an economic role in the family similar to that of men. Therefore, in contexts where such services are well developed and widely used, women's employment instability is likely to provoke stress in the couple just like that of men. For men, instead, model 4 shows that, although use of childcare services reduces the risk of union dissolution for all men, the dynamics among men with different employment statuses and types of contract remain substantially unchanged. Men with unstable job careers are constantly those at higher risk of union dissolution relatively to permanently employed men in all three gender contexts analyzed. In figure 3 are displayed the relative risks of union dissolution for women and men.





WOMEN

²⁴ Based on model 4, controlled for all individual and macro-level characteristics

				WOI	MEN							ME	EN			
	(1)		(2)		(3)		(4)		(1)		(2)		(3)		(4)	
	Individua	al and	Dual ear	ner *	Hh choir	s *	Childcare	e *	Individual	l and	Dual earne	er *	Hh choirs	*	Childcar	e *
	macro le	vel	Employn	nent	Employn	nent	Employn	nent	macro lev	el	Employm	ent	Employm	ent	Employment	
	variables		status		status		status		variables		status		status		status	
VARIABLES	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.	RR	s.e.
Employment																
status and type of																
contract																
Permanent	1	0.054							1	0.004						
Jobless	0.62***	0.074							1.53**	0.294						
Time-limited	1.22	0.230							1.55***	0.195						
Self-employed	1.06	0.293							0.97	0.063						
% Dual earner couples in region Low <i>Medium</i> Higher	0.62 *** 1 1.46 ***	0.088 0.201	0.87 1 0.97	0.113 0.073	0.58 *** 1 1.46 ***	0.086 0.202	0.61 *** 1 1.46 ***	0.087 0.197	1.01 1 1.25 ***	0.244 0.084	1.00 1 1.07	0.323 0.108	0.99 1 1.24 ***	0.237 0.086	1.01 1 1.25 ***	0.245 0.086
Symmetry in share of hh work in region Low <i>Medium</i> Higher	0.85 1 0.79***	0.202 0.057	0.88 1 0.79***	0.210 0.057	0.69 1 0.66**	0.175 0.056	0.85 1 0.79***	0.199 0.056	1.27 1 0.73 ***	0.361 0.070	1.26 1 0.73 ***	0.362 0.070	1.42 1 0.74***	0.494 0.084	1.26 1 0.73***	0.366 0.069
Childcare attendance in region Low <i>Medium</i> Higher	1.06 1 0.69	0.347 0.303	1.06 1 0.69	0.355 0.306	1.09 1 0.71	0.362 0.322	1.36 1 0.60	0.509 0.257	4.86 *** 1 0.57 ***	1.285 0.065	4.85 *** 1 0.57 ***	1.217 0.069	4.83 *** 1 0.56 ***	1.261 0.066	5.00*** 1 0.59***	1.525 0.083

Table 5: Relative risk of union dissolution for women and men. Piecewise constant exponential model

% dual earner * Employment status Dual earner: low Permanent Jobless Time-limited Self-employed	1 0.31*** 0.93 1.02	0.050 0.304 0.629		1 1.31 0.94 1.49 *	0.251 0.126 0.343		
Dual earner: mid Permanent Jobless Time-limited Self-employed	1 0.68*** 1.16 0.90	0.081 0.275 0.296		1 1.59* 1.73*** 0.83***	0.389 0.199 0.052		
<u>Dual earner: high</u> <i>Permanent</i> Jobless Time-limited Self-employed	1 1.33*** 2.23*** 3.26***	0.048 0.388 0.700		1 1.98 *** 1.32 1.66 ***	0.388 0.374 0.068		
Symmetry in share of hh work *Employment status Symmetry: low Permanent Jobless Time-limited Self-employed		1 0.81 0.60 1.27	0.217 0.192 0.710			1 1.34 * 1.02 0.87	0.186 0.320 0.272
<u>Symmetry: mid</u> Permanent Jobless Time-limited Self-employed		1 0.56*** 1.17 1.10	0.067 0.203 0.349			1 1.58** 1.66** 0.96	0.347 0.243 0.079

<u>Symmetry: higher</u> <i>Permanent</i> Jobless Time-limited Self-employed			1 1.21 2.71** 0.60	0.281 0.125 0.376					1 1.30 1.81 1.15*	0.468 0.732 0.070		
Attendance to childcare * Employment status Childcare: low Permanent Jobless Time-limited Self-employed					1 0.45 *** 1.04 0.63	0.116 0.381 0.277					1 1.43* 1.16 1.32	0.266 0.126 0.256
Childcare: mid Permanent Jobless Time-limited Self-employed					1 0.62*** 1.09 1.09	0.091 0.335 0.372					1 1.62* 1.75*** 0.91*	0.454 0.239 0.050
<u>Childcare: higher</u> <u>Permanent</u> Jobless Time-limited Self-employed					1 0.83 1.64 *** 1.24	0.105 0.259 0.695					1 1.43 1.43 * 0.87	0.539 0.262 0.124
Observations Individuals Dissolutions	82,392 5,975 616	82,392 5,975 616	82,392 5,975 616		82,392 5,975 616		71,162 5,293 585	71,162 5,293 585	71,162 5,293 585		71,162 5,293 585	

Note: controlled for all individual level variables as in chapter 4 and 5.

4. Conclusions

Overall, in Italy, the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution is the opposite for women and men, with joblessness being associated with a reduction in the risk of union dissolution for women, and joblessness and time-limited employment with an increase in that risk for men. This chapter has analyzed the extent to which these gender differences depend on the level of gender equality in the society. For this purpose, it has modeled the relationship between employment status and union dissolution for women and men over time and in regions with different levels of gender equality. It has measured gender equality with three objective regional-level indicators of the share of paid and unpaid work within couples, and the uptake of reconciliation services.

The analysis has provided evidence that the gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution depends on the level of gender equality in the society. In fact, in regions with higher gender equality, the opposite association of women's and men's employment instability and union dissolution disappears. Not only is women's employment instability no longer associated with a lower risk of union dissolution, but it becomes positively associated with union dissolution, leading to the conclusion that in contexts with higher gender equality, employment instability - including both joblessness and time-limited employment - is associated with a higher risk of union dissolution for both women and men. This result is particularly evident when considering the share of paid work within the couple and the diffusion of the dual-earner model; but the pattern holds for the other two indicators as well. Such results provide evidence for theories predicting that, as women's economic role becomes the norm and institutionalized in the society, gender differences in the relationship between employment status and union dissolution diminish or even disappear (Oppenheimer, 1994). Nevertheless, in contrast with theories claiming that in contexts where the dual-earner model is prevalent men's employment instability is less harmful for union stability, the results reported in this chapter show that, at least in Italy, the dynamics between men's employment status and type of contract and union dissolution are rather stable in different gender contexts.

Importantly, this chapter has also highlighted that, although the raise in the share of dual-earner couples is associated with an increase in the risk of union dissolution for both women and men, a higher level of symmetry in the division of domestic and care work, and the uptake of reconciliation services, is instead beneficial for couple stability. Therefore, because women's participation in the labor market is constantly increasing, the development of reconciliation services and policies to induce couples to adopt more symmetric gender arrangements are important measures also to prevent union dissolution.

CHAPTER 7

Conclusion and discussion

The present dissertation adds insights to the growing literature investigating the link between economic uncertainty and family dynamics by addressing the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution in Italy. Previous research has determined that employment instability may either reduce the risk of union dissolution by raising its relative costs or increase the risk by exacerbating stress and conflict within the relationship (Amato & Beattie, 2010; Cohen, 2014; Fischer & Liefbroer, 2006). This study has remedied several limitations of prior research by providing new evidence including different dimensions of employment instability, different types of unions and a gender perspective, and accounting for the economic and social context. The analysis has focused on the Italian context in light of the most reliable and extensive retrospective data available, which make it possible to implement event history techniques to scrutinize the effect of time-constant and time-varying characteristics, and to observe cohorts from 1950 to 1986.

At the individual level, the results reported in Chapter 4 suggested that, even when analyzing recent data, in Italy the effect of employment instability on union dissolution is gender-specific. Joblessness is a facilitator of men's union dissolution and an inhibitor of that of women. Moreover, men with time-limited contracts were found to be at a far greater risk of dissolution than their permanently employed counterparts, while no clear pattern was found for women. Such findings highlight the importance of distinguishing between time-limited and permanent employment, especially when studying the risk of union dissolution for men. For women, however, there seems to be no clear divide in the association between permanent and time-limited work contracts and union dissolution. The key factor is instead whether or not a woman is employed [Chapter 4, section 2.1].

Nonetheless, the relation between employment instability and union dissolution appears to be far more complex than might be assumed at first glance. Without accounting for the persistence of employment instability, the emerging pattern is partial and simplistic. Indeed, the results in Chapter 4 show a non-monotonic relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. For women, the accumulation of periods of joblessness is still associated with a lower dissolution risk compared with that of women in continuous employment. However, a considerable accumulation of time spent in time-limited jobs is associated with a higher risk of union dissolution relative to those women who have never had timelimited jobs. It could thus be argued that, for women, working in time-limited jobs for a considerable time may increase economic independence compared to those who do not engage in paid work at all. For men, instead, the initial effect of employment instability appears to be a rise in the cost of divorce, thereby substantially reducing the risk of dissolution. Only when the persistence of employment instability reaches a certain level does relational stress emerge and increase the risk of dissolution. In particular, a consistent accumulation of joblessness for men appears to be especially detrimental to relationships. Overall, a 'J-shaped' association emerges between instability of employment careers and union dissolution [Chapter 4, section 2.2]. It seems clear that individuals with accumulated employment instability are, in all probability, highly selected.

In Italy, the gendered effect of employment instability on union dissolution is deeply rooted in gender differences in the allocation of time and responsibilities between paid and unpaid work. Employment instability renders women economically dependent on their partners, contributing to a rise in the economic and social cost of divorce. On the other hand, men's employment instability generates relational stress when the male partner is the main income provider: in a dominant male-breadwinner context, men's employment instability not only generates family economic difficulties, but it also clashes with prevailing gender norms. The results reported in both Chapter 4 and 6 provide empirical evidence supporting this idea, both at the micro- and macro-level. As a matter of fact, at the individual level it appears that, among younger cohorts and cohabiting couples, which should be relatively more egalitarian (Manning, 2020; Meggiolaro & Ongaro, 2019; Perelli-Harris et al., 2014), gender differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution diminish. For both younger cohorts and cohabiting couples, the convergence in the gendered relationship occurs due to a change in the relationship for women. For the youngest cohort of women, the negative relationship between joblessness and union dissolution is no longer significant, while time-limited work is associated with a greater risk of union dissolution. Among women in cohabiting unions, the relationship reverses and becomes similar to that found for men, i.e. the risk of union dissolution is higher for women with no jobs or unstable ones [Chapter 4, section 2.3 and 2.4].

Moreover, in Chapter 6, analyses of the gender context in which employment instability occurs furnished further evidence for the idea that the gendered relationship between employment instability and union dissolution depends on the level and type of gender equality in the society. In regions with higher gender equality, both within the labor market and within the family, the opposite association of women's and men's employment instability and union dissolution disappears, once again because of a change in the relationship for women. In contexts where the dual-earner model is the prevalent one, the relationship between women's employment instability and union dissolution reverses, and employment instability, including both joblessness and time-limited employment, is associated with a higher risk of union dissolution for both women and men. This result is particularly evident when the gender context is described with the diffusion of the dual-earner model. However, the pattern holds also when considering the share of domestic and care work, and the presence and uptake of child-care services [Chapter 6]. Such results provide evidence for theories predicting that, as women's economic role and a dual earner-dual carer arrangement become the norm and are institutionalized in the society, gender differences in the relationship between employment status and union dissolution diminish or even disappear (Hansen, 2005; Oppenheimer, 1994). Nevertheless, in contrast with theories claiming that, in more egalitarian couples and contexts, men's employment instability is less harmful for union stability, and that generally union dissolution should depend less on the individual employment position (Jalovaara, 2003; Oppenheimer, 1994), the present research shows that the dynamics between men's employment status and type of contract and union dissolution are rather stable, even among those that are considered to be more egalitarian groups (i.e. younger cohorts or cohabitors) [Chapter 4] and in more egalitarian gender contexts [Chapter 6]. Nevertheless, research finds that attitudes about men's roles have been slower to change than attitudes about women's roles (Gonalons-Pons & Gangl, 2021; Knight & Brinton, 2017), therefore, changes may still be ongoing and may appear in a later stage. This may be due to the fact that, in Italy, the gender revolution is still 'stalled' in its first stage (Gerson, 2010; Goldscheider et al., 2015; Hochschild, 2003), and even regions well-performing in terms of women's participation in the labor market, are still far from achieving equality in the domestic sphere, and state services and support for work/family balance are still insufficient [Chapter 6, section 3.1].

Thus, the present dissertation provides strong evidence that the inequality in the gendered division of labor within couples and in the society is a crucial explanatory factor for gender differences in the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution. Jobless women have more stable unions because they are economically dependent on the family. Removing obstacles produced by the unequal gender division of paid work within families and the society, this research thesis has shown that, at the individual level, employment instability negatively affect couple stability for both women and men, as it has been found for some other - more gender egalitarian - European countries (Di Nallo et al., 2021; Hansen, 2005; Jalovaara, 2003). Nonetheless, theories predict that this individual negative effect of employment instability ought to diminish if domestic and care responsibilities are equally shared within couples, and couples are supported by a more comprehensive system of policies for work/family balance. Unfortunately, it has not been possible for this thesis to empirically test this part of the theory because the data lack retrospective information on couples' division of domestic and care work [Chapter 3, section 5], and Italian regions do not provide a setting with an

equal division of unpaid work and extensive reconciliation services [Chapter 6, section 3.1].

Furthermore, Chapter 5 revealed that the negative impact of employment instability on relationships only occurs at the individual level. On the contrary, when employment instability is conceptualized in its macrolevel dimension, the association is the opposite: the lack of stable job opportunities acts as a structural constraint and constitutes a barrier to union dissolution by raising the economic cost of dissolving the current union as envisaged by the cost of divorce perspective [Chapter 5, section 3.1]. This negative association between macro-level unemployment and temporary work rates with union dissolution is the same for women and men, and holds for all individuals regardless of their individual employment status and type of contract, and whether they are spouses or cohabitants [Chapter 5, section 3.2 and 3.3]. Nevertheless, it appears that poor economic conditions attenuate the stigma and social disapproval for those men with unstable careers. With higher aggregate unemployment and time-limited work rates, the risk of union dissolution among the jobless and time-limited employees diminished and becomes similar to those experienced by the permanently employed. Hence, employment instability at micro- and macro-level has an opposite relationship with union dissolution. After all, macro-economic conditions are not imputable to the individual. They may therefore have a very different meaning and impact on individual feelings. At the individual level, poor performance in the labor market may be a sign of personal defeat. In contemporary capitalist societies, work is a source of economic security, social inclusion and wellbeing (Biegert, 2019). Hence, joblessness may provoke high levels of stress, frustration, dissatisfaction and depression (Marsh & Alvaro, 1990; Oesch & Lipps, 2013) which exacerbate the risk of union dissolution. Moreover, employment instability may be linked to personal characteristics related to a person's own unsuitability as partner, e.g. personal inconstancy, lack of reliability, or no sense of responsibility [Chapter 1, section 2.1]. On the other hand, a macro-level adverse employment context is a structural economic constraint imposed by the labor market and the economic cycle, an external condition which does not depend on the

individual but acts as a barrier to union dissolution by increasing uncertainty and the costs related to a separation, thus, binding couples to stick together. In principle, this may have either positive or negative effects for individuals and couples, as on one hand, can induce couples to strengthen their bonds during hard times (Thomas et al., 1980), but on the other, may force them to continue unhappy relationships, at least until the economy improves (Cherlin, 2009).

Overall, this study has enhanced understanding of the role of employment instability in union dissolution, and categorically rejects the notion of any simple, uniform, and unidirectional relationship. The findings have emphasized the importance of fully considering different dimensions of employment instability: the distinction among joblessness, time-limited, and permanent employment contracts; the role of the accumulation of instability throughout employment careers; and the moderating role of macro-economic conditions. Moreover, the results highlight the centrality of the gendered dimension in disentangling this relationship. For a full understanding of the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution it is crucial to elucidate gender differences, and importantly, to consider the cultural and institutional gender context in which employment instability is experienced.

This dissertation also contributes to Italian research on divorce. De Sandre (1980) was the first to show the increase in marital disruption among women of high socio-economic status in the first half of the 1970s – a finding later confirmed by, among others, De Rose (1992) using micro data. Later, other micro-level studies available for Italy all pointed to a positive gradient between women's socio-economic position and marital dissolution (Vignoli & Ferro, 2009; Vignoli et al., 2018). My results confirm that, even with recent data, this situation remains substantially unchanged – at least regarding the role of women's employment status in marriage (and not cohabitation) dissolutions. Moreover, prior studies comparing men's and women's employment statuses date back several decades – the most recent studies available made use of data from 1996 (de Rose & di Cesare, 2007) to 2003 (Salvini & Vignoli, 2011). Using data from 2016, my results on the one hand reiterate previous evidence, depicting a contemporary Italian society that
remains somewhat traditional in terms of couples' role sets; on the other they yield novel insights into the role of time-limited work, the accumulation of unstable employment, and macro-level employment conditions.

This dissertation has some limitations. First, because the survey consulted did not include information on ex-partners, this study was unable to explore both sides to the couples in the analysis. Accordingly, it could control only for the respondent's information in predicting dissolution risk. However, it has previously been suggested that information about both partners' contributions to paid and unpaid work are needed to properly assess the effect of women's employment on union dissolution (Mencarini & Vignoli, 2018; Oláh & Gahler, 2014; Sigle-Rushton, 2010). Second, the data did not make it possible to distinguish unemployment from inactivity. Although joblessness has been proven to be a valid indicator of employment instability in family research (Busetta et al., 2019; Härkönen, 2011), I acknowledge that unemployment and inactivity may have different roles in exacerbating stress or the cost of separation. The negative association between employment instability and union dissolution (for women in recent cohorts and cohabiting unions and in dual-earner contexts, and men in general), is a remarkable finding, since individuals disadvantaged in the labor market are also those more at risk of ending up in single households or monoparental families, and thus be at a double economic disadvantage, with possible negative consequences for social stratification and child poverty (Amato, 2000). However, this thesis did not address social stratification. Despite all models accounted for individuals' and parents' educational background, the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution is likely to be moderated by social class. Individuals with higher socio-economic background may dispose of relatively more tools to deal with uncertainty and economic strain. Also, income data, not available in the survey, would be necessary to measure the individual means to cope with employment instability [Chapter 3, section 5]. Thus, further research should address how this relationship vary according to individuals' socioeconomic background and social and economic resources. Finally, although Italy presents significant regional differences making it possible to study the impact of many contextual conditions on the relationship between employment instability and union dissolution, because this has been a study on a single country, the impact of many relevant policies, which do not differ across regions, could not be evaluated. The relationship between employment instability and union dissolution is a complex one. It is defined by the weighting of the stress generated by the lack or the instability of paid work, and actual economic constraints, which may indeed differ among societies. The stress generated by the lack of work may vary according to the cultural importance attached to work in defining a person's identity and value in a given society, but also by the level of economic hardship provoked by unstable employment, which may in turn depend on the level of decommodification, economic prosperity and inequalities, and welfare-state support in the society. Finally, both stress and economic barriers due to employment instability depend on the gender division of labor in the society and in which phase of the gender revolution it is situated. Hence, further research in different contexts is necessary to understand whether these results can be extended to other countries.

REFERENCES

- Adda, J., & Trigari, A. (2016). Labor market inequalities across Italian demographic groups: A focus on the youth and the long-term unemployed. 17. IGIER Innocenzo Gasparini Institute for Economic Research. Bocconi University Policy Brief
- Adsera, A. (2005). Vanishing Children: From High Unemployment to Low Fertility in Developed Countries. *American Economic Review*, 95 (2): 189-193.
- Amato, P. R. (1996). Explaining the Intergenerational Transmission of Divorce. Journal of Marriage and Family, 58(3), 628–640. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/353723
- Amato, P. R. (2000). The Consequences of Divorce for Adults and Children. Journal of Marriage and Family, 62(4), 1269–1287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01269.x
- Amato, P. R. (2010). Research on Divorce: Continuing Trends and New Developments. Journal of Marriage and Family, 72(3), 650–666. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00723.x
- Amato, P. R., & Beattie, B. (2010). Does the unemployment rate affect the divorce rate? An analysis of state data 1960–2005. Social Science Research 40 (2011) 705–715
- Amato, P. R., & Booth, A. (1991). The Consequences of Divorce for Attitudes Towards Divorce and Gender Roles. *Journal of Family Issues*, 12(3).
- Anderson, L. R., Bukodi, E., & Monden, C. (2021). Double Trouble: Does Job Loss Lead to Union Dissolution and Vice Versa?, *European Sociological Review*, Volume 37, Issue 3, Pages 379–398, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcaa060</u>
- Andersson, G., & Philipov, D. (2002). Life-table representations of family dynamics in Sweden, Hungary, and 14 other FFS countries: A project of descriptions of demographic behavior. *Demographic Research*, 7, 67–144. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2002.7.4
- Andreß, H.-J., Borgloh, B., Brockel, M., Giesselmann, M., & Hummelsheim, D. (2006). The Economic Consequences of Partnership Dissolution—A Comparative Analysis of Panel Studies from Belgium, Germany, Great Britain, Italy, and Sweden. *European Sociological Review*, 22(5), 533–560. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcl012
- Arendt, H. (1963). Between Past and Future. Meridian Books.
- Arosio, L. (2017). Marriage, Cohabitation and Participation in Domestic Labor: Men and Women in Contemporary Italy. *European Scientific Journal*, ESJ, 13(8), 236. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2017.v13n8p236
- Asare, A. (2019). The Gender Gap in Household Labour: Differences between Married and Cohabiting People in Canada (Doctoral dissertation, University of Saskatchewan).

- Atkinson, T., Liem, R., & Liem, J. H. (1986). The Social Costs of Unemployment: Implications for Social Support. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 27(4), 317. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136947
- Attewell, P. (1999). The impact of family on job displacement and recovery. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 562, 66–82.
- Axinn, W. G., & Thornton, A. (1992). The Relationship between Cohabitation and Divorce: Selectivity or Causal Influence? *Demography*, 29(3), 357. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061823
- Baizán, P., Aassve, A., & Billari, F. C. (2003). The Interrelations Between Cohabitation, Marriage and First Birth in Germany and Sweden. *Population and Environment*, 25(6), 531–561. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:POEN.0000039064.65655.3b
- Barbieri, G., & Sestito, P. (2008). Temporary Workers in Italy: Who Are They and Where They End Up. *Labour*, 22(1), 127–166. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9914.2007.00402.x
- Barbieri, P., Bozzon, R., Scherer, S., Grotti, R., & Lugo, M. (2015). The Rise of a Latin Model? Family and fertility consequences of employment instability in Italy and Spain. *European Societies*, 17(4), 423–446. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616696.2015.1064147
- Barbieri, P., & Cutuli, G. (2010). A uguale lavoro, paghe diverse. Differenziali salariali e lavoro a termine nel mercato del lavoro italiano. *Stato e mercato*, *3*, 471–504. https://doi.org/10.1425/33150
- Barbieri, P., & Scherer, S. (2009). Labour Market Flexibilization and its Consequences in Italy. European Sociological Review, 25(6), 677–692. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcp009
- Barone, C. (2009). A new look at schooling inequalities in Italy and their trends over time. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 27(2), 92–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rssm.2009.04.001
- Bauman, Z. (2003). Liquid Love. On the Frailty of Human Bonds Cambridge, Polity Press.
- Bauman, Z. (2007). *Liquid Times: Living in an Age of Uncertainty*. Cambridge, Polity Press. MLA (7th ed.).
- Bausman, K., & Goe, W. R. (2004). An Examination of the Link between Employment Volatility and the Spatial Distribution of Property Crime Rates. *The American Journal of Economics* and Sociology, 63(3), 665–695.
- Becker, G. S. (1973). A Theory of Marriage: Part I. *Journal of Political Economy*, 81(4), 813–846. https://doi.org/10.1086/260084
- Becker, G. S. (1991). A treatise on the family (Enl. ed). Harvard University Press.
- Becker, G. S., Landes, E. M., & Michael, R. T. (1977). An Economic Analysis of Marital Instability. *Journal of Political Economy*, 85(6), 1141–1187.
- Beckert, J. (1996). What is sociological about economic sociology? Uncertainty and the embeddedness of economic action. *Theory and Society*, 25(6), 803–840. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00159817
- Bellani, D., Esping Andersen, G., & Pessin, L. (2018). When equity matters for marital stability: Comparing German and U.S. couples. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 35(9), 1273–1298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517709537

- Bellani, D. & Arpino, B. (2022). Risk tolerance and fertility: Evidence from a lottery question in Italy. *Journal of Marriage and Family*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12820
- Benach, J., & Muntaner, C. (2007). Precarious employment and health: Developing a research agenda. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 61(4), 276–277. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2005.045237
- Benach, J., Vives, A., Amable, M., Vanroelen, C., Tarafa, G., & Muntaner, C. (2014). Precarious Employment: Understanding an Emerging Social Determinant of Health. *Annual Review* of Public Health, 35(1), 229–253. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182500
- Bernardi, F., Layte, R., Schizzerotto, A., & Jacobs, S. (2000). Who exits unemployment? Institutional features, individual characteristics, and chances of getting a job: A comparison of Britain and Italy. In Welfare Regimes and the Experience of Unemployment in Europe (Ed. Gallie, Duncan and Paugam, Serge) (p. 13).
- Bernardi, F., & Martínez-Pastor, J.-I. (2011). Divorce risk factors and their variation over time in Spain. *Demographic Research*, 24, 771–800. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2011.24.31
- Bertolini, S. (2006). La conciliazione per le lavoratrici atipiche. Economia & Lavoro, 1, 57-71.
- Bertolini, S., & Solera, C. (2016). Il lavoro atipico in Italia: Trappola o ponte verso la conciliazione? Le interruzioni lavorative intorno alla maternità di tre coorti di donne. *Economia & Lavoro*, 133-154
- Biegert, T. (2019). Labor market institutions, the insider/outsider divide and social inequalities in employment in affluent countries. *Socio-Economic Review*, 17(2), 255–281. https://doi.org/10.1093/ser/mwx025
- Blom, N., Verbakel, E., & Kraaykamp, G. (2020). Couples' Job Insecurity and Relationship Satisfaction in the Netherlands. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(3), 875–891. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12649
- Blome, A. (2016). Normative Beliefs, Party Competition, and Work-Family Policy Reforms in Germany and Italy. *Comparative Politics*, 48(4), 479–503. https://doi.org/10.5129/001041516819197610
- Bloom, N. (2014). Fluctuations in Uncertainty. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 28(2), 153–176. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.28.2.153
- Blossfeld, H.-P., & Müller, R. (2002). Guest Editors' Introduction: Union Disruption in Comparative Perspective: The Role of Assortative Partner Choice and Careers of Couples. *International Journal of Sociology*, 32(4), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/15579336.2002.11770257
- Blossfeld, H.-P., Rohwer, G., & Schneider, T. (2019). Event History Analysis with Stata. Routledge.
- Boeri, T., Conde-Ruiz, J. I., & Galasso, V. (2012). The Political Economy of Flexicurity. Journal of the European Economic Association, 10(4), 684–715. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-4774.2012.01065.x
- Boeri, T., & Garibaldi, P. (2019). A tale of comprehensive labor market reforms: Evidence from the Italian jobs act. *Labour Economics*, 59, 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2019.03.007

Boertien, D., & Härkönen, J. (2018). Why does women's education stabilize marriages? The role of marital attraction and barriers to divorce. *Demographic Research*, *38*, 1241–1276. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2018.38.41

- Bolano, D., & Vignoli, D. (2021). Union Formation Under Conditions of Uncertainty: The Objective and Subjective Sides of Employment Uncertainty. Demographic Research 45: 141-186.
- Breen, R., & Cooke, L. P. (2005). The Persistence of the Gendered Division of Domestic Labour. European Sociological Review, 21(1), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jci003
- Brown, S. L., & Lin, I.-F. (2012). The Gray Divorce Revolution: Rising Divorce Among Middle-Aged and Older Adults, 1990-2010. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67(6), 731–741. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs089
- Burgoon, B., & Dekker, F. (2010). Flexible employment, economic insecurity and social policy preferences in Europe. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 20(2), 126–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928709358789
- Burroni, L., & Keune, M. (2011). Flexicurity: A conceptual critique. European Journal of Industrial Relations, 17(1), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959680110393189
- Busetta, A., Mendola, D., & Vignoli, D. (2019). Persistent joblessness and fertility intentions. *Demographic Research*, 40, 185–218. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2019.40.8
- Butz, W. P., & Ward, M. P. (1979). The Emergence of Countercyclical U.S. Fertility. American Economic Review, 1979, 69(3), pp. 318–28.
- Bynder, H. (1969). Emile Durkheim and the Sociology of the Family. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *31*(3), 527. https://doi.org/10.2307/349776
- Cabrales, A., & Hopenhayn, H. A. (1997). Labor-market flexibility and aggregate employment volatility. *Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy*, 46, 189–228.
- Cantillon, B. (2011). The paradox of the social investment state: Growth, employment and poverty in the Lisbon era. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 21(5), 432–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928711418856
- Carriero, R. (2009). A ciascuno il suo compito. Modelli di divisione del lavoro nella coppia in realtà metropolitane. *Stato e Mercato*, 87 (3), 421–450.
- Castiglioni, M., & Dalla Zuanna, G. (2009). Marital and Reproductive Behavior in Italy After 1995: Bridging the Gap with Western Europe?: Mariage et reproduction en Italie après 1995: convergence avec l'Europe de l'Ouest? European Journal of Population / Revue Européenne de Démographie, 25(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-008-9155-9
- Castiglioni, M., & Dalla-Zuanna, G. (2014). Spread of Cohabitation and Proximity between Kin in Contemporary Italy. *Journal of Family History*, *39*(4), 422–444. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363199014548391
- Charles, K. K., & Stephens, M. (2004). Job Displacement, Disability, and Divorce. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 22(2), 34.
- Cherlin, A. J. (1979). Work Life and Marital Dissolution. In *Divorce and Separation, Basic Books*. (Levinger, G. and Moles, O.C., Eds., pp. 151–166).

- Cherlin, A. J. (1992). Social trends in the United States. Marriage, divorce, remarriage (Rev. And enl. Ed.). *Harvard University Press*.
- Cherlin, A. J. (2009). The Origins of the Ambivalent Acceptance of Divorce. *Journal of Marriage* and Family. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2009.00593.x
- Cho, E. Y.-N. (2014). Defamilization typology re-examined: Re-measuring the economic independence of women in welfare states. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 24(5), 442– 454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928714542734
- Ciccia, R., & Verloo, M. (2012). Parental leave regulations and the persistence of the male breadwinner model: Using fuzzy-set ideal type analysis to assess gender equality in an enlarged Europe. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 22(5), 507–528. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928712456576
- Ciganda, D. (2015). Unstable work histories and fertility in France: An adaptation of sequence complexity measures to employment trajectories. *Demographic Research*, *32*, 843–876. JSTOR.
- Clark, A., Knabe, A., & Rätzel, S. (2010). Boon or bane? Others' unemployment, well-being and job insecurity. *Labour Economics*, 17(1), 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2009.05.007
- Clasen, J., Davidson, J., Ganßmann, H., & Mauer, A. (2006). Non-employment and the welfare state: The United Kingdom and Germany compared. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 16(2), 134–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928706062503
- Cohen, P. N. (2014). Recession and Divorce in the United States, 2008–2011. *Population Research* and Policy Review, 33(5), 615–628. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-014-9323-z
- Collins, C. (2020). Who to Blame and How to Solve It: Mothers' Perceptions of Work–Family Conflict Across Western Policy Regimes. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(3), 849– 874. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12643
- Colombo, E., & Rebughini, P. (Eds.). (2019). Youth and the Politics of the Present: Coping with Complexity and Ambivalence (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429198267
- Comolli, C. L. (2017). The fertility response to the Great Recession in Europe and the United States: Structural economic conditions and perceived economic uncertainty. *Demographic Research*, 36, 1549–1600. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2017.36.51
- Comolli, C. L. (2021). Couples' paid work, state-level unemployment, and first births in the United States. *Demographic Research*, 45, 1149-1184.
- Comolli, C. L., & Vignoli, D. (2021). Spreading Uncertainty, Shrinking Birth Rates: A Natural Experiment for Italy. *European Sociological Review*, jcab001. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcab001
- Conger, R. D., Elder, G. H., Lorenz, F. O., Conger, K. J., Simons, R. L., Whitbeck, L. B., Huck, S., & Melby, J. N. (1990). Linking Economic Hardship to Marital Quality and Instability. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 52(3), 643–656. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/352931
- Cooke, L. P. (2006). "Doing" Gender in Context: Household Bargaining and Risk of Divorce in Germany and the United States. *American Journal of Sociology*, 112(2), 442–472. https://doi.org/10.1086/506417

- Cooke, L. P., Erola, J., Evertsson, M., Gahler, M., Harkonen, J., Hewitt, B., Jalovaara, M., Kan, M.-Y., Lyngstad, T. H., Mencarini, L., Mignot, J.-F., Mortelmans, D., Poortman, A.-R., Schmitt, C., & Trappe, H. (2013). Labor and Love: Wives' Employment and Divorce Risk in its Socio-Political Context. *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society*, 20(4), 482–509. https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxt016
- Cooke, L. P., & Gash, V. (2010). Wives' Part-time Employment and Marital Stability in Great Britain, West Germany and the United States. Sociology, 44(6), 1091–1108. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038510381605
- Coppola, L., & Di Cesare, M. (2008). How fertility and union stability interact in shaping new family patterns in Italy and Spain. *Demographic Research*, 18, 117–144. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2008.18.4
- Covizzi, I. (2008). Does union dissolution lead to unemployment? A longitudinal study of health and risk of unemployment for women and men undergoing separation. *European Sociological Review*, 24, 347–361
- Dalla Zuanna, G. (2004). The Banquet of Aeolus. In G. D. Zuanna & G. A. Micheli (Eds.), Strong Family and Low Fertility: A Paradox? (Vol. 14, pp. 105–125). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-2837-7_5
- Dannefer, D. (2003). Cumulative Advantage/Disadvantage and the Life Course: Cross-Fertilizing Age and Social Science Theory. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 58(6), S327–S337. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.6.S327
- De Gregorio, C., & Giordano, A. (2015). *The heterogeneity of irregular employment in Italy: Some evidence from the Labour force survey integrated with administrative data* (ISTAT Working Paper No. 1/2015; ISTAT Working Paper). ISTAT Working Paper.
- De Rose, A., & Di Cesare, M. (2003). Genere e scioglimento della prima unione. Pinnelli A., Racioppi F. and Rettaroli R. (Eds.). Genere e Demografia. Bologna: Il Mulino.
- de Rose, A., & Di Cesare, M. (2007). Gender and first union dissolution. In A. Pinnelli, F. Racioppi,
 & R. Rettaroli (Eds.), *Genders in the Life Course* (Vol. 19, pp. 167–184). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6002-1_7
- de Sandre, P. (1980). Caratteristiche Rececenti dell'Instabilita Matrimoniale in Italia'. *Studi in* Onore Di Paolo Fortunato. Bologna: CLEUB.
- Degler, C. N. (1980). At Odds: Women and the Family in America from the Revolution to the Present. *New York: Oxford*.
- Del Boca, D., & Pasqua, S. (2005). Social Policies and Employment of Married Women in Europe. CHILD Working Papers 19, Centre for Household, Income, Labour and Demographic Economics.
- Dell'Aringa, C., & Lucifora, C. (2001). Inside the Black Box: Labour Market Institutions, Wage Formation and Unemployment in Italy. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.243909
- DeMaris, A., & MacDonald, W. (1993). Premarital Cohabitation and Marital Instability: A Test of the Unconventionality Hypothesis. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55(2), 399. https://doi.org/10.2307/352810

- Di Giulio, P., Impicciatore, R., & Sironi, M. (2019). The changing pattern of cohabitation: A sequence analysis approach. *Demographic Research*, 40, 1211–1248.
- Di Nallo, A., Lipps, O., Oesch, D., & Voorpostel, M. (2021). The effect of unemployment on couples separating in Germany and the UK. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12803
- Diekmann, A., & Engelhardt, H. (1999). The Social Inheritence of Divorce: Effects of Parent's Family Type in Postwar Germany. *American Sociological Review*, 64(6), 783–793. https://doi.org/10.2307/2657402
- Doiron, D., & Mendolia, S. (2012). The impact of job loss on family dissolution. *Journal of Population Economics*, 25(1), 367–398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-010-0353-5
- Dominitz, J., & Manski, C. F. (1997). Perceptions of Economic Insecurity. Public Opinion Quarterly, 61, 261–287.
- Dotti Sani, G. M. (2012). La divisione del lavoro domestico e delle attività di cura nelle coppie italiane: Un'analisi empirica. *Stato e Mercato*, *1*, 161–194.
- Dotti Sani, G. M. (2014). Men's Employment Hours and Time on Domestic Chores in European Countries. Journal of Family Issues, 35(8), 1023–1047. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X14522245
- Dotti Sani, G. M. (2016). Undoing Gender in Housework? Participation in Domestic Chores by Italian Fathers and Children of Different Ages. *Sex Roles*, 11.
- Dotti Sani, G. M. (2018a). *Time use in domestic settings throughout the life course. The Italian case.* Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Dotti Sani, G. M. (2018b). The economic crisis and changes in work–family arrangements in six European countries. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 28(2), 177–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928717700566
- Durkheim, E. (1893). The Division Of Labor In Society.
- Easterlin, R. A. (1976). The Conflict between Aspirations and Resources. *Population and Development Review*, 2(3/4), 417–425. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1971619
- EIGE. (2020). Gender Equality Index. https://eige.europa.eu/gender-equality-index
- Engelhardt, H., Trappe, H., & Dronkers, J. (2002). Differences in Family Policies and the Intergenerational Transmission of Divorce: A Comparison between the former East and West Germany. *Demographic Research*, 6, 295–324. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2002.6.11
- Esping Andersen, G. (2009). The Incomplete Revolution: Adapting to Women's New Roles (Malden).
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). The three worlds of welfare capitalism. Priceton University Press.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1999). Social foundations of postindustrial economies. Oxford Univ. Press.
- Esping-Andersen, G., & Billari, F. C. (2015). Re-theorizing Family Demographics. *Population and Development Review*, 41(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2015.00024.x

European Commission. (2016). European Platform tackling undeclared work Member State Factsheets and Synthesis Report.

Eurostat. (2019). How do women and men use their time. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat

- Eurostat. (2021). Eurostat data. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser
- Fallesen, P. (2021). Who Reacts to Less Restrictive Divorce Laws? Journal of Marriage and Family, 83(2), 608–619. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12722
- Fella, G., Manzini, P., & Mariotti, M. (2004). Does Divorce Law Matter? Journal of the European Economic Association, 2(4), 607–633. https://doi.org/10.1162/1542476041423359
- Ferrari, I. (2017). Family Relationships In Italy After The 2016 Reform: The New Provisions On Civil Unions And Cohabitation. *International Survey of Family Law*, 169–200.
- Ferrera, M. (1996). The 'Southern Model' of Welfare in Social Europe. Journal of European Social Policy, 6(1), 17–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/095892879600600102
- Ferro, I., & Salvini, S. (2007). Separazione e divorzio in Italia.
- Festinger, L. (1957). A theory of cognitive dissonance. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Fischer, T., & Liefbroer, A. C. (2006). For Richer, for Poorer: The Impact of Macroeconomic Conditions on Union Dissolution Rates in the Netherlands 1972-1996. *European Sociological Review*, 22(5), 519–532. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcl013
- Friedberg, L. (1998). Did Unilateral Divorce Raise Divorce Rates? Evidence from Panel Data. 21.
- Gabrielli, G., & Hoem, J. M. (2010). Italy's Non-Negligible Cohabitational Unions: La cohabitation hors mariage en Italie: un phénomène non négligeable. *European Journal of Population / Revue Européenne de Démographie*, 26(1), 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-009-9193-y
- García Pereiro, T., Pace, R., & Grazia Didonna, M. (2014). Entering first union: The choice between cohabitation and marriage among women in Italy and Spain. *Journal of Population Research*, *31*(1), 51–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12546-014-9123-7
- Garibaldi, P., & Taddei, F. (2013). *Italy: A Dual Labour Market in Transition*. (Employment Working Paper No. 144). Geneva: International Labor Organization
- Gash, V., Mertens, A., & Gordo, L. R. (2007). Are fixed-term jobs bad for yout health? A comparison of Weste Germany and Spain. *European Societies*, 9(3), 429–458. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616690701314150
- Geist, C. (2005). The Welfare State and the Home: Regime Differences in the Domestic Division of Labour. *European Sociological Review*, 21(1), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jci002
- Gerson, K. (2010). *The unfinished revolution: How a new generation is reshaping family, work, and gender in America.* Oxford University Press.
- Giddens, A. (1992). The Transformation of Intimacy: Sexuality, Love & Eroticism in Modern Societies. Stanford, Calif: Stanford University Press

- Giesecke, J. (2003). Temporary Employment: Chance or Risk? *European Sociological Review*, 19(2), 161–177. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/19.2.161
- Giorgi, F. (2018). *La recente evoluzione dell'indennità di disoccupazione in Italia* (Banca d'Italia No. 459; Banca d'Italia). Banca d'Italia.
- Glavin, P. (2015). Perceived Job Insecurity and Health: Do Duration and Timing Matter? The Sociological Quarterly, 56(2), 300–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/tsq.12087
- Goldscheider, F., Bernhardt, E., & Lappegård, T. (2015). The Gender Revolution: A Framework for Understanding Changing Family and Demographic Behavior. *Population and Development Review*, 41(2), 207–239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2015.00045.x
- Gonalons-Pons, P., & Gangl, M. (2021). Marriage and Masculinity: Male-Breadwinner Culture, Unemployment, and Separation Risk in 29 Countries. *American Sociological Review*, 86(3), 465–502. https://doi.org/10.1177/00031224211012442
- González, L., & Viitanen, T. K. (2009). The effect of divorce laws on divorce rates in Europe. *European Economic Review*, 53(2), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2008.05.005
- González-Val, R., & Marcén, M. (2017). Divorce and the business cycle: A cross-country analysis. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 15(3), 879–904. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-016-9329-x
- Goode, W. J. (1962). *Marital satisfaction and instability: A cross-cultural class analysis of divorce rates.* International Social Science Journal UNESCO.
- Goode, W. J. (1993). World Changes in Divorce Patterns. Yale University.
- Greenstein, T. N. (1995). Gender Ideology, Marital Disruption, and the Employment of Married Women. *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 57(1):31–42 <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/353814</u>.
- Grotti, R., & Scherer, S. (2014). Accumulation of Employment Instability Among Partners— Evidence from Six EU Countries. *European Sociological Review*, 30(5), 627–639. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcu063
- Guetto, R., Mancosu, M., Scherer, S., & Torricelli, G. (2016). The Spreading of Cohabitation as a Diffusion Process: Evidence from Italy. *European Journal of Population*, *32*(5), 661–686. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-016-9380-6
- Hansen, H.-T. (2005). Unemployment and Marital Dissolution: A Panel Data Study of Norway. *European Sociological Review*, 21(2), 135–148. JSTOR.
- Härkönen, J. (2011). Children and Dual Worklessness in Europe: A Comparison of Nine Countries: Enfants et couples sans emploi en Europe: une comparaison entre neuf pays. European Journal of Population / Revue Européenne de Démographie, 27(2), 217–241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-011-9232-3
- Harkonen, J., & Dronkers, J. (2006). Stability and Change in the Educational Gradient of Divorce. A Comparison of Seventeen Countries. *European Sociological Review*, 22(5), 501–517. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcl011

- Heuveline, P., & Timberlake, J. M. (2004). The role of cohabitation in family formation: The United States in comparative perspective. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 66(5), 1214–1230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-2445.2004.00088.x
- Hochschild, A. R. (1989). The Second Shift: Working Parents and the Revolution at Home. Avon Books.
- Hochschild, A. R. (2003). *The managed heart: Commercialization of human feeling* (20th anniversary ed). University of California Press.
- Hoem, J. M., & Kreyenfeld, M. (2006a). Anticipatory analysis and its alternatives in life-course research: Part 1: Education and first childbearing. *Demographic Research*, 15, 461–484. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2006.15.16
- Hoem, J. M., & Kreyenfeld, M. (2006b). Anticipatory analysis and its alternatives in life-course research: Part 2: Marriage and first birth. *Demographic Research*, 15, 485–498. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2006.15.17
- Howe, G. W., Levy, M. L., & Caplan, R. D. (2004). Job loss and depressive symptoms in couples: Common stressors, stress transmission, or relationship disruption? *Journal of Family Psychology*, 18, 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.18.4.639
- Impicciatore, R., & Billari, F. C. (2012). Secularization, Union Formation Practices, and Marital Stability: Evidence from Italy. *European Journal of Population / Revue Européenne de Démographie*, 28(2), 119–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-012-9255-4
- INPS. (2020a). Congedo parentale. https://www.inps.it
- INPS. (2020b). *Disoccupazione, sospensione del lavoro e salvaguardia dei lavoratori* [Instituto Nazionale della Previdenza Sociale National Institute of Social Security]. https://www.inps.it
- Istat. (2016a). *Le dinamiche del mercato del lavoro: Una lettura per generazione*. (Rapporto Annuale 2016.).
- Istat. (2016b). Matrimoni, separazioni e divorzi. Statisctiche Report, 22.
- Istat. (2017). Economia non-osservata nei conti nazionali. 18.
- Istat. (2018). Employment and unemployment.
- Istat. (2019a). Matrimoni e unioni civili (p. 13).
- Istat. (2019b). Multipurpose Survey On Households: Families, Social Subjects And Life Cycle. https://www.istat.it/en/archivio/236643
- Istat. (2021a). ISTAT data. http://dati.istat.it
- Istat. (2021b). Matrimoni, unioni civili, separazioni e divorzi 2019. https://www.istat.it
- Istat. (2021c). Scheda standard di qualità: Multiscopo sulle famiglie, Famiglia e Soggetti Sociali. https://www.istat.it/it/archivio/256707
- Jalovaara, M. (2003). The joint effects of marriage partners' socioeconomic positions on the risk of divorce. 40(1), 15.

- Jenkins, S. P. (2004). *Survival Analysis*. Unpublished manuscript, In- stitute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex, Colchester, UK. http://www.iser.essex.ac.uk/teaching/degree/stephenj/ec968/pdfs/ec968lnotesv6.pdf
- Jensen, P., & Smith, N. (1990). Unemployment and marital dissolution. *Journal of Population Economics*, *3*, 215–229.
- Kalleberg, A. L. (2012). The Social Contract in an Era of Precarious Work. Pathways, Fall, 3-6.
- Kalmijn, M. (2005). The effects of divorce on men's employment and social security histories. *European Journal of Population* [Revue Europe´enne de De´mographie], 21, 347–366.
- Kalmijn, M. (2007). Explaining cross-national differences in marriage, cohabitation, and divorce in Europe, 1990–2000. *Population Studies*, 61(3), 243–263. https://doi.org/10.1080/00324720701571806
- Kalmijn, M. (2010). Country Differences in the Effects of Divorce on Well-Being: The Role of Norms, Support, and Selectivity. *European Sociological Review*, 26(4), 475–490. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcp035
- Kalmijn, M. (2011). The Influence of Men's Income and Employment on Marriage and Cohabitation: Testing Oppenheimer's Theory in Europe. *European Journal of Population* / *Revue Européenne de Démographie*, 27(3), 269–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-011-9238-x
- Kalmijn, M., de Graaf, P. M., & Janssen, J. P. G. (2005). Intermarriage and the risk of divorce in the Netherlands: The effects of differences in religion and in nationality, 1974–94. *Population Studies*, 59(1), 71–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/0032472052000332719
- Kalmijn, M, de Graaf, P. M., & Poortman, A. (2004). Interactions between Cultural and Economic Determinants of Divorce in the Netherlands. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 66(1):75–89 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2004.00006.x.
- Kalmijn, M., & Luijkx, R. (2005). Has the reciprocal relationship between employment and marriage changed for men? An analysis of the life histories of men born in the Netherlands between 1930 and 1970. *Population Studies*, 59(2), 211–231. https://doi.org/10.1080/00324720500099587
- Kaplan, A., & Herbst-Debby, A. (2018). Fragile Employment, Liquid Love: Employment Instability and Divorce in Israel. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 37(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-017-9444-2
- Kelly Raley, R., & Wildsmith, E. (2004). Cohabitation and Children's Family Instability. Journal of Marriage and Family, 66(1), 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-2445.2004.00014.x-i1
- Killewald, A. (2016). Money, Work, and Marital Stability: Assessing Change in the Gendered Determinants of Divorce. American Sociological Review, 81(4), 696–719. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122416655340
- Kim, J., & Luke, N. (2020). Men's Economic Dependency, Gender Ideology, and Stress at Midlife. Journal of Marriage and Family, 82(3), 1026–1040. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12615

- Kim, M.-H., Kim, C., Park, J.-K., & Kawachi, I. (2008). Is precarious employment damaging to self-rated health? Results of propensity score matching methods, using longitudinal data in South Korea. Social Science & Medicine, 67(12), 1982–1994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.09.051
- Kinnunen, U., & Feldt, T. (2004). Economic stress and marital adjustment among couples: Analyses at the dyadic level. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *34*(5), 519–532. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.213
- Knight, F. H. (1921). Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit. Hart, Schaffner and Marx; Houghton Mifflin.
- Knijn, T., & Saraceno, C. (2010). Changes in the regulation of responsibilities towards childcare needs in Italy and the Netherlands: Different timing, increasingly different approaches. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 20(5), 444–455. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928710380481
- Knight, C, R., & Brinton, M. C. (2017). One Egalitarianism or Several? Two Decades of Gender-Role Attitude Change in Europe. *American Journal of Sociology* 112(5):1485–1532 https://doi.org/10.1086/689814.
- Koops, J. C., Liefbroer, A. C., & Gauthier, A. H. (2017). The Influence of Parental Educational Attainment on the Partnership Context at First Birth in 16 Western Societies. *European Journal of Population*, 33(4), 533–557. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-017-9421-9
- Kreyenfeld, M. (2010). Uncertainties in female employment careers and the postponement of parenthood in Germany. European Sociological Review, 26, 351–366.
- Kreyenfeld, M. (2015). Economic Uncertainty and Fertility. KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 67(1), 59–80.
- Kreyenfeld, M., Andersson, G., & Pailhé, A. (2012). Economic Uncertainty and Family Dynamics in Europe: Introduction. *Demographic Research*, 27, 835–852. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2012.27.28
- Lamanna, M. A. (2002). Emile Durkheim on the family. Sage Publications.
- Lamont, E. (2014). Negotiating Courtship: Reconciling Egalitarian Ideals with Traditional Gender Norms. *Gender and Society* 28(2):189–211 https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243213503899.
- Lamont, E. (2020). The Mating Game: How Gender Still Shapes How We Date. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Lampard, R. (1994). An examination of the relationship between marital dissolution and unemployment. In Gallie, D., Marsh, C. and Vogler, C. (Eds.), *Social Change and the Experience of Unemployment*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 264–298.
- Lappegård, T., Duvander, A.-Z., Neyer, G., Viklund, I., Andersen, S. N., & Garðarsdóttir, Ó. (2020). Fathers' Use of Parental Leave and Union Dissolution. *European Journal of Population*, 36(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-019-09518-z
- Lehrer, E. L., & Chiswick, C. U. (1993). Religion as a Determinant of Marital Stability. Demography, 30(3), 385. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061647
- Leira, A., & Saraceno, C. (2002). Care: Actors, relationships, contexts. 28.

- León, M., & Pavolini, E. (2014). 'Social Investment' or Back to 'Familism': The Impact of the Economic Crisis on Family and Care Policies in Italy and Spain. South European Society and Politics, 19(3), 353–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/13608746.2014.948603
- Leopold, T. (2018). Gender Differences in the Consequences of Divorce: A Study of Multiple Outcomes. Demography, 55(3), 769–797. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-018-0667-6
- Lesthaeghe, R. (1991). The Second Demographic Transition in Western Countries: An Interpretation.
- Lesthaeghe, R. (1998). On Theory Development: Applications to the Study of Family Formation. *Population and Development Review*, 24(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.2307/2808120
- Lesthaeghe, R. (2014). The second demographic transition: A concise overview of its development: Table 1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(51), 18112–18115. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1420441111
- Lesthaeghe, R. (2020). The second demographic transition, 1986–2020: Sub-replacement fertility and rising cohabitation—a global update. *Genus*, 76(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41118-020-00077-4
- Lesthaeghe, R., & Van de Kaa, D. J. (1986). Twee demografische transities. *Groei En Krimp, Van Loghum Slaterus Deventer*.
- Liefbroer, A. C., & Dourleijn, E. (2006). Unmarried Cohabitation and Union Stability: Testing the Role of Diffusion Using Data from 16 European Countries. *Demography*, 43(2), 203–221.
- Liker, J. K., & Elder, G. H. (1983). Economic Hardship and Marital Relations in the 1930s. American Sociological Review, 48(3), 343. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095227
- Lillard, L. A., Brien, M. J., & Waite, L. J. (1995). Premarital Cohabitation and Subsequent Marital Dissolution: A Matter of Self-Selection?". *Demography*, 32(3), 437. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061690
- Lister, R. (1997). Citizenship: Towards a Feminist Synthesis. *Feminist Review*, 57(1), 28–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/014177897339641
- Lyngstad, T. H. (2006). Why do Couples with Highly Educated Parents have Higher Divorce Rates? *European Sociological Review*, 22(1), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jci041
- Lyngstad, T., & Jalovaara, M. (2010). A review of the antecedents of union dissolution. Demographic Research, 23, 257–292. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2010.23.10
- Mai, Q. (2017). Precarious Work in Europe: Assessing Cross-National Differences and Institutional Determinants of Work Precarity in 32 European Countries. In A. L. Kalleberg & S. P. Vallas (Eds.), *Research in the Sociology of Work* (Vol. 31, pp. 273–306). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0277-283320170000031009
- Manning, W. D. (2020). Young Adulthood Relationships in an Era of Uncertainty: A Case for Cohabitation. *Demography*, 57(3), 799–819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-020-00881-9
- Marino, F., & Nunziata, L. (2017). The labor market in Italy, 2000–2016. *IZA World of Labor*. https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.407

- Marsh, C., & Alvaro, J. L. (1990). A cross-cultural perspective on the social and psychological distress caused by unemployment: A comparison of Spain and the United Kingdom. *European* Sociological Review, 6(3), 237–256. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.esr.a036564
- Maslow, A. H. (1954). Motivation and Personality. 395.
- Mathieu, S. (2016). From the Defamilialization to the "Demotherization" of Care Work. Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society, 23(4), 576–591. https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxw006
- Matysiak, A., Styrc, M., & Vignoli, D. (2014). The educational gradient in marital disruption: A meta-analysis of European research findings. *Population Studies*, 68(2), 197–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/00324728.2013.856459
- McDonald, P. (2000). Gender Equity in Theories of Fertility Transition. *Population and Development Review*, 26(3), 427–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2000.00427.x
- McDonald, P. (2013). Societal foundations for explaining fertility: Gender equity. *Demographic Research*, 28, 981–994. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2013.28.34
- McKee-Ryan, F. and Maitoza, R. (2014). Job loss, unemployment, and families. In Klehe, U.-C. and van Hooft, E. (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of Job Loss and Job Search. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Meggiolaro, S., & Ongaro, F. (2019). The involvement in childcare of married and cohabiting fathers: Evidence from Italy. *Genus*, 75(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41118-018-0051-9
- Mencarini, L., & Vignoli, D. (2018). Employed Women and Marital Union Stability: It Helps When Men Help. Journal of Family Issues, 39(5), 1348–1373. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X17710283
- Mikolai, J., & Kulu, H. (2018). Divorce, Separation, and Housing Changes: A Multiprocess Analysis of Longitudinal Data from England and Wales. *Demography*, 55(1), 83–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-017-0640-9
- Mills, M., & Blossfeld, H.-P. (2013). The Second Demographic Transition Meets Globalization: A Comprehensive Theory to Understand Changes in Family Formation in an Era of Rising Uncertainty. In Negotiating the Life Course. Stability and Change in Life Pathways.
- Mills, M., Blossfeld, H.-P., & Bernardi, F. (2006). Globalization, uncertainty and men's employment careers. A theoretical framework. In *Globalization, uncertainty, and men's careers: An international comparison* (p. 39).
- Morosow, K., Jalovaara, M., & Härkönen, J. (2020). Cash-for-Care Use and Union Dissolution in Finland. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *n/a*(n/a). https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12738
- Mulder, C. (2013). Family dynamics and housing: Conceptual issues and empirical findings. *Demographic Research*, 29, 355–378. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2013.29.14
- Musumeci, R., & Solera, C. (2013). Women's and men's career interruptions in Europe: The role of social policies1. Observatoire de La Société Britannique, 14, 37–72. https://doi.org/10.4000/osb.1511

- Mynarska, M., Matysiak, A., Rybińska, A., Tocchioni, V., & Vignoli, D. (2015). Diverse paths into childlessness over the life course. *Advances in Life Course Research*, 25, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2015.05.003
- Naldini, M. (2003). The Family in the Mediterranean Welfare States. Frank Cass.
- Naldini, M. (2015). La transizione alla genitorialità. Da coppie moderne a famiglie tradizionali. Il Mulino.
- Naldini, M., & Jurado, T. (2013). Family and Welfare State Reorientation in Spain and Inertia in Italy from a European Perspective. *Population Review*, 52(1). https://doi.org/10.1353/prv.2013.0003
- Naldini, M., & Saraceno, C. (2008). Social and Family Policies in Italy: Not Totally Frozen but Far from Structural Reforms. *Social Policy & Administration*, 42(7), 733–748. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9515.2008.00635.x
- Naldini, M., & Saraceno, C. (2011). Conciliare famiglia e lavoro. Vecchi e nuovi patti tra sessi e generazioni. Il Mulino.
- Naldini, M., & Solera, C. (2018). Chapter 2: When Husbands and Wives Don't Agree, Who 'Wins'? Value/Practice Dissonance in the Division of Work Around Parenthood in Italy. In A. Santero & R. Musumeci (Eds.), *Contemporary Perspectives in Family Research* (Vol. 12, pp. 45–76). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1530-353520180000012003
- Nativel, C. (2002). Upgrading the skills of the low-qualified: A new local policy agenda an exploratory report. (DT/LEED/DC(2002)5; Territorial Development Division). OECD.
- OECD. (2017). The Pursuit of Gender Equality: An Uphill Battle. OECD Report.
- OECD. (2018). Temporary employment. https://data.oecd.org/emp/temporary-employment
- OECD. (2019). OECD Employment Outlook 2019: The Future of Work. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9ee00155-en
- Oesch, D., & Lipps, O. (2013). Does Unemployment Hurt Less if There is More of it Around? A Panel Analysis of Life Satisfaction in Germany and Switzerland. *European Sociological Review*, 29(5), 955–967. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcs071
- Oláh, L. S., & Gahler, M. (2014). Gender Equality Perceptions, Division of Paid and Unpaid Work, and Partnership Dissolution in Sweden. *Social Forces*, 93(2), 571–594. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sou066
- Ono, H. (1998). Husbands' and Wives' Resources and Marital Dissolution. *Journal of Marriage* and Family, 60(3), 674–689. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/353537
- Ono, H. (1999). Historical Time and U.S. Marital Dissolution. 31.
- Ono, H., & Yeilding, R. (2009). Marriage, Cohabitation and Childcare: The US and Sweden. *Social Indicators Research*, 4.
- Oppenheimer, V. K. (1988). A Theory of Marriage Timing. American Journal of Sociology, 94(3), 563–591.

- Oppenheimer, V. K. (1994). Women's Rising Employment and the Future of the Family in Industrial Societies. *Population and Development Review*, 20(2), 293. https://doi.org/10.2307/2137521
- Oppenheimer, V. K., Kalmijn, M., & Lim, N. (1997). Men's Career Development and Marriage Timing During a Period of Rising Inequality. *Demography*, 34(3), 311. https://doi.org/10.2307/3038286
- Özcan, B., & Breen, R. (2012). Marital Instability and Female Labor Supply. Annual Review of Sociology, 38(1), 463–481. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-071811-145457
- Özcan, B., Mayer, K. U., & Luedicke, J. (2010). The impact of unemployment on the transition to parenthood. *Demographic Research*, 23, 807–846. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2010.23.29
- Pailhé, A., & Solaz, A. (2012). The influence of employment uncertainty on childbearing in France: A tempo or quantum effect? *Demographic Research*, 26, 1–40. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2012.26.1
- Perelli-Harris, B., Berrington, A., Sanchez Gassen, N., Galezewska, P., & Holland, J. (2016). *Is there a link between the divorce revolution and the cohabitation boom?*
- Perelli-Harris, B., & Gassen, N. S. (2012). How Similar Are Cohabitation and Marriage? Legal Approaches to Cohabitation across Western Europe. *Population and Development Review*, 38(3), 435–467. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2012.00511.x
- Perelli-Harris, B., & Lyons-Amos, M. (2015). Changes in partnership patterns across the life course: An examination of 14 countries in Europe and the United States. *Demographic Research*, 33, 145–178. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2015.33.6
- Perelli-Harris, B., & Lyons-Amos, M. (2016). Partnership Patterns in the United States and across Europe: The Role of Education and Country Context. *Social Forces*, 95(1), 251–282. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sow054
- Perelli-Harris, B., Mynarska, M., Berrington, A., Berghammer, C., Evans, A., Isupova, O., Keizer, R., Klärner, A., Lappegård, T., & Vignoli, D. (2014). Towards a new understanding of cohabitation: Insights from focus group research across Europe and Australia. *Demographic Research*, 31, 1043–1078.
- Perelli-Harris, B., Sigle-Rushton, W., Kreyenfeld, M., Lappegård, T., Keizer, R., & Berghammer, C. (2010). The Educational Gradient of Childbearing within Cohabitation in Europe. *Population and Development Review*, 36(4), 775–801. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2010.00357.x
- Piccone Stella, S. & Salmieri, L. (2016). Convivere in Italia. La famiglia fuori dal matrimonio Biblioteca di testi e studi (1073) ISBN: 9788843085026
- Piore, M. J. (1980). Economic Fluctuation, Job Security, and Labor-Market Duality in Italy, France, and the United States. *Politics & Society*, 9(4), 379–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/003232928000900401
- Pirani, E. (2016). Intergenerational contact across marriage and cohabitation in Italy. Something new? *DISIA Working Paper 2016/07*, 24.

- Pirani, E., & Salvini, S. (2015). Is temporary employment damaging to health? A longitudinal study on Italian workers. *Social Science & Medicine*, 124, 121–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.11.033
- Poortman, A.-R. (2005). How work affects divorce: The mediating role of financial and time pressures. *Journal of Family Issues* 26(2): 168–195. doi:10.1177/019251 3X04270228.
- Preston, S. H. (1986). Changing Values and Falling Birth Rates. *Population and Development Review*, 12, 176. https://doi.org/10.2307/2807901
- Randall, A. K., & Bodenmann, G. (2009). The role of stress on close relationships and marital satisfaction. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(2), 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2008.10.004
- Reher, D. S. (1998). Family Ties in Western Europe: Persistent Contrasts. Population and Development Review, 24(2), 203. https://doi.org/10.2307/2807972
- Risman, B. J. (2004). Gender as a Social Structure: Theory Wrestling with Activism. Gender and Society, 18(4), 429–450.
- Riva, E. (2016). Familialism reoriented: Continuity and change in work–family policy in Italy. *Community*, *Work* & *Family*, *19*(1), 21–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/13668803.2015.1024610
- Rogers, E. (1962). Diffusion of Innovations.
- Rosina, A., & Fraboni, R. (2004). Is marriage losing its centrality in Italy? *Demographic Research*, *11*, 149–172. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2004.11.6
- Ruggles, S. (1997). The Rise of Divorce and Separation in the United States 1880-1990. *Demography*, 34(4), 455–466.
- Sacchi, S. (2013). Social Policy Reform in the Italian Debt Crisis: Pensions, Labor, Unemployment Benefits. *Italian Politics*, 28(1). https://doi.org/10.3167/ip.2013.280112
- Salvini, S., & Vignoli, D. (2011). Things change: Women's and men's marital disruption dynamics in Italy during a time of social transformations, 1970-2003. *Demographic Research*, 24, 145–174. https://doi.org/10.4054/demres.2011.24.5
- Saraceno, C. (2005). Le differenze che contano tra i lavoratori atipici, in S. Bertolini, R. Rizza (a cura di). *Sociologia Del Lavoro*, 97.
- Sayer, & Bianchi. (2000). Women's economic independence and the probability of divorce. A review and riexamination. 21(7).
- Sayer, L. C., England, P., Allison, P. D., & Kangas, N. (2011). She Left, He Left: How Employment and Satisfaction Affect Women's and Men's Decisions to Leave Marriages. *American Journal of Sociology*, 116(6), 1982–2018. https://doi.org/10.1086/658173
- Schaller, J. (2013). For richer, if not for poorer? Marriage and divorce over the business cycle. Journal of Population Economics, 26(3), 1007–1033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-012-0413-0

- Scherer, S. (2009). The Social Consequences of Insecure Jobs. *Social Indicators Research*, 93(3), 527–547. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9431-4
- Schneider, D. (2015). The Great Recession, Fertility, and Uncertainty: Evidence From the United States: The Great Recession, Fertility, and Uncertainty. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(5), 1144–1156. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12212
- Schneider, D., & Hastings, O. P. (2015). Socioeconomic Variation in the Effect of Economic Conditions on Marriage and Nonmarital Fertility in the United States: Evidence From the Great Recession. *Demography*, 52(6), 1893–1915. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-015-0437-7
- Scirè, G. (2007). Il divorzio in Italia. Partiti, Chiesa, società civile dalla legge al referendum (1965-1974). Mondadori.
- Shiner, L. (1967). The Concept of Secularization in Empirical Research. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 6(2), 207–220. https://doi.org/10.2307/1384047
- Sigle-Rushton, W. (2010). Men's Unpaid Work and Divorce: Reassessing Specialization and Trade in British Families. *Feminist Economics*, 16(2), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/13545700903448801
- Smock, P. J. (2000). Cohabitation in the United States: An Appraisal of Research Themes, Findings, and Implications. Annual Review of Sociology, 26(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.1
- Sobotka, T., Skirbekk, V., & Philipov, D. (2011). Economic Recession and Fertility in the Developed World. *Population and Development Review*, 37(2), 267–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2011.00411.x
- Sobotka, T., & Toulemon, L. (2008). Overview Chapter 4: Changing family and partnership behaviour: Common trends and persistent diversity across Europe. *Demographic Research*, 19, 85–138. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2008.19.6
- Solaz, A., Jalovaara, M., Kreyenfeld, M., Meggiolaro, S., Mortelmans, D., & Pasteels, I. (2020). Unemployment and separation: Evidence from five European countries. *Journal of Family Research*, 32(1), 145–176. https://doi.org/10.20377/jfr-368
- Solera, C. (2012). Corsi di vita femminili tra maternità e lavoro. In *Corsi di vita e generazioni (Ed. Manuela Naldini, Cristina Solera, Paola Maria Torrioni)*. Il Mulino.
- Solera, C. (2014). Le uscite delle donne dal mercato del lavoro: Quanto pesano la classe, il contratto e il settore? Un confronto tra Italia, Spagna, Danimarca e Regno Unito. *Sociologia Del Lavoro*, *134*.
- Starkey, J. L. (1996). Race differences in the Effect of Unemployment on Marital ~nstability: A Socioeconomic Analysis. *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 25(6), 38.
- Steiber, N. (2009). Reported Levels of Time-based and Strain-based Conflict Between Work and Family Roles in Europe: A Multilevel Approach. Social Indicators Research, 93(3), 469– 488. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9436-z
- Storesletten, K., Telmer, C. I., & Yaron, A. (2004). Cyclical Dynamics in Idiosyncratic Labor Market Risk. Journal of Political Economy, 112(3), 695–717. https://doi.org/10.1086/383105

- Svarer, M., & Verner, M. (2008). Do children stabilize relationships in Denmark? Journal of Population Economics, 21(2), 395–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-006-0084-9
- Teachman, J. D., Thomas, J., & Paasch, K. (1991). Legal Status and the Stability of Coresidential Unions. *Demography*, 28(4), 571. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061423
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Stress and Health: Major Findings and Policy Implications. *Journal of Health* and Social Behavior, 51(S), S41–S53. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1177/0022146510383499
- Thomas, L. E., Mccabe, E., & Berry, J. E. (1980). Unemployment and Family Stress: A Reassessment. Family Relations, 29(4), 517. https://doi.org/10.2307/584467
- Thomson, E. (2014). Family Complexity in Europe. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 654(1), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716214531384
- Thomson, E., Winkler-Dworak, M., Spielauer, M., & Prskawetz, A. (2012). Union Instability as an Engine of Fertility? A Microsimulation Model for France. *Demography*, 49(1), 175–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-011-0085-5
- Thornton, A. (1977). Children and Marital Stability. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 39(3), 531–540. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/350907
- Thornton, A., Axinn, W. G., & Hill, D. H. (1992). Reciprocal Effects of Religiosity, Cohabitation, and Marriage. American Journal of Sociology, 98(3), 628–651.
- Todesco, L. (2008). Il fenomeno dell'instabilità coniugale nei paesi occidentali. Uno sguardo d'insieme. Quaderni di Ricerca del Dipartimento di Scienze Sociali dell'Università di Torino 11, 120.
- Todesco, L. (2009). Chi paga per la rottura? Le conseguenze economiche dell'instabilità coniugale in Italia. *Polis*, *1*, 83–114. https://doi.org/10.1424/29385
- Todesco, L. (2011). A Matter of Number, Age or Marriage? Children and Marital Dissolution in Italy. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 30(2), 313–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-010-9190-1
- Todesco, L. (2012). Family social background and marital instability in Italy. Do parental education and social class matter?
- Trovato, F. (1994). Religious Disaffiliation and Divorce in Canada. Journal of Divorce & Remarriage, 20(1–2), 189–204. https://doi.org/10.1300/J087v20n01_10
- Tschannen, O. (1991). The Secularization Paradigm: A Systematization. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 30(4), 395. https://doi.org/10.2307/1387276

Van de Kaa, D. J. (1987). Europe's second demographic transition. Popul Bull, 42 (1), 1–59.

Van de Kaa, D. J. (2002). The idea of a Second Demographic Transition in Industrialized Countries.

van der Lippe, T., de Ruijter, J., de Ruijter, E., & Raub, W. (2011). Persistent Inequalities in Time Use between Men and Women: A Detailed Look at the Influence of Economic Circumstances, Policies, and Culture. *European Sociological Review*, 27(2), 164–179. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcp066

- Vezzoni, C., & Biolcati-Rinaldi, F. (2015). Church Attendance and Religious Change in Italy, 1968-2010: A Multilevel Analysis of Pooled Datasets: Attendance and Religious Change in Italy. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 54(1), 100–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12173
- Vignoli, D., Bazzani, G., Guetto, R., Minello, A., & Pirani, E. (2020). Uncertainty and Narratives of the Future: A Theoretical Framework for Contemporary Fertility. In R. Schoen (Ed.), *Analyzing Contemporary Fertility* (Vol. 51, pp. 25–47). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-48519-1_3
- Vignoli, D., Drefahl, S., & De Santis, G. (2012). Whose job instability affects the likelihood of becoming a parent in Italy? A tale of two partners. *Demographic Research*, 26, 41–62. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2012.26.2
- Vignoli, D., & Ferro, I. (2009). Rising marital disruption in Italy and its correlates. *Demographic Research*, 20, 11–36. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2009.20.4
- Vignoli, D., Guetto, R., Bazzani, G., Pirani, E., & Minello, A. (2020a). Economic Uncertainty and Fertility in Europe: Narratives of the Future. *DISIA Working Paper 2020/1*, 31.
- Vignoli, D., Guetto, R., Bazzani, G., Pirani, E., & Minello, A. (2020b). A reflection on economic uncertainty and fertility in Europe: The Narrative Framework. *Genus*, 76(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41118-020-00094-3
- Vignoli, D., Matysiak, A., Styrc, M., & Tocchioni, V. (2018). The positive impact of women's employment on divorce: Context, selection, or anticipation? *Demographic Research*, 38, 1059–1110. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2018.38.37
- Vignoli, D., Mencarini, L., & Alderotti, G. (2020). Is the impact of employment uncertainty on fertility intentions channeled by subjective well-being? *Advances in Life Course Research*
- Vignoli, D., & Salvini, S. (2014). Religion and union formation in Italy: Catholic precepts, social pressure, and tradition. *Demographic Research*, *31*, 1079–1106. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2014.31.35
- Vignoli, D., Tocchioni, V., & Mattei, A. (2019). The impact of job uncertainty on first-birth postponement. *Advances in Life Course Research*, 100308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2019.100308
- Vignoli, D., Tocchioni, V., & Salvini, S. (2016). Uncertain lives: Insights into the role of job precariousness in union formation in Italy. *Demographic Research*, 35, 253–282. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2016.35.10
- Virtanen, M., Kivimäki, M., Joensuu, M., Virtanen, P., Elovainio, M., & Vahtera, J. (2005). Temporary employment and health: A review. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 34(3), 610–622. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyi024
- Wagner, M., & Weiss, B. (2006). On the Variation of Divorce Risks in Europe: Findings from a Meta-Analysis of European Longitudinal Studies. *European Sociological Review*, 22(5), 483–500. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jc1014
- Waite, L. J., & Lillard, L. A. (1991). Children and Marital Disruption. American Journal of Sociology, 96(4), 930–953. https://doi.org/10.1086/229613

- Wenger, J. B., & Kalleberg, A. L. (2006). Employers' Flexibility and Employment Volatility: An Analysis of the U.S. Personnel Supply Industry, 1972-2000. The American Journal of Economics and Sociology, 65(2), 347–382.
- West, C., & Zimmerman, D. H. (1987). Doing Gender. *Gender and Society*, Vol. 1, No. 2. (Jun., 1987), pp. 125-151.
- Whelan, C. T. (1994). Social Class, Unemployment, and Psychological Distress. European Sociological Review, 10(1), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.esr.a036315
- White, L. K. (1990). Determinants of Divorce: A Review of Research in the Eighties. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 52(4), 904. https://doi.org/10.2307/353309
- Wickrama, K. A. S., O'Neal, C. W., & Klopack, E. T. (2020). Couple-Level Stress Proliferation and Husbands' and Wives' Distress During the Life Course. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(3), 1041–1055. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12644
- Wilthagen, T., & Tros, F. (2004). The concept of 'flexicurity': A new approach to regulating employment and labour markets. *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research*, 10(2), 166–186. https://doi.org/10.1177/102425890401000204
- Winship, F. E. (2014). Endogenous Selection Bias: The Problem of Conditioning on a Collider Variable. Annual Review of Sociology, 40, 31–53.
- Wuthnow, R. (1976). Recent Pattern of Secularization: A Problem of Generations? American Sociological Review, 41(5), 850. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094731

APPENDIX

1. Sample selection: different age limits

VARIABLES(1)(2)(3)(1)(2)(3)Years since union formation	** 5)
Years since union formation	** 5)
union formation	** 5)
1.2	** 5)
1-3	** 5)
4-7 1.52*** 1.59*** 1.57*** 1.33*** 1.34*** 1.35**	5)
(0.172) (0.180) (0.178) (0.135) (0.135) (0.135)	
8-14 1.53*** 1.66*** 1.62*** 1.32** 1.35** 1.36**	**
(0.186) (0.201) (0.197) (0.154) (0.159) (0.16)	1)
15-20 1.54*** 1.74*** 1.68*** 1.54*** 1.59*** 1.60**	**
(0.241) (0.271) (0.263) (0.243) (0.256) (0.266)))
20+ 1.23 1.41* 1.36* 1.22 1.31 1.33	
$(0.220) \qquad (0.249) \qquad (0.240) \qquad (0.252) \qquad (0.273) \qquad (0.277)$	7)
Region	
North	
Centre 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.11 1.07 1.07	
(0.095) (0.095) (0.096) (0.109) (0.106) (0.106)	5)
South 0.79** 0.73*** 0.75*** 0.83** 0.76*** 0.75*	**
(0.076) (0.070) (0.073) (0.079) (0.075) (0.075)	5)
Cohort	
1950-1959	
1960-1969 1.55*** 1.43*** 1.43*** 1.68*** 1.60*** 1.61**	**
$(0.176) \qquad (0.164) \qquad (0.165) \qquad (0.183) \qquad (0.187) \qquad (0.183)$	5)
1970-1986 2.11*** 1.96*** 1.97*** 1.86*** 1.70*** 1.70***	**
$(0.243) \qquad (0.230) \qquad (0.231) \qquad (0.216) \qquad (0.214) \qquad (0.211)$	3)
Cohabitation 3.93*** 4.02*** 4.02*** 4.77*** 4.81*** 4.81**	**
(0.375) (0.392) (0.393) (0.447) (0.462) (0.462)	3)
Children	
Childless	
1 age 0-6 0.55*** 0.55*** 0.55*** 0.39*** 0.40*** 0.40**	**
(0.066) (0.065) (0.066) (0.048) (0.049) (0.049)))
1 age 7+ 0.91 0.89 0.90 0.68** 0.69** 0.69*	*
(0.129) (0.126) (0.128) (0.113) (0.116) (0.116)	5)
$2 \text{ youngest } 0.6 \qquad 0.45^{***} \qquad 0.44^{***} \qquad 0.45^{***} \qquad 0.28^{***} \qquad 0.29^{***} \qquad 0.29^{**} \qquad 0.29^{*} \qquad 0.29^{*}$	~) **
(0.066) (0.064) (0.066) (0.045) (0.047) (0.047)	7)
2 voungest 7+ 0.63^{***} 0.60^{***} 0.61^{***} 0.48^{***} 0.50^{***} 0.50^{**}	**
(0.101) (0.097) (0.098) (0.082) (0.087) (0.087)	7)
3 or more 0.46^{***} 0.43^{***} 0.45^{***} 0.32^{***} 0.32^{***} 0.32^{***}	**
(0.093) (0.088) (0.090) (0.074) (0.076) (0.076)	5)

Table 1.1: Robustness check, age<50

204

At least one parent is highly educated 1.12 1.09 1.09 1.46*** 1.44*** 1.44*** Education None or elementary Lower secondary 0.109 (0.109) (0.109) (0.109) (0.148) (0.146) (0.146) Education None or elementary 1.45* 1.51** 1.51** 1.51** 1.43* 1.43* Lower secondary 1.45* 1.51** 1.51** 1.51** 1.43* 1.43* Upper secondary 1.67** 1.76*** 1.74*** 1.43* 1.32 1.33 Upper secondary 1.71** 1.80*** 1.78*** 1.35 1.29 1.29 (0.366) 0.51*** 0.53*** 0.54*** 0.60:33 0.0279) (0.279) (0.279) (0.279) % relationship jobless 0.51*** 0.53*** 0.54*** 0.80 0.77 More than 50% 0.55*** 0.55*** 0.46** 0.45*** 1.63** Up to 10% 0.55*** 0.55*** 0.46** 0.45*** 1.21 Up to 10% 0.55*** 0.55*** 0.46** 0.45*** 1.27	Separated parents	1.59*** (0.193)	1.63*** (0.202)	1.64*** (0.202)	1.09 (0.156)	1.14 (0.157)	1.13 (0.156)
is highly educated (0.109) (0.109) (0.109) (0.148) (0.146) (0.146) Education None or elementary (0.29) (0.301) (0.292) (0.274) (0.275) Upper secondary 1.45* 1.51** 1.43* 1.32 1.33 Upper secondary 1.67** 1.76*** 1.74*** 1.43* 1.32 1.33 Tertiary 1.71** 1.80*** 1.78*** 1.35 1.29 1.23 Up to 25% 0.51*** 0.53*** 0.53*** 0.64*** 0.603 0.053 0.0053 0.053 0.053 0.053 0.20	At least one parent	1.12	1.09	1.09	1.46***	1.44***	1.44***
Education None or elementary Lower secondary 1.45^{*} 1.51^{**} 1.51^{**} 1.51^{**} 1.43^{*} 1.43^{*} Lower secondary 1.45^{**} 1.76^{***} 1.76^{***} 1.74^{***} 1.43^{**} 1.23^{*} Upper secondary 1.77^{***} 1.74^{***} 1.43^{**} 1.32^{*} 1.33^{*} Tertiary 1.71^{***} 1.80^{****} 1.78^{****} 1.35^{*} 1.29^{*} 0.255^{*} Yerelationship $(0.366)^{*}$ $(0.388)^{*}$ $(0.293)^{*}$ $(0.279)^{*}$ $(0.279)^{*}$ Varelationship $(0.054)^{*}$ $(0.55)^{**}$ 0.54^{***} 0.54^{****} 0.54^{****} Up to 25% 0.51^{***} 0.53^{***} 0.80^{*} 0.77^{*} $(0.053)^{*}$ $(0.147)^{*}$ $(0.153)^{*}$ More than 50% 0.62^{***} 0.89^{*} 1.74^{***} 1.63^{***} Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} 1.06^{**} Initree limited 0.133^{*} 0.79^{*} 0.70^{*}	is highly educated	(0.109)	(0.109)	(0.109)	(0.148)	(0.146)	(0.146)
cerementary Lower secondary 1.45* 1.51** 1.51** 1.51** 1.43* 1.43* Upper secondary 1.67** 1.76*** 1.74*** 1.43* 1.32 1.33 Upper secondary 1.67** 1.76*** 1.74*** 1.43* 1.32 1.33 (0.337) (0.354) (0.352) (0.276) (0.255) (0.279) Tertiary 1.71** 1.80*** 1.78*** 1.35 1.29 1.29 (0.366) (0.388) (0.352) (0.279) (0.279) (0.279) % relationship jobless 0.51*** 0.53*** 0.54*** 0.54*** (0.055) (0.147) (0.153) (0.055) (0.147) (0.153) More than 50% 0.62*** 0.89 1.74*** 1.63** (0.065) (0.137) (0.204) (0.373) % relationship in time-limited 0.46** 0.45*** (0.069) 0.094) (0.141) (0.138) <td< td=""><td>Education None or</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	Education None or						
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Lower secondary	1.45*	1.51**	1.51**	1.51**	1.43*	1.43*
Tertiary 1.71^{**} 1.80^{***} 1.78^{***} 1.35 1.29 1.29 % relationship jobless (0.366) (0.388) (0.385) (0.293) (0.279) (0.279) % relationship jobless (0.51^{***}) 0.53^{***} 0.54^{***} 0.54^{***} 0.54^{***} Up to 25% 0.51^{***} 0.53^{***} 0.64^{***} 0.54^{***} 0.54^{***} More than 50% 0.52^{***} 0.33^{***} 0.80 0.77 More than 50% 0.62^{***} 0.89 1.74^{***} 1.63^{**} Never time- limited 0.065^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.20 More than 20%	Upper secondary	(0.289) 1.67** (0.337)	(0.300) 1.76^{***} (0.354)	(0.301) 1.74^{***} (0.352)	(0.292) 1.43* (0.276)	(0.274) 1.32 (0.255)	(0.275) 1.33 (0.256)
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Tertiary	1.71** (0.366)	1.80*** (0.388)	1.78*** (0.385)	1.35 (0.293)	1.29 (0.279)	1.29 (0.279)
Never jobless 0.51*** 0.53*** 0.54*** 0.54*** Up to 25% 0.054 (0.055) (0.053) (0.053) 25% to 50% 0.56*** 0.63*** 0.80 0.77 More than 50% 0.62*** 0.89 1.74*** 1.63** Wore than 50% 0.62*** 0.89 1.74*** 1.63** Wore than 50% 0.65*** 0.89 1.74*** 1.63** Wore than 50% 0.55*** 0.46** 0.45*** 1.63** Wore thime-limited 0.094) (0.141) (0.138) 0.141) (0.138) 10% to 20% 0.79 0.79 0.70 0.67 (0.167) (0.242) (0.141) (0.256) Employment 1.57*** 1.63*** 1.43*** 1.27 (0.167) (0.242) (0.184) (0.256) Employment 1.23 0.90 1.39** 1.20 (0.246) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39** 1.20 (0.169) (0.201)	% relationship jobless						
Up to 25% 0.51^{***} 0.53^{***} 0.54^{***} 0.54^{***} 25% to 50% 0.63^{***} 0.63^{***} 0.80 0.77 More than 50% 0.62^{***} 0.89 1.74^{***} 1.63^{**} More than 50% 0.62^{***} 0.89 1.74^{***} 1.63^{**} (0.065) (0.137) (0.204) (0.373) % relationship in time-limited jobs 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} 10% to 20% 0.79 0.79 0.70 0.67 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{**} 1.27 (0.167) (0.242) (0.184) (0.256) Employment status and type of contract $Permanent$ 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) $0.246)$ Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 <td>Never jobless</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Never jobless						
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Up to 25%		0.51^{***}	0.53***		0.54^{***}	0.54^{***}
More than 50% (0.079) $0.62***$ 0.065 (0.095) 0.89 0.147 0.204 (0.153) $0.74***$ 0.204 % relationship in time-limited jobs Never time- limited (0.065) $0.055**$ (0.137) (0.204) (0.373) % relationship in time-limited jobs Never time- limited (0.094) 0.094 (0.141) 0.094 (0.141) $0.141)(0.138)10% to 20%0.790.790.700.790.670.067(0.214)0.206)(0.206)More than 20%1.57***0.1671.63***0.186)1.43***0.214)1.270.206)Employmentstatus and typeof contractPermanentJobless0.73***0.069)0.66***0.099)1.62***0.180)0.201)1.090.284)Self-employed1.060.132)1.080.0135)10.000.009)0.960.098)ObservationsIndividuals183,0846602660266026602588758875887588758875887141,803141,803141,803141,8031098$	25% to 50%		0.56***	0.63***		0.80	0.77
More than 50% 0.62^{***} 0.89 1.74^{***} 1.63^{**} (0.065)(0.137)(0.204)(0.373)% relationship in time-limited jobs 0.65^{***} 0.65^{***} 0.204 Wever time- limited 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} 0.094 (0.094) (0.141) (0.138) 10% to 20% 0.79 0.79 0.70 0.67 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{***} 1.27 (0.167) (0.242) (0.184) (0.256) Employment status and type of contract Permanent Jobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098 1098			(0.079)	(0.095)		(0.147)	(0.153)
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	More than 50%		0.62^{***} (0.065)	0.89 (0.137)		1.74*** (0.204)	1.63** (0.373)
Never time- limited 0.55^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} 10% to 20% 0.79 0.79 0.70 0.67 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{***} 1.27 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{***} 1.27 More than 20% 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 More than 20%	% relationship in time-limited jobs						
Imilial Up to 10% 0.55^{***} 0.55^{***} 0.46^{**} 0.45^{***} (0.094) (0.094) (0.141) (0.138) 10% to 20% 0.79 0.79 0.70 0.67 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{***} 1.27 (0.167) (0.242) (0.184) (0.256) Employment status and type of contract Permanent Jobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 (0.069) (0.099) (0.180) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098	Never time-						
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Up to 10%		0.55***	0.55***		0.46**	0.45***
10% to 20% 0.79 0.79 0.70 0.67 More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{***} 1.27 (0.167) (0.242) (0.184) (0.256) Employment status and type of contract PermanentJobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 (0.069) (0.099) (0.180) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1108 1098 1098			(0.094)	(0.094)		(0.141)	(0.138)
More than 20% 1.57^{***} 1.63^{***} 1.43^{***} 1.27 (0.167) (0.242) (0.184) (0.256) Employment status and type of contract Permanent 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 Jobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 (0.069) (0.099) (0.180) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1098 1098 1098 1098	10% to 20%		0.79	0.79		0.70	(0.67)
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	More than 20%		1.57***	1.63***		1.43***	1.27
Employment status and type of contractPermanentJobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 (0.069) (0.099) (0.180) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098			(0.167)	(0.242)		(0.184)	(0.256)
of contractPermanentJobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 (0.069) (0.099) (0.180) (0.246) Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098 Delement of the folder of the	Employment status and type						
Jobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 Jobless 0.73^{***} 0.66^{***} 1.62^{***} 1.09 Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098 Delayee 1098 1098 1098 1098	Of contract Permanent						
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Jobless	0.73***		0.66***	1.62***		1.09
Time-limited 1.23 0.90 1.39^{**} 1.20 (0.160) (0.169) (0.201) (0.284) Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1098 1098 1098		(0.069)		(0.099)	(0.180)		(0.246)
Self-employed 1.06 1.08 1.00 0.96 (0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations $183,084$ $183,084$ $183,084$ $141,803$ Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098	Time-limited	1.23		0.90	1.39**		1.20
(0.132) (0.135) (0.100) (0.098) Observations 183,084 183,084 183,084 141,803 141,803 Individuals 6602 6602 5887 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098	Self-employed	1.06		1.08	1.00		0.264)
Observations183,084183,084183,084141,803141,803141,803Individuals660266026602588758875887Dissolutions116111611161109810981098	2011 0111p10300	(0.132)		(0.135)	(0.100)		(0.098)
Individuals 6602 6602 6602 5887 5887 5887 Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098 1098	Observations	183,084	183,084	183,084	141,803	141,803	141,803
Dissolutions 1161 1161 1161 1098 1098 1098	Individuals	6602	6602	6602	5887	5887	5887
	Dissolutions	1161	1161	1161	1098	1098	1098

14510 1121 11054	seness ene	WOMEN			MEN	
VADIADIEC	(1)	wOMEN	(2)	(1)	MEN (2)	(2)
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Years since						
union formation						
1-3	1.50 -	1 50-1-1-1-1	1 Contractor	1.00 4444	1 0 4 4 4 4 4	1.054444
4-7/	1.52***	1.58***	1.56***	1.33***	1.34***	1.35***
	(0.172)	(0.180)	(0.177)	(0.135)	(0.135)	(0.136)
8-14	1.53***	1.66***	1.63***	1.28**	1.32**	1.33**
	(0.185)	(0.200)	(0.196)	(0.150)	(0.155)	(0.157)
15-20	1.56***	1.75***	1.69***	1.44**	1.49**	1.50**
	(0.241)	(0.269)	(0.262)	(0.224)	(0.234)	(0.238)
20+	1.13	1.28	1.24	0.93	1.01	1.02
	(0.194)	(0.217)	(0.210)	(0.177)	(0.193)	(0.195)
Region						
North						
Centre	1.01	1.00	1.01	1.10	1.05	1.05
	(0.095)	(0.094)	(0.095)	(0.107)	(0.103)	(0.103)
South	0.80**	0.74***	0.76***	0.81**	0.74***	0.74***
	(0.076)	(0.069)	(0.073)	(0.076)	(0.072)	(0.072)
Cohort						
1950-1959						
1960-1969	1.55***	1.42***	1.43***	1.73***	1.65***	1.65***
	(0.168)	(0.157)	(0.158)	(0.183)	(0.185)	(0.183)
1970-1986	2.12***	1.98***	1.99***	1.93***	1.76***	1.76***
	(0.238)	(0.227)	(0.227)	(0.221)	(0.215)	(0.215)
Cohabitation	3.89***	3.98***	3.98***	4.69***	4.73***	4.73***
	(0.369)	(0.384)	(0.385)	(0.434)	(0.447)	(0.448)
Children						
Childless						
1 age 0.6	0 55***	0 5/***	0 55***	0 30***	0 40***	0 40***
1 age 0-0	(0.05)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.048)	(0.040)	(0.40)
1 ago 7+	(0.005)	0.86	(0.000)	0.69**	(0.0+9) 0.70**	(0.049) 0.70**
1 age /+	(0.123)	(0.120)	(0.122)	(0.112)	(0.115)	(0.114)
2 youngest 0 6	(0.123)	(0.120)	(0.122)	(0.112) 0.20***	(0.113)	(0.114)
2 youngest 0-0	(0.45)	(0.064)	(0.45)	(0.046)	(0.29^{+11})	(0.29^{+++})
2 your cost 7	(0.000)	(0.004)	(0.000)	(0.040)	(0.047)	(0.047)
2 youngest 7+	(0.01^{+++})	(0.002)	(0.00^{+++})	(0.02^{+++})	(0.04^{++++})	(0.090)
2	(0.090)	(0.093)	(0.094)	(0.083)	(0.089)	(0.089)
5 of more	(0.099)	(0.084)	(0.43^{+++})	(0.079)	(0.00^{-10})	(0.00^{-10})
	(0.088)	(0.084)	(0.086)	(0.078)	(0.080)	(0.080)
Separated	1.59***	1.64***	1.64***	1.08	1.13	1.13
parents	(0.193)	(0.201)	(0.201)	(0.155)	(0.156)	(0.155)
r	(0.190)	(0.201)	(0.201)	(0.100)	(0.120)	(0.100)
At least one	1.13	1.10	1.10	1.47***	1.44***	1.45***
parent						
is highly	(0.109)	(0.108)	(0.108)	(0.146)	(0.145)	(0.145)
educated						

Table 1.2: Robustness check, age<55

Education

None or

систипату	
Lower secondary 1.56** 1.63** 1.63** 1.41* 1.32	1.33
(0.311) (0.323) (0.323) (0.260) (0.243)	(0.244)
Upper secondary 1.80*** 1.89*** 1.87*** 1.33 1.22	1.23
(0.362) (0.378) (0.377) (0.245) (0.225)	(0.226)
Tertiary 1.82*** 1.91*** 1.89*** 1.24 1.18	1.18
(0.389) (0.409) (0.407) (0.259) (0.244)	(0.245)
	(01210)
% relationship	
iobless	
Neveriohless	
Un to 25% 0.51*** 0.53*** 0.54***	0 5/***
(0.053) (0.055) (0.051)	(0.052)
(0.055) (0.055) (0.051)	(0.052)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(0.151)
(0.077) (0.072) (0.143)	(0.131)
More than 50% 0.02^{+++} 0.87 1.77^{+++} (0.064) (0.124) (0.107)	1.01^{++}
(0.004) (0.134) (0.197)	(0.360)
0/ volationship	
% relationship	
in time-limited	
JODS	
Never time-	
limited	
Up to 10% 0.56*** 0.57*** 0.45***	0.45***
$(0.094) \qquad (0.094) \qquad (0.137)$	(0.135)
10% to 20% 0.82 0.82 0.69	0.67
$(0.185) \qquad (0.188) \qquad (0.209)$	(0.202)
More than 20% 1.58*** 1.65*** 1.44***	1.31
(0.165) (0.241) (0.182)	(0.256)
Employment	
status and type	
of contract	
Permanent	
Jobless 0.74*** 0.68*** 1.60***	1.07
(0.069) (0.102) (0.173)	(0.235)
Time-limited 1.24 0.89 1.38**	1.17
(0.160) (0.166) (0.198)	(0.270)
Self-employed 1.09 1.10 1.02	0.98
(0.133) (0.136) (0.101)	(0.097)
	. ,
Observations 195,059 195,059 195,059 153,015 153,015	153,015
Individuals 6607 6607 6607 5897 5897	5897
Dissolutions 1197 1197 1197 1139 1139	1139

Note: trying different age limits results are unchanged, therefore I proceeded with the biggest sample, excluding those over 60 years old.

2. Dependent variable: de facto separation, legal separation, and divorce

		WOMEN			MEN	
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Years since						
union formation						
1-3						
4-7	1.30**	1.37**	1.35**	1.23*	1.24*	1.24*
	(0.164)	(0.173)	(0.171)	(0.137)	(0.137)	(0.138)
8-14	1.21	1.34**	1.31**	1.21	1.25*	1.25*
011	(0.166)	(0.185)	(0.181)	(0.153)	(0.161)	(0.161)
15-20	1 19	1 37*	1 33	1 38*	1 41*	1 43*
15 20	(0.228)	(0.262)	(0.254)	(0.249)	(0.261)	(0.265)
20+	0.93	1.08	1.05	0.98	1.08	1 10
201	(0.201)	(0.231)	(0.225)	(0.223)	(0.240)	(0.252)
	(0.201)	(0.231)	(0.223)	(0.223)	(0.249)	(0.232)
Region						
North						
Centre	1.05	1.04	1.05	1.07	1.02	1.02
Centre	(0.119)	(0.119)	(0.120)	(0.119)	(0.115)	(0.115)
South	(0.11))	0.85	0.87	0.70**	0.70***	0 70***
South	(0.104)	(0.097)	(0.100)	(0.79)	(0.083)	(0.083)
	(0.104)	(0.097)	(0.100)	(0.009)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Cohort						
1050-1050						
1960-1969	1 83***	1 69***	1 68***	1 93***	1 85***	1 86***
1700 1707	(0.259)	(0.242)	(0.241)	(0.263)	(0.268)	(0.269)
1070 1086	(0.237) 7 73***	(0.2+2)	2 56***	2 07***	1 01***	1 02***
1770-1700	(0.391)	(0.372)	(0.370)	(0.299)	(0.294)	(0.297)
	(0.3)1)	(0.572)	(0.370)	(0.2)))	(0.2)4)	(0.297)
Cohabitation	7 00***	7 74***	7 26***	7 38***	7 34***	7 37***
Condition	(0.785)	(0.833)	(0.833)	(0.821)	(0.830)	(0.836)
	(0.705)	(0.055)	(0.055)	(0:021)	(0.020)	(0.050)
Children						
Childless						
1 age 0-6	0.62***	0.61***	0.62***	0.35***	0.36***	0.37***
	(0.087)	(0.086)	(0.087)	(0.053)	(0.055)	(0.055)
1 age 7+	0.93	0.89	0.91	0.53***	0.54***	0.54***
	(0.165)	(0.158)	(0.161)	(0.108)	(0.111)	(0.111)
2 voungest 0-6	0 50***	0 48***	0 49***	0 29***	0 29***	0 29***
2 joungest o o	(0.091)	(0.089)	(0.092)	(0.055)	(0.057)	(0.057)
2 voungest 7+	0.79	0.75	0.76	0 47***	0 50***	0 49***
- joungest / 1	(0.158)	(0.150)	(0.153)	(0.095)	(0.102)	(0, 101)
3 or more	0 53***	0 49***	0 51***	0 30***	0 30***	0 30***
5 01 11010	(0.131)	(0.12)	(0.126)	(0.082)	(0.084)	(0.084)
	(0.131)	(0.122)	(0.120)	(0.002)	(0.00+)	(0.00+)
Senarated	1 70***	1 76***	1 76***	1 30*	1 36**	1 36**
parents	(0.226)	(0.236)	(0.236)	(0.200)	(0.202)	(0.201)

 Table 2.1: Robustness check: for married couples de-facto separation without imputation (excluding missings)

At least one narent	1.12	1.09	1.08	1.39***	1.36***	1.36***
is highly educated	(0.125)	(0.124)	(0.123)	(0.157)	(0.155)	(0.155)
Education None or elementary						
Lower secondary	1.39 (0.367)	1.45 (0.382)	1.45 (0.384)	1.38 (0.307)	1.31 (0.288)	1.31 (0.288)
Upper secondary	1.56* (0.411)	1.62* (0.428)	1.62* (0.430)	1.43 (0.318)	1.34 (0.295)	1.34 (0.296)
Tertiary	1.83** (0.505)	1.88** (0.525)	1.87** (0.526)	1.34 (0.331)	1.30 (0.320)	1.30 (0.320)
% relationship jobless						
Up to 25%		0.50*** (0.061)	0.51***		0.56***	0.57^{***}
25% to 50%		0.51*** (0.087)	0.57*** (0.101)		0.84 (0.168)	0.87 (0.190)
More than 50%		0.66*** (0.081)	0.85 (0.155)		1.89*** (0.245)	2.03*** (0.487)
% relationship in time-limited iobs						
Never time- limited						
Up to 10%		0.54*** (0.104)	0.54*** (0.105)		0.36*** (0.140)	0.35*** (0.137)
10% to 20%		0.54** (0.160)	0.53** (0.161)		0.60 (0.196)	0.57* (0.186)
More than 20%		1.94*** (0.233)	1.97*** (0.347)		1.52*** (0.212)	1.37 (0.287)
Employment status and type of contract						
Permanent Jobless	0.81*		0.76	1 56***		0.91
	(0.091)		(0.132)	(0.191)		(0.217)
Time-limited	1.53*** (0.221)		0.97 (0.215)	1.45** (0.230)		1.15 (0.289)
Self-employed	1.19 (0.177)		1.23 (0.182)	0.97 (0.113)		0.93 (0.110)
Observations	194,905	194,905	194,905	154,542	154,542	154,542
Individuals Dissolutions	6,217 816	6,217 816	6,217 816	5,605 862	5,605 862	5,605 862

		WOMEN			MEN	
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Years since			(-)			(- /
union formation						
1-3						
4-7	1.57***	1.63***	1.60***	1.34***	1.34***	1.35***
	(0.188)	(0.196)	(0.193)	(0.141)	(0.141)	(0.143)
8-14	1.75***	1.89***	1.84***	1.38***	1.42***	1.43***
	(0.217)	(0.232)	(0.228)	(0.162)	(0.168)	(0.169)
15-20	1.95***	2.16***	2.09***	1.69***	1.73***	1.75***
	(0.298)	(0.327)	(0.318)	(0.260)	(0.270)	(0.274)
20+	1.52**	1.69***	1.64***	1.06	1.17	1.18
	(0.256)	(0.282)	(0.274)	(0.187)	(0.208)	(0.210)
Region						
North						
Centre	0.97	0.96	0.96	1.10	1.05	1.05
	(0.094)	(0.094)	(0.094)	(0.108)	(0.103)	(0.103)
South	0.73***	0.68***	0.70***	0.77***	0.69***	0.69***
	(0.072)	(0.067)	(0.070)	(0.076)	(0.071)	(0.071)
Cohort						
1950-1959						
1960-1969	1.66***	1.57***	1.56***	1.78***	1.69***	1.70***
	(0.182)	(0.176)	(0.175)	(0.192)	(0.191)	(0.191)
1970-1986	2.34***	2.23***	2.22***	2.02***	1.85***	1.85***
	(0.271)	(0.264)	(0.262)	(0.240)	(0.231)	(0.231)
Cohabitation	4.58***	4.64***	4.64***	5.35***	5.38***	5.39***
	(0.445)	(0.461)	(0.461)	(0.508)	(0.520)	(0.522)
Children						
Childless						
1 age 0-6	0.55***	0.55***	0.56***	0.36***	0.37***	0.37***
	(0.069)	(0.069)	(0.070)	(0.048)	(0.050)	(0.050)
1 age 7+	0.89	0.88	0.89	0.77*	0.78	0.78
	(0.125)	(0.123)	(0.125)	(0.119)	(0.122)	(0.121)
2 youngest 0-6	0.36***	0.35***	0.36***	0.25***	0.25***	0.25***
	(0.058)	(0.056)	(0.058)	(0.045)	(0.047)	(0.047)
2 youngest 7+	0.68**	0.67***	0.67**	0.52***	0.55***	0.55***
	(0.106)	(0.103)	(0.104)	(0.084)	(0.089)	(0.088)
3 or more	0.41***	0.40***	0.41***	0.32***	0.32***	0.32***
	(0.085)	(0.082)	(0.084)	(0.070)	(0.072)	(0.072)
Separated	1.59***	1.63***	1.63***	1.17	1.21	1.21
parents	(0.199)	(0.206)	(0.207)	(0.168)	(0.167)	(0.166)
-	. ,		. ,	, ,	. /	. /
parents	1.11	1.09	1.09	1.46***	1.44***	1.44***
highly educated	(0.111)	(0.112)	(0.111)	(0.148)	(0.146)	(0.146)

Table 2.2: Robustness check: for married couples time to legal separation and divorce instead of imputed de facto-separation

Education

None or

elementary						
Lower secondary	1.84***	1.90***	1.89***	1.54**	1.45*	1.45*
-	(0.366)	(0.377)	(0.377)	(0.305)	(0.284)	(0.285)
Upper secondary	2.19***	2.28***	2.26***	1.54**	1.43*	1.43*
	(0.438)	(0.454)	(0.453)	(0.305)	(0.282)	(0.283)
Tertiary	2.16***	2.25***	2.21***	1.41	1.34	1.35
	(0.465)	(0.484)	(0.480)	(0.313)	(0.296)	(0.297)
	(01100)	(01101)	(01100)	(0.010)	(0.2) 0)	(0))
% relationshin						
iobless						
Never johless						
Up to 25%		0 56***	0 58***		0 5/1***	0 5/1***
00102570		(0.050)	(0.061)		(0.052)	(0.053)
25% to 50%		(0.039)	(0.001) 0.71**		(0.032)	(0.033)
2370 10 3070		(0.03^{+1})	(0.107)		(0.158)	(0.166)
Mana than 500/		(0.091)	(0.107)		(0.136)	(0.100)
More than 50%		0.03****	(0.142)		1.09****	1.04^{**}
		(0.069)	(0.143)		(0.204)	(0.349)
0/ malationshim						
% relationship						
in time-limited						
jobs						
Never time-						
limited						
Up to 10%		0.60^{***}	0.60***		0.45***	0.44^{***}
		(0.102)	(0.102)		(0.135)	(0.132)
10% to 20%		0.85	0.84		0.77	0.73
		(0.193)	(0.196)		(0.228)	(0.220)
More than 20%		1.62***	1.71***		1.41***	1.24
		(0.174)	(0.266)		(0.182)	(0.246)
Employment						
status and type						
of contract						
Permanent						
Jobless	0.74***		0.69**	1.53***		1.03
	(0.072)		(0.110)	(0.170)		(0.211)
Time-limited	1.27		0.88	1.39**		1.22
	(0.170)		(0.174)	(0.205)		(0.284)
Self-employed	1.11		1.13	0.98		0.94
	(0.140)		(0.143)	(0.099)		(0.097)
	(0.1 10)		(0.1.10)	(0.077)		(0.077)
Observations	202,418	202.418	202.418	159.920	159.920	159.920
Individuals	6.537	6.537	6.537	5.840	5.840	5.840
Dissolutions	1135	1135	1135	1094	1094	1094
215501410115	1155	1155	1155	1074	1074	1074

Note: without the imputation many marriages are excluded for the analysis. Nevertheless, results are virtually the same. The only relevant difference is that, without the imputation, time-limited employed women are significantly more likely to break-up than permanent employed. This could be driven by the relative higher number of cohabitors in this sample (as this trend has been shown for cohabiting women in chapter 4 table 5).

VARIABLES	WOMEN	MEN
Years since union formation		
1-3		
4-7	1.61***	1.35***
	(0.182)	(0.136)
8-14	1.69***	1.32**
	(0.203)	(0.153)
15-20	1.77***	1.52***
	(0.271)	(0.234)
20+	1.20	0.93
	(0.202)	(0.172)
Region		
North		
Centre	0.98	1.04
	(0.093)	(0.100)
South	0.70***	0.72***
	(0.067)	(0.070)
Cohort		
1950-1959		
1960-1969	1.50***	1.64***
	(0.165)	(0.176)
1970-1986	2.06***	1.73***
	(0.239)	(0.201)
Cohabitation	4.02***	4.71***
	(0.387)	(0.440)
Children		
Childless		
1 age 0-6	0.55***	0.40***
	(0.065)	(0.049)
1 age 7+	0.87	0.69**
	(0.120)	(0.111)
2 youngest 0-6	0.44***	0.30***
	(0.064)	(0.047)
2 youngest 7+	0.61***	0.57***
	(0.093)	(0.091)
3 or more	0.42***	0.36***
	(0.082)	(0.078)
	1 714 44 44	1.00
Separated	1./1***	1.23
parents	(0.205)	(0.165)

3. Accumulation of employment instability

joblessness and time-limited work over the relationship

Table 3.1: Robustness check, different cut off points of accumulation of

At least one parent	1.11	1.42***
is highly educated	(0.108)	(0.141)
Education		
None or elementary		
Lower secondary	1.56**	1.44**
-	(0.296)	(0.264)
Upper secondary	1.81***	1.32
	(0.347)	(0.246)
Tertiary	1.87***	1.31
	(0.386)	(0.272)
% relationship jobless		
Never jobless		
Up to 20%	0.51***	0.55***
	(0.054)	(0.053)
20 to 40%	0.55***	0.62**
	(0.080)	(0.120)
40 to 60%	0.54***	0.94
	(0.082)	(0.184)
60 to 80%	0.54***	1.45*
	(0.094)	(0.327)
More than 80	0.70***	2.04***
	(0.081)	(0.258)
% relationship in time-limited jobs		
Never time-limited		
Up to 10%	0.57***	0.44***
	(0.094)	(0.134)
10 to 20%	0.86	0.69
	(0.190)	(0.208)
20 to 30%	1.04	1.14
	(0.225)	(0.316)
30 to 40%	1.69**	0.88
	(0.402)	(0.312)
More than 40%	2.09***	1.87***
	(0.269)	(0.249)
Observations	202,619	160,087
Individuals	6,612	5,901
Dissolutions	1,209	1,155

Note: slightly modifying the cut off points results were not affected, therefore I opted for a lower number of categories with a rational of balancing parsimony and assuring a meaningful sample size.



Figure A1: Coefficient plot - accumulation of joblessness and time-limited work over the relationship with different cut off points.

4. Region

Table 4.1:	chapter 5	5, without	imputation:	women
-------------------	-----------	------------	-------------	-------

	WOMEN					
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Years since union						
formation						
1-3						
4-7	1.10	1.10	1.10	1.10	1.11	1.10
	(0.194)	(0.195)	(0.195)	(0.200)	(0.196)	(0.193)
8-14	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90	0.90
	(0.140)	(0.140)	(0.139)	(0.145)	(0.142)	(0.139)
15-20	0.83	0.83	0.83	0.85	0.84	0.83
	(0.215)	(0.216)	(0.213)	(0.220)	(0.216)	(0.216)
20+	0.56*	0.56*	0.56*	0.58	0.56*	0.56*
	(0.186)	(0.188)	(0.187)	(0.196)	(0.191)	(0.190)
After 2007	0.82	0.82	0.82	0.81	0.82	0.77
	(0.287)	(0.288)	(0.288)	(0.287)	(0.289)	(0.297)
Cohort						
1950-1959						
1960-1969	2.86***	2.87***	2.88***	2.95***	2.90***	2.87***
	(0.699)	(0.705)	(0.724)	(0.746)	(0.721)	(0.724)
1970-1986	4 02***	4 03***	4 07***	4 24***	4 12***	4 03***
1,70 1,00	(1.071)	(1.083)	(1.152)	(1.232)	(1.146)	(1.132)
Cobabitation	3 05***	3 06***	3 05***	3 61***	3 73***	3 06***
Conabilation	(0.447)	(0.450)	(0.449)	(0.607)	(0.536)	(0.445)
Children						
Childless						
	0 60***	0 60***	0 60***	0 60***	0 50***	0 60***
l age 0-0	(0.00^{-10})	(0.00^{-10})	$(0.00^{-1.0})$	(0.00^{-10})	$(0.09^{+1.1})$	$(0.00^{-1.0})$
1 222 7	(0.090)	(0.090)	(0.090)	(0.092)	(0.091)	(0.090)
1 age /+	(0.92)	(0.92)	(0.92)	(0.90)	(0.240)	(0.92)
2 your cost 0 6	(0.233)	(0.234)	(0.230)	(0.247)	(0.249) 0.41***	(0.234) 0.41***
2 youngest 0-0	(0.078)	(0.078)	(0.078)	(0.081)	(0.41)	$(0.41 \cdot \cdot \cdot)$
2 voungest 7	(0.078)	(0.070)	(0.070)	0.72	(0.079)	(0.078)
2 youngest 7+	(0.104)	(0.100)	(0.12)	(0.100)	0.73	0.12
2 он толно	(0.190)	(0.199)	(0.193)	(0.199)	(0.198)	(0.190)
5 of more	0.45**	U.45 ^{**}	0.43^{m}	$0.40^{\pm \pm}$	U.43 ^{**}	0.43^{m}
	(0.168)	(0.168)	(0.167)	(0.175)	(0.171)	(0.168)
Separated	1.47*	1.47*	1.47*	1.45*	1.46*	1.46*
parents	(0.305)	(0.305)	(0.306)	(0.305)	(0.309)	(0.308)
At least one parent	0.97	0.97	0.97	0.97	0.97	0.97
is highly educated	(0.118)	(0.118)	(0.116)	(0.120)	(0.121)	(0.117)
Education						
None or elementary						
Lower secondary	0.89	0.89	0.89	0.88	0.88	0.89
-	(0.371)	(0.375)	(0.377)	(0.368)	(0.367)	(0.373)

Upper secondary	1.02 (0.369)	1.02 (0.374)	1.01 (0.379)	1.01 (0.370)	1.02 (0.367)	1.02 (0.370)
Tertiary	1.06 (0.396)	1.06 (0.404)	1.05 (0.413)	1.04 (0.394)	1.05 (0.395)	1.06 (0.398)
Employment status and type of contract						
Permanent						
Time-limited	0.87	0.87	0.86	0.88	0.87	0.87
	(0.164)	(0.161)	(0.165)	(0.164)	(0.165)	(0.163)
Self-employed	1.15	1.14	1.11	1.14	1.14	1.15
I J	(0.248)	(0.236)	(0.244)	(0.246)	(0.248)	(0.251)
% Regional unemployment	0.95**	0.95**			0.95**	
	(0.025)	(0.026)			(0.025)	
% Time-limited work in region	0.95		0.95	0.94		
	(0.033)		(0.033)	(0.034)		
GDP per capita /1000	1 15**	1 15**	1 15**	1 15**	1 15**	1 16*
GDI per cupita /1000	(0.084)	(0.083)	(0.084)	(0.083)	(0.083)	(0.094)
	(0.00+)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.074)
Separation context						
LOW	7 10***	2 10***	0 10***	0 10**	0 10***	0 10***
Ivilu	(0.650)	2.19	(0.648)	(0.650)	(0.651)	(0.506)
hishes.	(0.030)	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.039)	(0.031)	(0.390)
nigner	2.20^{**}	2.20^{**}	2.20^{**}	2.20^{**}	2.20^{**}	2.25^{***}
	(0.777)	(0.773)	(0.770)	(0.761)	(0.774)	(0.720)
Contract * %						
Unemployment						
Permanent * Unempl			0.05*			
Termanent Onempi			(0.93)			
Time limited * Unemal			(0.020)			
Time-finited * Onempi			(0.94)			
			(0.045)			
Self-empl * Unempl			0.94**			
			(0.030)			
Contract * 0/ Time limited						
Contract * % Time-Infinited		0.00				
Permanent % Time-limited		0.96				
		(0.036)				
Time-limited * % Time-		0.94				
limited						
		(0.048)				
Self-empl * % Time-limited		0.95				
		(0.033)				
Union						
type*%Unemployment						
Marriage * Unempl				0.93**		
				(0.027)		
Cohabitation * Unempl				0.99		
-				(0.030)		
Union type * % Time- limited						
--	--------	--------	--------	--------	---------	---------
Marriage * Time-limited					0.93**	
C C					(0.031)	
Cohabitation * Time-limited					0.99	
					(0.049)	
Period* % Unemployment						
Before 2007*unempl						0.98
_						(0.035)
After 2007*unempl						0.94**
						(0.027)
Period* % Time-limited Before 2007* T 1						0.01**
Before 2007 * 1-1						(0.042)
After 2007* T-						0.98
						(0.046)
Observations	45,485	45,485	45,485	45,485	45,485	45,485
Individuals	3,870	3,870	3,870	3,870	3,870	3,870
Dissolutions	600	600	600	600	600	600

Table 4.2: chapter 5, without imputation: men

	MEN					
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Years since union						
formation						
1-3						
4-7	1.17	1.17	1.17	1.17	1.17	1.16
	(0.181)	(0.185)	(0.184)	(0.182)	(0.181)	(0.180)
8-14	1.25	1.25	1.25	1.25	1.25	1.24
	(0.274)	(0.277)	(0.276)	(0.270)	(0.273)	(0.272)
15-20	1.35	1.35	1.35	1.37	1.36	1.35
	(0.374)	(0.374)	(0.373)	(0.377)	(0.375)	(0.374)
20+	0.76	0.76	0.76	0.78	0.77	0.76
	(0.244)	(0.245)	(0.244)	(0.249)	(0.244)	(0.240)
After 2007	1.02	1.03	1.02	1.01	1.02	0.97
	(0.199)	(0.200)	(0.200)	(0.200)	(0.200)	(0.196)
Cohort						
1950-1959						
1960-1969	1.49	1.49	1.48	1.51	1.50	1.49
	(0.484)	(0.481)	(0.482)	(0.486)	(0.484)	(0.476)
1970-1986	1.83**	1.82**	1.82**	1.87**	1.84**	1.82**
	(0.540)	(0.539)	(0.541)	(0.561)	(0.547)	(0.524)
Cohabitation	3.56***	3.58***	3.57***	4.15***	3.65***	3.56***
	(0.552)	(0.562)	(0.564)	(0.438)	(0.481)	(0.555)
Children						
Childless						
1 age 0-6	0.42***	0.42***	0.42***	0.42***	0.42***	0.42***

	(0.070)	(0.071)	(0.070)	(0.069)	(0.070)	(0.070)
1 age 7+	0.58***	0.58^{***}	0.58^{***}	0.57***	0.58^{***}	0.58^{***}
	(0.077)	(0.076)	(0.077)	(0.074)	(0.076)	(0.077)
2 youngest 0-6	0.21***	0.21***	0.21***	0.21***	0.21***	0.21***
	(0.041)	(0.041)	(0.042)	(0.041)	(0.042)	(0.042)
2 voungest 7+	0.47***	0.47***	0.47***	0.47***	0.47***	0.47***
_) cangest , :	(0.076)	(0.077)	(0.077)	(0.077)	(0.076)	(0.076)
3 or more	0.20***	0.20***	0.20***	0.20***	0.20***	0.20***
3 of more	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.29)
	(0.070)	(0.077)	(0.077)	(0.070)	(0.070)	(0.070)
Sonaratad	1 15	1 1 5	1 15	1 16	1 15	1 1 5
	(0.154)	(0.155)	(0.154)	(0.150)	(0.155)	(0.155)
parents	(0.134)	(0.155)	(0.134)	(0.139)	(0.155)	(0.155)
At losst one nervent	1 52***	1 52***	1 51***	1 51**	1 50***	1 5 1 * * *
At least one parent	(0.241)	1.33****	1.34^{++++}	1.31^{++}	1.32^{+++}	1.34^{++++}
is nightly educated	(0.241)	(0.242)	(0.247)	(0.243)	(0.240)	(0.241)
Education						
None or elementary	1 1 4	1 1 4	1 1 7	1 17	1.15	1 1 4
Lower secondary	1.14	1.14	1.15	1.17	1.15	1.14
	(0.269)	(0.269)	(0.264)	(0.260)	(0.266)	(0.267)
Upper secondary	0.97	0.96	0.97	0.99	0.97	0.96
	(0.229)	(0.226)	(0.223)	(0.222)	(0.227)	(0.228)
Tertiary	0.82	0.82	0.83	0.85	0.83	0.83
	(0.187)	(0.184)	(0.181)	(0.179)	(0.183)	(0.187)
Employment status and						
type of contract						
Permanent						
Time-limited	1.45***	1.46***	1.47***	1.43***	1.44***	1.45***
	(0.144)	(0.147)	(0.136)	(0.152)	(0.148)	(0.140)
Self-employed	1.05	1.05	1.10	1.06	1.05	1.05
Sen employed	(0.087)	(0.087)	(0.099)	(0.092)	(0.091)	(0.087)
	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.077)	(0.0)2)	(0.0)1)	(0.007)
% Regional	0 95***	0 95***			0 95***	
unemployment	0.95	0.75			0.75	
unemployment	(0.015)	(0.015)			(0.015)	
	(0.013)	(0.015)			(0.013)	
% Time-limited work in	1.02		1.02	1.01		
region	1.02		1.02	1.01		
region	(0.031)		(0.031)	(0.031)		
	(0.051)		(0.051)	(0.051)		
CDP por copita /1000	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.07
GDI per capita /1000	(0.045)	(0.90)	(0.90)	(0.90)	(0.90)	(0.97)
	(0.043)	(0.043)	(0.040)	(0.043)	(0.043)	(0.050)
Sevenation context						
LOW	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 10	1 10	1.00
IVIIU		1.11	1.11	1.12	1.12	1.08
	(0.464)	(0.464)	(0.459)	(0.464)	(0.465)	(0.481)
higher	1.39	1.39	1.38	1.39	1.39	1.34
	(0.538)	(0.539)	(0.527)	(0.537)	(0.539)	(0.558)
Contract * %						
Unemployment						
Permanent * Unempl			0.94***			
			(0.021)			

Time-limited * Unempl			0.94***			
Self-empl * Unempl			(0.016) 0.96** (0.017)			
Contract * % Time-						
limited						
Permanent % Time-limited		1.02				
		(0.028)				
Time-limited * % Time-		0.98				
limited		(0, 0.26)				
Solf ampl * % Time limited		(0.050)				
Sen-empi ⁺ % Time-ininted		(0.049)				
Union		(0.047)				
type*%Unemployment						
Marriage * Unempl				0.93***		
				(0.019)		
Cohabitation * Unempl				0.98		
				(0.015)		
Union type * % Time-						
limited Marriaga * Time limited					1.01	
Marriage * Time-Innited					(0.034)	
Cohabitation * Time-					(0.034)	
limited					1.04	
					(0.035)	
					()	
Period* %						
Unemployment						
Before 2007*unempl						0.96
						(0.022)
After 200/*unempl						0.94***
						(0.019)
Period* % Time-limited						
Before 2007* T-1						0.99
						(0.038)
After 2007* T-1						1.04
						(0.039)
Observations	59,921	59,921	59,921	59,921	59,921	59,921
Individuals	4,291	4,291	4,291	4,291	4,291	4,291
Dissolutions	122	122	122	122	122	122

Note: without the imputation jobless women and men are excluded from the analysis, thus here can only be assessed differences between permanent and timelimited employed, which are indeed unchanged with and without imputation. Importantly, also the effect of the macro-indicators are stable. To include also jobless individuals in the following model the analysis is repeated with the imputation but using macro-regions (NUTS-1) instead of NUTS-2 regions.

_	_	-	WOI	MEN		
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	(-)	(-)	(-)	(-)	(-)	(*)
Years since union						
formation						
1-3						
4-7	1.52**	1.52**	1.52**	1.51**	1.52**	1.53**
	(0.274)	(0.275)	(0.274)	(0.274)	(0.275)	(0.279)
8-14	1.40***	1.40***	1.41***	1.39***	1.41***	1.41***
0 1 1	(0.159)	(0.156)	(0.158)	(0.158)	(0.156)	(0.161)
15-20	1 45**	1 45**	1 45**	1 46**	1 46**	1 47**
15 20	(0.259)	(0.257)	(0.262)	(0.266)	(0.262)	(0.264)
20+	1.07	1.07	1.08	1 10	1.07	1 10
201	(0.201)	(0.202)	(0.201)	(0.205)	(0.201)	(0.208)
	(0.201)	(0.202)	(0.201)	(0.203)	(0.201)	(0.208)
NUTS-1 region						
North-west						
North-east	0.76	0.77	0.77	0.78	0.77	0.72
	(0.179)	(0.181)	(0.184)	(0.181)	(0.181)	(0.167)
Centre	0.86	0.87	0.84	0.85	0.86	0.86
	(0 1 1 4)	(0.115)	(0.108)	(0.112)	(0.115)	(0.116)
South	0.32	0.33	0.32	0.32	0.33	0.32
South	(0.22)	(0.33)	(0.225)	(0.22)	(0.241)	(0.32)
Island	(0.229)	(0.239)	(0.225)	(0.220)	(0.241) 0.24*	(0.223) 0.22*
Island	(0.24)	(0.25)	(0.23)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.22)
	(0.191)	(0.185)	(0.203)	(0.187)	(0.189)	(0.171)
After 2007	1 21	1.20	1.20	1 20	1 20	1 55
Alter 2007	(0.225)	(0.223)	(0.226)	(0.223)	(0.224)	(0.574)
	(0.223)	(0.223)	(0.220)	(0.223)	(0.224)	(0.574)
Cohort						
1950-1959						
1960-1969	1 91***	1 91***	1 92***	1 97***	1 91***	1 92***
1900 1909	(0.421)	(0.419)	(0.424)	(0.440)	(0.424)	(0.427)
1970-1986	2 93***	2 93***	2 97***	3 08***	2 93***	2 99***
1)/0 1)00	(0.593)	(0.606)	(0.600)	(0.648)	(0.605)	(0.621)
	(0.393)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.0+0)	(0.005)	(0.021)
Cohabitation	3.72***	3.73***	3.75***	4.23***	7.78***	3.72***
~ JIM JIM IVII	(0.438)	(0.442)	(0.449)	(0.547)	(4 997)	(0.440)
	(0.150)	(0.112)	(0.112)	(0.017)	((0.110)
Children						
Childless						
1 age 0-6	0.59***	0.59***	0.59***	0.58***	0.59***	0.58***
	(0.087)	(0.088)	(0.087)	(0.085)	(0.088)	(0.086)
1 age 7+	0.95	0.95	0.95	0.95	0.95	0.95
	(0.192)	(0.192)	(0.192)	(0.187)	(0.191)	(0.191)
2 voungest 0-6	0 52***	0 52***	0 52***	0 52***	0 52***	0 51***
2 joungest 0 0	(0.082)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.081)
2 voungest 7_{\pm}	0.002)	0.60*	0.002)	0.003)	0.60*	0.60*
2 youngest /+	(0.127)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.10)	(0.125)	(0.126)
2 or more	(U.13/) 0 51***	(U.133) 0 52***	(U.13/) 0.51***	(U.139) 0 52***	(0.133) 0.51***	(U.130) 0 51***
5 of more	0.51^{+++}	0.52^{-10}	0.51^{+++}	0.52^{-10}	0.51^{-10}	0.31^{***}
	(0.121)	(0.121)	(0.121)	(0.121)	(0.120)	(0.120)
Sonaratad	1 52**	1 52**	1 50**	1 52**	1 50**	1 52**
separateu	1.33***	1.33***	1.32^{m}	1.33***	1.32^{m}	1.33**
parents	(0.287)	(0.285)	(0.281)	(0.286)	(0.284)	(0.286)

Table 4.3: Chapter 5, macro-region (women)

At least one parent is highly educated	1.00 (0.133)	1.00 (0.133)	1.00 (0.132)	1.01 (0.137)	0.99 (0.131)	1.00 (0.133)
Education None or elementary						
Lower secondary	1.19 (0.283)	1.19 (0.284)	1.20 (0.286)	1.19 (0.284)	1.19 (0.285)	1.20 (0.282)
Upper secondary	1.25 (0.273)	1.25 (0.279)	1.25 (0.276)	1.25 (0.271)	1.25 (0.274)	1.26 (0.272)
Tertiary	1.44 (0.336)	1.44 (0.344)	1.42 (0.342)	1.43 (0.336)	1.44 (0.339)	1.45 (0.335)
Employment status and type of contract						
Jobless	0.66***	0.37**	0.61***	0.66***	0.67***	0.66***
Time-limited	(0.068) 1.28*	(0.183) 0.89	(0.057) 1.19	(0.068) 1.26	(0.067) 1.29*	(0.068)
Self-employed	(0.184) 1.20 (0.281)	(0.654) 1.39 (1.809)	(0.196) 1.12 (0.245)	(0.190) 1.18 (0.277)	(0.186) 1.20 (0.280)	(0.184) 1.19 (0.280)
% Unemployment	0.99 (0.016)	0.99 (0.016)			0.99 (0.016)	
% Time-limited work	1.02 (0.050)		1.02 (0.050)	1.02 (0.050)		
GDP per capita /1000	0.91* (0.049)	0.91* (0.049)	0.91* (0.049)	0.91* (0.048)	0.91* (0.049)	0.91* (0.049)
Separation context						
Mid	1.09	1.08	1.09	1.07	1.08	1.18*
higher	(0.102) 1.06 (0.111)	1.06 (0.109)	(0.101) 1.07 (0.113)	(0.101) 1.05 (0.111)	1.06 (0.109)	1.16 (0.135)
Contract * % Unemployment Jobless * unempl			0.97			
Permanent * Unempl			(0.021) 1.01			
Time-limited * Unempl			(0.012) 0.99			
Self-empl * Unempl			(0.036) 0.99 (0.038)			
Contract * % Time-						
Jbless * time-limited		1.05				
Permanent % Time-limited		1.01				

Time-limited * % Time-		(0.050) 1.03				
limited		(0.065)				
limited		(0.087)				
		(0.087)				
Union type*%Unemployment Marriage * Unempl				0.98		
Cohabitation * Unempl				(0.019) 1.03** (0.012)		
Union type * % Time- limited						
Marriage * Time-limited					1.04 (0.057)	
Cohabitation * Time- limited					0.98	
					(0.050)	
Period* % Unemployment						
Before 2007*unempl						1.01 (0.016)
Arter 2007 unempr						(0.019)
Period* % Time-limited Before 2007* T 1						1.05
After 2007* T						(0.055)
Anei 2007 · 1-						(0.052)
Observations	106,775	106,775	106,775	106,775	106,775	106,775
Individuals Dissolutions	6163 789	6163 789	6163 789	6163 789	6163 789	6163 789

Fable 4.4: Chapter 5, macro-region (men)	

	MEN						
VARIABLES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
Years since union formation 1-3							
4-7	1.20 (0.226)	1.21 (0.228)	1.21 (0.220)	1.20 (0.225)	1.20 (0.225)	1.20 (0.225)	
8-14	1.10 (0.183)	1.10 (0.193)	1.11 (0.178)	1.09 (0.185)	1.10 (0.185)	1.09 (0.180)	
15-20	1.24	1.24	1.25	1.24	1.24	1.23	

	(0.397)	(0.401)	(0.392)	(0.397)	(0.392)	(0.392)
20+	0.72	0.72	0.72	0.73	0.72	0.71
	(0.186)	(0.191)	(0.186)	(0.190)	(0.183)	(0.180)
NUTS 1 region						
North west						
North-east	1.00	1.02	1.01	1.01	1.02	1 04
North Cast	(0.389)	(0.390)	(0.389)	(0.388)	(0.379)	(0.390)
Centre	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.18	1.20	1.20
	(0.140)	(0.135)	(0.144)	(0.133)	(0.138)	(0.147)
South	1.36	1.40	1.36	1.38	1.41	1.37
	(0.848)	(0.844)	(0.847)	(0.829)	(0.882)	(0.849)
Island	1.27	1.12	1.31	1.22	1.27	1.36
	(1.110)	(0.945)	(1.123)	(1.075)	(1.103)	(1.188)
After 2007	1.07	1.07	1.07	1.07	1.07	0.92
	(0.127)	(0.129)	(0.129)	(0.125)	(0.126)	(0.298)
Cohort						
1950-1959						
1960-1969	1.66***	1.66***	1.65***	1.68***	1.65***	1.65***
	(0.300)	(0.305)	(0.300)	(0.304)	(0.303)	(0.297)
1970-1986	1.93***	1.92***	1.90***	1.97***	1.92***	1.90***
	(0.330)	(0.338)	(0.323)	(0.341)	(0.332)	(0.320)
Cohabitation	3.72***	3.74***	3.74***	4.07***	5.97**	3.72***
	(0.279)	(0.290)	(0.299)	(0.249)	(4.146)	(0.278)
Children						
Childless						
1 age 0-6	0.37***	0.37***	0.37***	0.36***	0.37***	0.37***
	(0.066)	(0.067)	(0.065)	(0.067)	(0.066)	(0.066)
1 age 7+	0.60***	0.60***	0.60***	0.59***	0.60***	0.60***
	(0.106)	(0.102)	(0.105)	(0.102)	(0.102)	(0.106)
2 youngest 0-6	0.23***	0.23***	0.23***	0.23***	0.23***	0.23***
2	(0.075)	(0.073)	(0.075)	(0.076)	(0.076)	(0.075)
2 youngest 7+	(0.50^{****})	(0.49^{***})	(0.49^{****})	(0.50^{***})	(0.076)	(0.50^{****})
3 or more	(0.078)	(0.062)	0.3/***	(0.077) 0.35***	0.35***	(0.077)
5 of more	(0.088)	(0.090)	(0.086)	(0.090)	(0.087)	(0.088)
	(0.000)	(0.0) 0)	(0.000)	(0.0)0)	(01007)	(01000)
Separated	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20
parents	(0.160)	(0.157)	(0.153)	(0.162)	(0.160)	(0.159)
At least one parent	1.57**	1.57**	1.56**	1.57**	1.57**	1.57**
is highly educated	(0.291)	(0.294)	(0.296)	(0.292)	(0.288)	(0.291)
Education						
None or elementary	1.04	1.0.4	1.04	1.0.4	1.0.4	1.04
Lower secondary	1.04	1.06	1.04	1.06	1.04	1.04
Unner soorder	(0.367)	(0.381)	(0.358)	(0.368)	(0.368)	(0.365)
opper secondary	0.99	0.99	0.98	1.00	0.99	0.99
Tertiary	0.308)	0.210)	0.298)	0.508)	0.309)	(0.500)
	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.33)	(0.04)	(0.03)
	(0.202)	(0.201)	(0.221)	(0.200)	(0.200)	(0.22))

Employment status and						
type of contract						
Permanent						
Jobless	1.41*	0.40	1.39**	1.39	1.40*	1.40*
	(0.280)	(0.233)	(0.206)	(0.283)	(0.279)	(0.281)
Time-limited	1.52**	0.49	1.47***	1.52**	1.52**	1.52**
	(0.278)	(0.220)	(0.176)	(0.288)	(0.287)	(0.280)
Self employed	0.07	1 20	1.02	0.08	0.07	0.07
Sen-employed	(0.055)	(0.348)	(0.061)	(0.057)	(0.055)	(0.055)
% Unemployment	0.95***	0.95***			0.95***	
	(0.016)	(0.015)			(0.016)	
% Time-limited work	0.99		0.99	0.99		
	(0.086)		(0.085)	(0.085)		
GDP per capita /1000	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.99
	(0.026)	(0.026)	(0.026)	(0.027)	(0.026)	(0.026)
Separation context						
Low					4.40	1.0.4
Mid	1.11	1.11	1.11	1.11	1.10	1.06
	(0.173)	(0.167)	(0.169)	(0.172)	(0.164)	(0.161)
higher	1.48*	1.49*	1.48*	1.49*	1.48*	1.41
	(0.351)	(0.340)	(0.346)	(0.349)	(0.343)	(0.339)
Contract * %						
Unemployment						
Jobless * unempl			0.94***			
-			(0.007)			
Permanent * Unempl			0.95*			
1			(0.025)			
Time-limited * Unempl			0.93***			
F			(0.020)			
Self-empl * Unempl			0.98			
ben empi enempi			(0.022)			
Contract * 0/ Time						
limited						
Jbless * time-limited		1.07				
		(0.068)				
Permanent % Time-limited		0.97				
		(0.089)				
Time-limited * % Time-		1.06				
limited		1.00				
		(0.092)				
Self-empl * % Time-		0.96				
limited		0.70				
lilited		(0.083)				
Union						
type*%Unemployment						
Marriage * Unempl				0 94***		
manuge chempi				(0.017)		
				(0.017)		

Cohabitation * Unempl				0.97* (0.015)		
Union type * % Time- limited						
Marriage * Time-limited					1.01 (0.103)	
Cohabitation * Time- limited					0.97	
					(0.067)	
Period* % Unemployment						
Before 2007*unempl						0.94***
After 2007*unempl						(0.015) 0.96*** (0.015)
Period* % Time-limited Before 2007* T-1						0.98
After 2007* T-						0.99 (0.077)
Observations	91,354	91,354	91,354	91,354	91,354	91,354
Individuals	5,500	5,500	5,500	5,500	5,500	5,500
Dissolutions	764	764	764	764	764	764

Note: using macro-region (NUTS-1) instead of region (NUTS-2) I include the possibility that individuals moved within the macro-region, thus the imputed cases are more likely to be at least in the right macro-area. Nevertheless, adopting NUTS-1 level indicators the analysis loose in variability and precision of the indicators (e.g. the average unemployment level in the macro-area may be distant from the unemployment level in the region of residence). For men, results are basically unchanged, for women there are more differences and most results are not statistically significant but the key results seem to hold.

	WOMEN				MEN				
VARIARIES	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Vears since	(1)	(2)	(3)	(+)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(-)	
union									
formation									
1-3									
4-7	1.22	1.23	1.22	1.22	0.96	0.96	0.96	0.96	
. ,	(0.226)	(0.227)	(0.227)	(0.226)	(0.224)	(0.224)	(0.224)	(0.225)	
8-14	0.89	0.91	0.88	0.89	0.88	0.87	0.88	0.88	
011	(0.165)	(0.171)	(0.166)	(0.168)	(0.172)	(0.177)	(0.171)	(0.174)	
15-20	0.82	0.85	0.82	0.83	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	
	(0.263)	(0.280)	(0.264)	(0.269)	(0.262)	(0.265)	(0.263)	(0.263)	
20+	0.63	0.66	0.62	0.65	0.53**	0.53**	0.53**	0.53**	
	(0.253)	(0.272)	(0.250)	(0.265)	(0.150)	(0.154)	(0.151)	(0.150)	
	(*****)	(**=*=)	(0.200)	(01200)	(0.22.0)	(0.22.1)	(0.120-1)	(01200)	
After 2007	2.88***	2.87***	2.88***	2.88***	2.70***	2.67***	2.70***	2.70***	
	(0.699)	(0.687)	(0.708)	(0.701)	(0.605)	(0.600)	(0.605)	(0.604)	
	. ,	· /	· /	· /	· /	· /	· · ·		
Cohort									
1950-1959									
1960-1969	3.08***	3.11***	3.12***	3.11***	1.91*	1.90*	1.91*	1.90*	
	(0.920)	(0.930)	(0.951)	(0.946)	(0.678)	(0.673)	(0.677)	(0.671)	
1970-1986	5.52***	5.70***	5.57***	5.62***	2.72**	2.72**	2.73**	2.69**	
	(1.584)	(1.749)	(1.561)	(1.708)	(1.073)	(1.089)	(1.070)	(1.062)	
Cohabitation	2.95***	2.98***	3.01***	2.99***	3.44***	3.49***	3.45***	3.46***	
	(0.439)	(0.449)	(0.439)	(0.461)	(0.575)	(0.590)	(0.566)	(0.587)	
Children									
Childless							0.0.0111	0.0.0.1.1	
1 age 0-6	0.51***	0.50***	0.51***	0.51***	0.36***	0.36***	0.36***	0.36***	
	(0.085)	(0.085)	(0.081)	(0.086)	(0.077)	(0.078)	(0.078)	(0.077)	
1 age 7+	0.88	0.86	0.89	0.88	0.54***	0.54***	0.54***	0.54***	
	(0.255)	(0.245)	(0.260)	(0.248)	(0.088)	(0.086)	(0.088)	(0.088)	
2 youngest 0-6	0.38***	0.37***	0.38***	0.37***	0.19***	0.19***	0.19***	0.19***	
	(0.089)	(0.088)	(0.089)	(0.091)	(0.048)	(0.048)	(0.048)	(0.048)	
2 youngest 7+	0.83	0.81	0.85	0.83	0.49***	0.49***	0.49***	0.49***	
	(0.261)	(0.246)	(0.269)	(0.260)	(0.078)	(0.077)	(0.078)	(0.079)	
3 or more	0.48^{**}	0.47**	0.51**	0.48 * *	0.30***	0.30***	0.30***	0.30***	
	(0.151)	(0.149)	(0.158)	(0.155)	(0.077)	(0.078)	(0.078)	(0.078)	
G	1 6744	1 65 44	1 (0.44	1 60 44	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Separated	1.05**	1.05**	1.08**	1.00^{**}	1.29	1.29	1.28	1.28	
parents	(0.418)	(0.419)	(0.432)	(0.424)	(0.209)	(0.209)	(0.208)	(0.207)	
At least one	1.02	1.01	1.01	1.02	1 40*	1 /1*	1 30*	1 30*	
At least one	1.02	1.01	1.01	1.02	1.40	1.41	1.39	1.59	
je hjohly	(0.131)	(0.133)	(0.137)	(0.134)	(0.265)	(0.269)	(0.265)	(0.268)	
educated	(0.151)	(0.155)	(0.157)	(0.154)	(0.203)	(0.20)	(0.205)	(0.200)	
Education									
None or									
elementary									
Lower	2.63	2.62	2.61	2.67	1.30	1.30	1.30	1.30	
secondary									
·· J	(1.651)	(1.654)	(1.633)	(1.687)	(0.397)	(0.405)	(0.401)	(0.399)	
Upper	3.08*	3.08*	3.04*	3.12*	1.08	1.10	1.08	1.09	
secondary									
2	(1.963)	(1.977)	(1.940)	(2.010)	(0.316)	(0.325)	(0.317)	(0.317)	
Tertiary	2.95*	2.96*	2.95*	2.98*	0.89	0.90	0.90	0.90	
2	(1.805)	(1.853)	(1.808)	(1.861)	(0.313)	(0.317)	(0.314)	(0.314)	

 Table 4.5: chapter 6, without imputation

Employment status and type of contract Permanent Time-limited	0.95				1.59***			
Self-employed	(0.256) 1.03 (0.293)				(0.137) 1.08 (0.092)			
% Dual earner couples in region								
Low	1.07 (0.204)	1.21 (0.430)	1.03 (0.198)	1.07 (0.205)	0.82 (0.184)	0.72 (0.174)	0.81 (0.185)	0.82 (0.188)
Medium High	1.58*** (0.248)	1.20* (0.121)	1.59*** (0.244)	1.59*** (0.244)	1.41*** (0.138)	1.22* (0.143)	1.41*** (0.137)	1.42*** (0.140)
Symmetry in share of hh work in								
Low	0.79 (0.214)	0.79 (0.211)	0.83 (0.283)	0.80 (0.214)	1.10 (0.232)	1.10 (0.233)	1.14 (0.256)	1.10 (0.232)
<i>Medium</i> High	0.72*** (0.059)	0.73*** (0.061)	0.74*** (0.066)	0.72*** (0.061)	0.81*** (0.046)	0.81*** (0.048)	0.89* (0.058)	0.81*** (0.047)
Childcare attendance in region								
Low	0.85 (0.114)	0.85 (0.118)	0.86 (0.113)	0.94 (0.167)	3.05*** (0.190)	3.10*** (0.187)	3.05*** (0.172)	3.01*** (0.238)
Medium High	0.37* (0.223)	0.37* (0.224)	0.37 (0.224)	0.35* (0.188)	0.65*** (0.072)	0.65*** (0.080)	0.65*** (0.072)	0.67*** (0.095)
% dual earner * Employment status Dual earner: low Parmanant								
Time-limited		0.71 (0.237)				1.37* (0.229)		
Self-employed		0.69 (0.312)				1.76*** (0.178)		
<u>Dual earner:</u> <u>mid</u> Permanent								
Time-limited		0.95 (0.326)				1.71*** (0.153)		
Self-employed		0.91 (0.287)				0.92 (0.079)		
Dual earner:								

<u>high</u> Permanent Time-limited	1.28		1.18		
Self-employed	(0.227) 3.10*** (0.717)		(0.327) 2.09*** (0.149)		
Symmetry in share of hh work *Employment status Symmetry: low					
Permanent					
Time-limited	0.50**			1.28	
Self-employed	(0.137) 1.36 (0.625)			(0.291) 1.12 (0.338)	
<u>Symmetry:</u> <u>mid</u> Permanent					
Time-limited	0.88			1.67***	
	(0.224)			(0.152)	
Self-employed	1.12 (0.367)			1.11 (0.097)	
<u>Symmetry:</u> <u>higher</u> Permanent	2.22			1.07	
I ime-limited	2.22** (0.708)			(0.224)	
Self-employed	0.37*** (0.137)			0.80 (0.125)	
Attendance to childcare * Employment status <u>Childcare: low</u>					
Time-limited		0.73			1.48***
		(0.207)			(0.177)
Self-employed		0.78 (0.346)			1.34 (0.245)
<u>Childcare: mid</u> Permanent					
Time-limited		1.01			1.73***
Self-employed		(0.416) 0.97			(0.202) 1.04
		(0.340)			(0.100)
<u>Childcare:</u> <u>higher</u> Permanent					
Time-limited		0.93			1.32*
Calf amplayed		(0.362)			(0.190)
Sen-empioyea		1.45 (0.795)			(0.209)

Observations	35,348	35,348	35,348	35,348	46,511	46,511	46,511	46,511
Individuals								
Dissolutions								

Note: without the imputation jobless women and men are excluded from the analysis. Nevertheless, it can be observed that differences between time-limited and permanent employed are unchanged, and so are unchanged the effects of the selected macro indicators.